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SECTION 1: 
E pā ana ki tō kaunihera 

About your council



A te tiamana me te tumu whakarae |

Message from the chairperson and chief

executive
In 2022/23, we continued ourmahi to helpmake
the Waikato even better – environmentally,
economically and socially – for now and for
generations to come.

Whenwesetourannualbudget,wewereparticularlymindful
of the ongoing financial pressures on our communities that
were driven by forces beyond the control of local
government.

Conscious of both the challenges and uncertainties ahead
for our region, and the commitments we’d already made,
we stuck closely to the programme signalled in our
2021-2031 Long Term Plan (LTP).

Although inflation started to cool slightly by the middle of
the financial year, our costs remainedelevateddue tohigher
prices and a raft of ambitious, central government-driven
reforms.

In our 2022/23 Annual Plan, we said climate resilience was
the biggest challenge we faced, the full severity of the
weather events that impacted New Zealand during the
financial year was something few could have anticipated.
Cyclone Hale, the Auckland Anniversary Weekend flooding
and Cyclone Gabrielle all occurred within weeks of each
other and were followed by successive months of heavy
rain.

We’re immenselyproudofourcoordinatedregional response
during these extreme weather events, to help keep our
communities informed and to remediate damaged
catchments in the aftermath.

In theCoromandelPeninsulaalone,wherearound$350,000
in rivermanagement and improvementworks are normally
deliveredeachyear,works costingmore than$2millionhad
tobe scheduled in2022/23,withmore thanhalf delayeddue
to access constraints, site instability and further weather
impacts.

Theseeventsunderscoredthe importanceof timelyupgrades
to essential infrastructure, even in a challenging economic
environment. Our flood assets safeguard, to agreed levels,
property worth over $19 billion and support a thriving
agricultural sector that contributes around $2.3 billion a
year to our regional economy. In 2022/23, they worked as
they should to protect communities and productive
farmland, andwecontinuedwithmajor investment to shore
up protective capacity, with upgrades to stopbanks in the
Hauraki Plains, and pump stations in Paeroa and Tūākau
(among others).

Keepingour communities connected is also essential to our
regional resilience, ensuring people can access the
opportunities and vital services the Waikato has to offer
from education and employment to recreation and
healthcare.

In 2022/23, new regional bus services were launched
betweenHamiltonandTeKūiti, andbetweenHamiltonand
Tokoroa. A newbus hub inGlenviewwas also completed by
Waka Kotahi; this hub will function as themain stop for the
Comet bus in the Glenview and Mahoe areas. Meanwhile,
transport options likeouron-demandFlex service andTotal
Mobility which gives people with disabilities door-to-door
transport options continue to cater to the diverse and
evolving needs of our communities.

We developed a new Regional Public Transport Plan
2022-2032 to ensure our communities remain well
connected, and support future growth, and there are goals
to cut carbon emissions, too.

We’re also supporting New Zealand’s move towards a
low-emissions economy by publicly committing to reduce
our greenhouse gas emissions and those produced
throughout our supply chain. Since we beganmeasuring
our yearly gross emissions in 2016/17, we’ve reduced them
by 44.4 per cent and we’re continuing to work onmeeting
our target of a 68 per cent reduction by 2030.

Preventing loss of biodiversity andmanaging our natural
resources is another important part of our environmental
remit. In 2022/23, we developed our Waikato Regional Pest
Management Plan 2022-2032 and Waikato Biosecurity
Strategy 2022-2032 following extensive community
engagement and consultation. These plans set out
cost-effective management programmes to target species
where we could make a real difference in the protection of
our environment, cultural and social wellbeing,
and economy.

Our coastal marine area is similarly vital to our economy
and communities. Significant engagement has occurred
with iwi and key stakeholders on our coastal plan. The
Coastal Plan sets out a framework for how we will
sustainably manage the area between the high tide mark
out to 12 nautical miles, which makes up one third of our
region. A final draft was delivered to council in early 2023,
with public notification occurring in August. This will mark
a major step forward in our work to deliver on one of our
key strategic priorities – to achieve healthy marine
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ecosystems that provide us with benefits like recreation,
food, improvedwaterquality, increased resilience toclimate
change, and sustainable economic opportunities.

Howwemanage our environment, for healthy freshwater is
the focusof our FreshwaterPolicyReview. This review is just
one of the requirements under central government’s
Essential Freshwater package, which is about stopping
further degradation of New Zealand’s fresh water and
improving its quality and ecosystem health. It required
significant engagement with iwi, the community and
stakeholders in 2022/23.

Much of the work we do is only made possible by working
with others. For this reason, wework closely with residents
and ratepayers, community groups, central and local
government, the primary sector, businesses and iwi.

In2022/23, anumberof importantmilestoneswere reached
that will help to further strengthen our partnerships with
iwi.

The Taupō catchment plan, Te Kaupapa Kaitiaki was
adopted by our council in late 2022, following public
consultation. As a legislative requirement under the Ngāti
TūwharetoaClaimsSettlementAct2018, it setsout thevision
for a healthy Taupō catchment that is capable of sustaining
the whole community and is managed in a manner that
reflects Ngāti Tūwharetoa tikanga.

The Maniapoto Claims Settlement Act 2022 was enacted,
representing the final settlement for all thehistorical Treaty
of Waitangi claims of Maniapoto. A new joint management
agreement (JMA) is requiredbetweenTeNehenehenuiTrust,
Waitomo,Ōtorohanga,WaikatoandWaipādistrict councils,
and Waikato Regional Council, to replace the existing
agreement. ThenewJMA,which is expected tobe signedby
the end of 2023, will result in closer collaboration to ensure
Maniapoto aspirations and perspectives are appropriately
reflected in regional decision-making and is expected to be
signed before the end of 2023.

As our relationship with iwi partners continues to evolve
andmature, we will continue to actively explore ways to
further enhance our collaborative efforts, aiming for even
greater mutual benefits and positive outcomes.

Looking ahead, we have a new strategic direction to guide
us, with a focus on wellbeing and responding to climate
change woven through our six priorities. Adopted in March
2023, it’s apivotaldocument thatwill help focusdiscussions,
guidework programmes and prioritise activities in our long
term plan, which is already in development. It sets some
deliberately ambitious goals, which come with the
responsibilityofdoing thingsdifferently, andalso recognises
that cost-of-living pressures are top of mind for many.

Se
ct
io
n
1:

E
pā

an
a
ki

tō
ka

un
ih
er
a

Ab
ou

ty
ou

rc
ou

nc
il

5



Ngā toki kaunihera me o rātou takiwā

| Your regional councillors 
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Tō tātou rohe | Your region
The Waikato region occupies the heart of the upper North Island. The far reaches of our region include the Bombay Hills
andPortWaikato in thenorth,Mokauand the slopes ofMtRuapehu in the south, theCoromandel Peninsula and theKaimai
Range in the east. Our region contains New Zealand’s longest river, the Waikato River, which winds its way 425 kilometres
from Lake Taupō to the Tasman Sea.

The Waikato is one of the richest agricultural areas in the world. It also has many distinct landforms, including the Taupō
volcanic zone, Waikato lowland and Hauraki Plains, western and central hill country, and the Coromandel and Kaimai
ranges. The Waikato is part of the ‘golden triangle’ connecting Hamilton, Auckland and Tauranga, making it a convenient
access point for freight and logistics.

The population of the region is 513,800, making it the fourth most populous region in New Zealand Around (1). 109,488 of
its population identify as Māori – totalling around 14.7 per cent of New Zealand’s Māori population. Almost three quarters
of theWaikato’s population live in urban areas, the largest urban area beingHamilton citywith 179,900 people. The people
of the Waikato region are represented by 14 elected council members representing two Māori seats and 12 general seats.
The council has a chair and a deputy chair who are appointed by the council.

The councillors work in committees andmake decisions and/or recommendations on a variety of matters, which are then
reported to or decided on by the full council once a month. Additional extraordinary meetings are held ad hoc to address
particularly urgent matters. The triennium for our current council started in October 2022. This means local elections to
appoint a new council will be held in October 2025.

1 Stats NZ subnational population estimates 2022
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Kaupapa kore pūtea | Unfunded

mandates
Unfundedmandates 2022/23

Amendments to central government policy and regulations
provide stronger national direction, but they also come at
a cost. Known as “unfundedmandates”, these cost drivers
are out of our control. They come without any funding or
with insufficient funding, with the costs of implementation
being met by ratepayers. In the last year, unfunded
mandates have had the greatest impact on our policy
programme and our associated response to new policy, as
well as our ability to implement Treaty settlements.

This council generally supports the intent behind central
government policy and regulations, andnotes that itwill be
our communities – and the generations to come – who will
ultimately benefit from this extra investment. Butwewould
like to highlight the financial impact of new regulations and
acknowledge the ratepayers who fund this work.

The draft report into the future for local government, He
mata whāriki, he matawhānui, also addresses the issue of
unfundedmandates, noting that successive funding reviews
have highlighted the problems and preferred solutions,
however, few have been enacted. The review states that, in
order to move from the currently constrained funding
system, there needs to be a meaningful change in the way
local and central government address issues of sustainable
funding, and that also enables councils to establish new
funding mechanisms. While rates are considered the best
means of funding council activities, it is acknowledged that
better support is needed from central government.

The council has identified key areas where it believes that
it is undertaking work without the commensurate funding
support being received from central government. For
2022/23 these areas of expenditure and costs incurred
include the following.

Treaty settlement implementation which comes with
one-off funding, but ongoing funding is not provided to
cover the costs of this work in perpetuity. This year, the
council has received $317,000 in support of these Treaty
settlementagreementswithManiapoto.This is to support
the cost of implementing new treaty agreement
arrangements and assumes these costs will be incurred
in the first 3 years. The Council incurred $400,000 in
ongoing costs related to treaty settlement agreements.

Treaty settlement costs often overlap with our other
legislative requirements, for example, those under the
ResourceManagementAct. In these instances, it isdifficult
to quantify and precisely define what is a Treaty
legislationobligation versuswhat is anexisting legislated
responsibility.

We are continuing our commitment to respond to the
National Policy Statement (NPS) on Freshwater
Management. This year, Council has incurred total costs
of $2.605 million on furthering the implementation of
these new policy regulations.

The new National Policy Statement on Urban
Development,which came into effect in August 2020, has
required the development of future development
strategies in high-growth areas and changes to the
Regional Policy Statement. This has a flow-on effect of
necessitating updates to the Future Proof Strategy. This
year,Councilhas incurred total costsof$84,000 tosupport
this new policy direction. Further costs of $17,000 have
been incurred in relation to highly productive land and
$45,000 for the application of the new national planning
standards to the Waikato Regional Policy Statement.
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SECTION 2: 
Ngā whakatutukitanga 

Our performance



Ngā putanga ā-hapori | Community

outcomes
Our vision

Themighty Waikato: Caring for our place, empowering our
people.

Our purpose

Working together for a Waikato region that has a healthy
environment, strong economy and vibrant communities.

During 2022/23, we undertook a robust process to review
and refresh our strategic direction, to ensure we continue
to focuson theareas that aremost important to theWaikato
region.

Our Strategic Direction 2023-2025, TakatūWaikato |Making
a Stand for the Waikato is the result of that work and sets
out the vision, purposeand six strategic priorities that guide
our work, as well as our goals for success.

We work alongside residents and ratepayers, community
groups, central and localgovernment, iwi, theprimarysector
and businesses to deliver the outcomes identified under
each of our strategic priorities. Progress against our
community outcomes also reflects progress towards these
priorities.

A focusonwellbeingandhowwe respond toclimate change
is woven through all our priorities. These outcomes have
been aligned to the United Nations’ Sustainable
DevelopmentGoals (SDGs).Here in theWaikato,webecame
the first region inNewZealand to localise the SDGs through
a community-led process to agree wellbeing targets that
achieve relevantSDGs.These targetswerealsousedtoshape
our2021-2031LongTermPlanandthis2022/23AnnualReport.
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He taiao mauriora | Healthy

environment

Leading on climate change

Climate change is the biggest challenge we face, affecting
infrastructure, services, homes, health and wellbeing.
Understanding its impact on our environment, economy
and communities, and acting early, is key to the resilience
ofour region.Our climate response is focusedonminimising
the risks to our region’s environment, communities and
economy. We also want to be ready to seize new
opportunities as we transition to a climate-resilient
economy.

This year, we reviewed of our Climate Action Roadmap. This
review incorporated legislative changes, integrated the
council’s new strategic direction and reflected key
considerationsof theNationalAdaptationPlanandEmissions
Reduction Plan. The roadmap helps staff assess the
implications of climate change in their work.

We’re supporting New Zealand’s move towards a
low-emissions economy by publicly committing to reduce
our greenhouse gas emissions and those produced
throughout our supply chain. In 2022/23, we considered
options for how our existing infrastructure will support the
ongoing transition to a zero-emission fleet.

Since we beganmeasuring our yearly gross emissions in
2016/17, we’ve reduced them by 44.4 per cent and we’re
continuing to work onmeeting our target of a 68 per cent
reduction by 2030.

Climate risk

Waikato Regional Council recognises the importance of
understanding climate change risks and their significant
impact on business and the wellbeing of our communities.
Weare committed tobeingopenand transparent aboutour
actions toaddress climatechange risks, acknowledging that
these present a mix of economic and social opportunities,

alongside changes and challenges. To that end, all council
decisions will take into account the impacts of climate
change and the risk to communities or the environment.

To support our response to the changing climate, we
developed theClimateActionRoadmap, anevidence-based
discussion document that identifies nine priority pathways
for our region. Developed under the Local Government Act,
itwasunanimouslyapprovedby thecouncil inOctober 2020
and updated in mid-2023. The roadmap provides direction
to informandhelp shape the council’s responses to climate
change. Climate response actions are integrated into all
council activities and implemented through formal council
mechanisms and public consultation processes, such as
thoseundertaken for longtermplans, resourcemanagement
policies, flood asset management plans and drainage
services.

WaikatoRegional Council’s response to climate change risk
isoutlined in its inauguralClimateChangeResponsePosition
Statement. This is our first climate related position
statement, and it is expected that its scope and depth will
expand over time.

Waste reduction

The waste we create and howwe dispose of it has huge
environmental and social impacts.

Research was undertaken to understand how wemight
support environmental and social wellbeing through a
transition to a circular economy. This was supported by
additional funding from the Ministry for the Environment's
WasteMinimisationFundandtheWaikatoWellbeingProject.
The Circularising Organics project aims to provide insights
to help eliminate contamination, provide collections and
processingoptions fororganics, and incorporate teaoMāori
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perspectives. It also considers the various markets and use
cases thatmight exist for compost products tohelp support
decision-making around organics management.

We also continued to be a conduit for waste-related
networking and education in the region. This includes our
ongoing coordination of the Central North Island Waste
LiaisonGroup (attendedby territorial authorities fromacross
the region) and the Community Enterprise Peer Support
programme, which supports community resource recovery
initiatives.

Environmental Education

The Enviroschools kaupapa is about creating a healthy,
peaceful, sustainable world through learning and taking
action together. It’s anaction-focusedapproach to learning
that draws on the physical, social, cultural and political
aspects of our environment. Teachers are supported by a
facilitator and resources that link to curriculum. Students
are empowered to create their sustainable vision and to
take action in their school and local community.

In 2022/23, schools across the region benefitted from
facilitated stream studies, access to equipment to support
local curriculum, NCEA assessment support and a range of
events and professional development opportunities.
Enviroschools and the independent Waikato youth forum,
Rangatahi voices, also worked together to successfully
deliver two popular Climate Camps for secondary
Enviroschools, followed by an Enviroleaders skills day to
help inspire and empower young people.

Wealsoprovidedopportunities forRangatahiVoices to team
upwith our Freshwater Policy Review team. Together, they
hosted a freshwater consultation event get the views of
youngpeopleabouthowfreshwatercanbebettermanaged,
now and into the future.

Kura Waitī ki Kura Waitā focuses on preparing the kaitiaki
of the future – supporting kurawith environmental learning
in ways that also promote te reo, tikanga andmātauranga
Māori. It helps build the confidence of rangatahi and their
senseof connection to te taiao, helping themtounderstand
how they canmakeadifference in protecting, restoring and
revitalising our waterways and addressing the impacts of
climate change.

Plan Change 1

Healthy Rivers | Wai Ora – Proposed Waikato Regional Plan
Change 1 remains at the appeals stage in the Environment
Court. Court-assistedmediations occurred during 2022/23,
with a hearing scheduled for late 2023. The plan change
represents the first step in an 80-year journey to improve
water quality in our region, make our rivers safe for food
gathering along their entire length, andmeeting the
requirements of Te TureWhaimanaoTeAwaoWaikato, the
Vision and Strategy for the Waikato River. Staff continue to
undertake additional water quality monitoring at 34
representative lakes in preparation for meeting the Plan
Change 1 reporting requirements.

National policy statement and national
environmental standards

The National Policy Statement for Highly Productive Land
2022 (NPS-HPL) came into effect on 17 October 2022. Its
main purpose is to protect highly productive land for food
production, now and for future generations. The NPS-HPL
directs urban development away from highly productive
landbypreventing inappropriate rezoning, subdivisionand
other uses, with some exceptions.

The government announced in June 2023 that decisions
have beenmade to amend the National Environmental
Standard for Plantation Forestry (NES-PF). The NES-PF
provides a consistent set of regulations for plantation
forestry activities. It covers eight core plantation forestry
activities, allowing these to be carried out as permitted
activities, subject to conditions tomanage potential effects
on the environment. Councils previously managed the
environmental effects of forestry activities through regional
and district plans. As a result, the rules varied between and
within regions. Sometimes, these variations reflected local
differencesandcommunitypriorities. This causedproblems
for the many forest owners whomanaged forests in two or
more regions or have forests that straddle council
boundaries.

Changesweremade to theResourceManagementAct (RMA)
in November 2022 to enable regional and local authorities
to consider the effects of greenhouse gas emissions on
climate change. Process heat makes up 33 per cent of our
overall energyuseandcontributesapproximately 8per cent
of our gross emissions. More than half of all process heat is
supplied using fossil fuels, mainly gas and coal.

TheNational Policy Statement for GreenhouseGas Emissions
from Industrial Process Heatwas notified on 29 June 2023
and comes into force on 27 July 2023. Its objective is to
reducegreenhousegasemissionsbymanaging smoke from
industrial burning. This NPS sets out the national objective
and supporting policy framework to guide decisions
regarding resource consents.

Flood events

Staff across the region have responded to several flood
events this year, which have had significant impacts. Our
flood response platform, Flood Room Live, continues to
provide improved real-time information to stakeholders,
including the public.

Coastal plan review

We’ve continued with our review of theWaikato Regional
CoastalPlan, the rulebook foractivities in thecoastalmarine
area from the high tidemark to 12 nauticalmiles out at sea.
The coastal plan sets the objectives, policies, rules and
methods thecouncilwill use tomanage the region’snatural
resources in the coastal marine area. A decision to notify
the proposed coastal plan was made by the council on 29
June 2023 and it was notified on 18 August 2023.
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He hapori hihiri | Vibrant communities

Public transport improvements

Our bus services and investment in rail keeps people well
connected – to each other, to services and to opportunities
for recreation, education and jobs. Our work is part of a
region-wide effort that includes cycle lanes and walking
paths tomake it easier for people togetoutof their cars and
shift to a low-emissions, active lifestyle. The services we
provide are essential, giving the public an alternative to
privatevehicle travel, reducingcongestion,providingaccess
for the transport disadvantaged and supporting urban
growth.

Followingpublic consultationona significant refresh for the
Hamilton bus network in 2021/22, the first phase of the
improvements approved by the council was rolled out in
2022/23,withsomekeychangesalready implemented.Other
proposed improvements will require further public
consultation, with those that are agreed by the council
expected to be implemented by early 2024.

Regional transport planning

In 2022/23,wedeveloped theRegionalPublic TransportPlan
2022-2032 (RPTP) to help ensure our communities remain
well connected and to support growth. The RPTP provides
the strategy for the regional public transport network and
sets out our aspirations and intent for future expansion and
enhancements. It was developed through significant
collaboration between regional partners and represents an
ambitious new vision for the future of public transport in
the region. The plan was adopted on 22 September 2022
and is now operative.

Development of the Regional Land Transport Plan (RLTP)
alsogotunderway this year. It’s a six-yearplan todocument
the region’s land transport priorities, objectives, policies
andmeasures.Weexpect thiswork tobecompletedbyApril
2024.

Future proof

The Future Proof Strategy, a 30-year growth management
and implementation plan for the Future Proof sub-region,
wasupdated in 2022. The sub-region includes the territorial
authorities ofHamiltonCityCouncil,WaipāDistrict Council,
Waikato District Council and nowMatamata-Piako District
Council, which joined the partnership in 2022/23. Future
Proof is collaboration between these councils and Waka
Kotahi, setuptoconsiderhowthesub-regionshoulddevelop
into the future.

Settlements

Te Kōpu ā Kānapanapa, a joint committee involving Te
KotahitangaoNgāti Tūwharetoa,WaikatoRegionalCouncil
and Taupō District Council, developed Te Kaupapa Kaitiaki
| TaupōCatchmentPlan, a legislative requirementunder the
Ngāti Tūwharetoa Claims Settlement Act 2018, in 2022/23.

The plan was adopted by the council in late 2022 following
publicconsultationandwillbe implementedthroughvarious
local government statutory and non-statutory plans and
activities. These include regional and district plans,
sub-catchmentandzoneplans,pestmanagementstrategies,
and actionplans. TeKōpuāKānapanapa is nowworking on
an implementation plan to achieve the objectives and
measure the desired outcomes of Te Kaupapa Kaitiaki.

The recently enactedManiapoto Claims Settlement Act
2022represents the final settlement for all the historical
Treaty of Waitangi claims of Maniapoto. The settlement
acknowledges the Crown's past failures in upholding its
obligationsand the impact onManiapoto's socio-economic
wellbeing and tribal identity. The vision of Maniapoto
emphasises respect for tikanga, support for their relationship
withancestral lands, andcollaboration for social, economic
andcultural aspirations.Keyprinciplesunderlying this vision
include the quality and integrity of water, the obligation to
protect water, care for the Waipā River, recognition of
Maniapoto's mana, kaitiakitanga, and adherence to the
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Treaty of Waitangi. Maniapoto's aspirations involve
collaboration with resource users and decision makers,
recognitionof theirperspectives inpublicagencydecisions,
and co-designing programmes for positive outcomes.

To manage Ngā Wai o Maniapoto, a Joint Management
Agreement (JMA) is required between Te Nehenehenui,
Waitomo District Council, Ōtorohanga District Council and
Waikato Regional Council. The JMA is aligned with the
provisions of the Ngā Wai o Maniapoto (Waipā River)
Settlement Act 2012, with a particular focus on resource
consents and planning documents. Waipā District Council
andWaikatoDistrictCouncil havebeen invited toparticipate
in developing the new JMA, which will replace the existing
oneand isexpected tobecompletedbefore theendof2023.

Treaty settlementobligations sometimesoverlapwithother
legislative requirements. In such cases, the existing
settlement arrangements can assist us in meeting both
existingandnewobligations.Collaboratingwith iwipartners
not only helps us adapt to current and upcoming central
government reforms but also opens opportunities for
enhancing our working relationship beyond the
requirements set out in legislation and agreements.

As our relationship with iwi partners continues to evolve
andmature, we will continue to actively explore ways to
further enhance our collaborative efforts, aiming for even
greater mutual benefits and positive outcomes.

We are also looking ahead to pending treaty settlement
legislation that will require us to enter into further
co-governance arrangements, for example with the Pare
Hauraki Collective.

Waikato Wellbeing Project

The Waikato has ambitious wellbeing targets based on the
United Nations’ Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).
These targets were developed and confirmed through a
collaborative process, run under the banner of theWaikato
Wellbeing Project – a joint initiative by Waikato Regional
Council and WEL Energy Trust. This focus on wellbeing is
integral to the purpose of the Local Government Act and to
our purpose – working together for a Waikato region that
hasahealthyenvironment, vibrant communities andstrong
economy.

The Waikato Wellbeing Project aims to achieve a more
sustainable future for theWaikato regionby identifying and
addressing the causes of our wellbeing challenges. In
2022/23, it shared its first major SDG-specific project,
Rangatahi Opportunity Case for Change. This project aims

to build understanding of the drivers of youth wellbeing in
the Waikato, with an initial focus on Kirikiriroa Hamilton.
The project is led by rangatahi, for rangatahi, and has seen
engagement with young people to better understand what
drives their sense of welbeing.

Waikato Wellbeing also started a process to identify and
address issues around poverty and hunger via the Waikato
Kai Challenge, reviewed its vision and strategic framework,
joined the emerging wellbeing hub at Perry House in
Hamilton and began work on a project to share wellbeing
stories from around the Waikato region.

Eco Retrofit

Through the 2021-2031 Long Term Plan, the council agreed
to borrowup to $35million over 10 years to help ratepayers
access funds to make home improvements designed to
reduceenergyconsumptionandcosts,andtocreatewarmer,
drier, more sustainable and climate-resilient homes.

The council resolved that the scheme would enable
homeowners to apply for up to $15,000 to cover clean
heating, insulation,doubleglazing, solarPV,domesticwater
storage and the replacement of septic tanks. The scheme
will be fully cost recovered, with loans repaid over 10 years
through a voluntary targeted rate on the property being
retrofitted and no impact on the general ratepayer.

In 2022, Waikato Regional Council, along with a number of
othercouncils,madea formalsubmissionto theGovernment
seeking exemption from theonerous and costly obligations
of the Credit Contracts and Consumer Finance Act 2003
(CCCFA) that tookeffect from1December2021.Thescheme
was put on hold until the Government considered the
request.

In approving the annual plan for 2023/24, the council
considered thedelay ina resolution to changesneededwith
the CCFA to advance the scheme. In conjunction with the
changes to the economic environment, the council agreed
to defer the scheme for a further year, with reconsideration
of its feasibility through the 2024-2034 Long Term Plan.

On 8 August 2023, the Government announced a review of
the CCFA to include exemptions for lending related to
voluntary targeted rate scheme loansadministeredby local
and regional councils (which finance healthy home or
sustainability improvements, usually for low-income
households). The Minister of Commerce and Consumer
Affairs will return to Cabinet, before the end of 2023, with
recommendations of regulation changes to give effect to
this decision.
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He ōhanga pakari | Strong economy

Public transport improvements

Our bus services and investment in rail keeps people well
connected – to each other, to services and to opportunities
for recreation, education and jobs. Our work is part of a
region-wide effort that includes cycle lanes and walking
paths tomake it easier for people togetoutof their cars and
shift to a low-emissions, active lifestyle. The services we
provide are essential, giving the public an alternative to
privatevehicle travel, reducingcongestion,providingaccess
for the transport disadvantaged and supporting urban
growth.

Followingpublic consultationona significant refresh for the
Hamilton bus network in 2021/22, the first phase of the
improvements approved by the council was rolled out in
2022/23,withsomekeychangesalready implemented.Other
proposed improvements will require further public
consultation, with those that are agreed by the council
expected to be implemented by early 2024.

Regional transport planning

In 2022/23,wedeveloped theRegionalPublic TransportPlan
2022-2032 (RPTP) to help ensure our communities remain
well connected and to support growth. The RPTP provides
the strategy for the regional public transport network and
sets out our aspirations and intent for future expansion and
enhancements. It was developed through significant
collaboration between regional partners and represents an
ambitious new vision for the future of public transport in
the region. The plan was adopted on 22 September 2022
and is now operative.

Development of the Regional Land Transport Plan (RLTP)
alsogotunderway this year. It’s a six-yearplan todocument
the region’s land transport priorities, objectives, policies
andmeasures.Weexpect thiswork tobecompletedbyApril
2024.

Future proof

The Future Proof Strategy, a 30-year growth management
and implementation plan for the Future Proof sub-region,
wasupdated in 2022. The sub-region includes the territorial
authorities ofHamiltonCityCouncil,WaipāDistrict Council,
Waikato District Council and nowMatamata-Piako District
Council, which joined the partnership in 2022/23. Future
Proof is collaboration between these councils and Waka
Kotahi, setuptoconsiderhowthesub-regionshoulddevelop
into the future.

Settlements

Te Kōpu ā Kānapanapa, a joint committee involving Te
KotahitangaoNgāti Tūwharetoa,WaikatoRegionalCouncil
and Taupō District Council, developed Te Kaupapa Kaitiaki
| TaupōCatchmentPlan, a legislative requirementunder the
Ngāti Tūwharetoa Claims Settlement Act 2018, in 2022/23.

The plan was adopted by the council in late 2022 following
publicconsultationandwillbe implementedthroughvarious
local government statutory and non-statutory plans and
activities. These include regional and district plans,
sub-catchmentandzoneplans,pestmanagementstrategies,
and actionplans. TeKōpuāKānapanapa is nowworking on
an implementation plan to achieve the objectives and
measure the desired outcomes of Te Kaupapa Kaitiaki.

The recently enactedManiapoto Claims Settlement Act
2022represents the final settlement for all the historical
Treaty of Waitangi claims of Maniapoto. The settlement
acknowledges the Crown's past failures in upholding its
obligationsand the impact onManiapoto's socio-economic
wellbeing and tribal identity. The vision of Maniapoto
emphasises respect for tikanga, support for their relationship
withancestral lands, andcollaboration for social, economic
andcultural aspirations.Keyprinciplesunderlying this vision
include the quality and integrity of water, the obligation to
protect water, care for the Waipā River, recognition of
Maniapoto's mana, kaitiakitanga, and adherence to the
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Treaty of Waitangi. Maniapoto's aspirations involve
collaboration with resource users and decision makers,
recognitionof theirperspectives inpublicagencydecisions,
and co-designing programmes for positive outcomes.

To manage Ngā Wai o Maniapoto, a Joint Management
Agreement (JMA) is required between Te Nehenehenui,
Waitomo District Council, Ōtorohanga District Council and
Waikato Regional Council. The JMA is aligned with the
provisions of the Ngā Wai o Maniapoto (Waipā River)
Settlement Act 2012, with a particular focus on resource
consents and planning documents. Waipā District Council
andWaikatoDistrictCouncil havebeen invited toparticipate
in developing the new JMA, which will replace the existing
oneand isexpected tobecompletedbefore theendof2023.

Treaty settlementobligations sometimesoverlapwithother
legislative requirements. In such cases, the existing
settlement arrangements can assist us in meeting both
existingandnewobligations.Collaboratingwith iwipartners
not only helps us adapt to current and upcoming central
government reforms but also opens opportunities for
enhancing our working relationship beyond the
requirements set out in legislation and agreements.

As our relationship with iwi partners continues to evolve
andmature, we will continue to actively explore ways to
further enhance our collaborative efforts, aiming for even
greater mutual benefits and positive outcomes.

We are also looking ahead to pending treaty settlement
legislation that will require us to enter into further
co-governance arrangements, for example with the Pare
Hauraki Collective.

Waikato Wellbeing Project

The Waikato has ambitious wellbeing targets based on the
United Nations’ Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).
These targets were developed and confirmed through a
collaborative process, run under the banner of theWaikato
Wellbeing Project – a joint initiative by Waikato Regional
Council and WEL Energy Trust. This focus on wellbeing is
integral to the purpose of the Local Government Act and to
our purpose – working together for a Waikato region that
hasahealthyenvironment, vibrant communities andstrong
economy.

The Waikato Wellbeing Project aims to achieve a more
sustainable future for theWaikato regionby identifying and
addressing the causes of our wellbeing challenges. In
2022/23, it shared its first major SDG-specific project,
Rangatahi Opportunity Case for Change. This project aims

to build understanding of the drivers of youth wellbeing in
the Waikato, with an initial focus on Kirikiriroa Hamilton.
The project is led by rangatahi, for rangatahi, and has seen
engagement with young people to better understand what
drives their sense of welbeing.

Waikato Wellbeing also started a process to identify and
address issues around poverty and hunger via the Waikato
Kai Challenge, reviewed its vision and strategic framework,
joined the emerging wellbeing hub at Perry House in
Hamilton and began work on a project to share wellbeing
stories from around the Waikato region.

Eco Retrofit

Through the 2021-2031 Long Term Plan, the council agreed
to borrowup to $35million over 10 years to help ratepayers
access funds to make home improvements designed to
reduceenergyconsumptionandcosts,andtocreatewarmer,
drier, more sustainable and climate-resilient homes.

The council resolved that the scheme would enable
homeowners to apply for up to $15,000 to cover clean
heating, insulation,doubleglazing, solarPV,domesticwater
storage and the replacement of septic tanks. The scheme
will be fully cost recovered, with loans repaid over 10 years
through a voluntary targeted rate on the property being
retrofitted and no impact on the general ratepayer.

In 2022, Waikato Regional Council, along with a number of
othercouncils,madea formalsubmissionto theGovernment
seeking exemption from theonerous and costly obligations
of the Credit Contracts and Consumer Finance Act 2003
(CCCFA) that tookeffect from1December2021.Thescheme
was put on hold until the Government considered the
request.

In approving the annual plan for 2023/24, the council
considered thedelay ina resolution to changesneededwith
the CCFA to advance the scheme. In conjunction with the
changes to the economic environment, the council agreed
to defer the scheme for a further year, with reconsideration
of its feasibility through the 2024-2034 Long Term Plan.

On 8 August 2023, the Government announced a review of
the CCFA to include exemptions for lending related to
voluntary targeted rate scheme loansadministeredby local
and regional councils (which finance healthy home or
sustainability improvements, usually for low-income
households). The Minister of Commerce and Consumer
Affairs will return to Cabinet, before the end of 2023, with
recommendations of regulation changes to give effect to
this decision.
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Te Ture Whaimana o te Awa o Waikato

| Vision and Strategy for the Waikato

River
Restoring the Waikato River

Treaty legislation requires us to give effect to Te Ture
Whaimana o te Awa oWaikato (the Vision and Strategy for
theWaikato River), the primary direction-setting document
for the Waikato River and activities within its catchment.

Te Ture Whaimanawas developed by the Guardians
EstablishmentCommittee, formedunder theWaikato-Tainui
and Crown Agreement in Principle and legislated in the
Waikato-Tainui Raupatu Claims (Waikato River) Settlement
Act 2010, and the work we do helps to deliver on it.

The custodian of Te Ture Whaimana is the Waikato River
Authority, which also invests funds into rehabilitation
initiatives. Theboardof theWaikatoRiverAuthority consists
of a representative fromeachof the five river iwi authorities
(Waikato-Tainui, Tūwharetoa, Te ArawaRiver Iwi, Raukawa
and Maniapoto) and five Crown representatives.

The vision is for a healthy Waikato River which sustains
abundant life and prosperous communities, which are in
turn responsible for restoring and protecting it, and all it
embraces, for generations to come.

Delivering on objectives

There are 13 objectives in Te TureWhaimana,and a number
of them are related. The work we do often helps to deliver
on more than one objective. In 2022/23, the council will
support the restoration and protection of the health and
wellbeing of the Waikato River in the following ways.

Relationships

This includes supporting the economic, social, cultural and
spiritual relationships of river iwi and communitieswith the
Waikato River.

The council will work with Waikato-Tainui and other river
iwiauthorities toco-developareporting frameworkdesigned
to demonstrate how our mahi gives effect to Te Ture
Whaimana in a way that provides a consolidated view and
valuable insight to support decision making.

Strategy and policy development

Weaimtoprotect theWaikatoRiver fromtheadverseeffects
of activities on the water and land through our regulatory
and statutory processes.

We continued work on our Freshwater Policy Review to
stop further degradation of our fresh water and improve
its quality and ecosystem health. Work for 2022/23
included engagement with tāngata whenua, farmers,
industry and communities to help us determine the best
solutions formanagingour region’s freshwater.High-level
policy options were presented to the council and
co-governance committee in late 2022.

Our review of the Waikato Regional Coastal Plan
continued as we refine our approach to sustainably
manage the coasts of the Waikato. The coastal marine
area in the lowerWaikatoRiver is subject to theprovisions
of Te Ture Whaimana.

We continuedwork on Healthy Rivers/Wai Ora Proposed
WaikatoRegionalPlanChange1,withappealsbefore the
environment court during 2021/22 and 22/23. A court
hearing is scheduled for late 2023. The proposed plan
seeks to reduce the level of contaminants entering the
WaikatoandWaipā catchments tohelpachieve thegoals
of Te Ture Whaimana.

TeTureWhaimanaguides thewayweadminister resource
consents,withapplicantshaving toconsider thepotential
effects of their consent application on the Waikato River
and explain how their activity will improve the quality of
the river.

Monitoring of consents and permitted activities, and
investigationofallegedbreachesof rulesand regulations,
remains a key part of our business as usual. We continue
to hold people accountable for non-compliance or
undertaking activities which have an adverse effect on
theenvironment, including theWaikatoandWaipāRivers.

Ecological health

Protecting and enhancing significant sites, fisheries, flora
and fauna.Keyworks in2022/23have included the following.

Continuingour shovel readyproject toupgradeup to two
pump stations to enable safer passage of native fish,
particularly tuna (eels), and scope out three other sites.
Our first pump station upgrade in the lower Waikato
catchment,wherewe installeda fish-friendlyArchimedes
screw pump, was monitored during the tuna (eel)
migration season in2023 to seehowsuccessfully it passes
NewZealandnative fish. All 206 tuna thatpassed through
the pump during the monitoring period did so without
major injury or mortality.

Working with co-funders and landowners in the Waikato
and Waipā river catchments to complete 230 kilometres
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of fencing, retire 1726 hectares of grazed land, and plant
more than 948,000 native plants on erosion-prone land
and along streams, rivers and wetlands.

Continuing river erosion protection works, installing fish
habitat structures, planting riparianmargins, increasing

in-stream habitats and improving food sources for our
native fish.

Continuing to support numerous iwi and community
groups undertaking restoration projects through
co-funding and technical support.
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Te whakaāheitia o Ngāi Māori |

Facilitating Māori participation
In accordance with the Local Government Act 2002, we are
committed to fostering Māori capacity to participate in our
decision-making processes. Our strategic priorities reflect
a consciouseffort to integratekaupapaMāori principles and
perspectives throughout all focus areas. We recognise the
importance of engaging with iwi and enhancing capability
to do so within our organisation.

Each of our strategic priorities emphasises our dedication
tohonouringandembracing iwi partnerships, ensuring that
Māori values, knowledge, and aspirations are seamlessly
integrated intoourdecision-makingprocesses.Whether it's
achieving clean water and healthy ecosystems, promoting
sustainable development and infrastructure, safeguarding
biodiversity and biosecurity, fostering community
connections, or transitioning to a low-emissions economy,
ourapproachprioritises collaborationwith iwi andbuilding
internal capability to achieve positive outcomes for the
Waikato region.

The Te Ara Tupu priority area further underscores our
commitment to supporting our people in developing the
necessary capability and confidence to engage effectively
with iwi Māori. We recognise that these relationships are
vital to achieving a balanced and thriving future for the
region.ByembracingkaupapaMāori principles andactively
engaging with iwi, we aim to create a strong foundation for
a sustainable and culturally inclusive Waikato region.

However, we acknowledge that, despite the benefits of
includingMāori perspectives, iwi entitiesoften face capacity
constraints when engaging with local and central
government institutions in their rohe.

This issue is particularly pronounced forpre-settlement iwi,
butevenpost-settlement iwiwithmore resourcesencounter
capacity challenges. These limitations are putting pressure
on our ability to meet engagement and work program
commitments.

Consequently, many of these entities are requesting
additional resources from us to support their engagement
on various projects. This situation occurs across multiple
projects andmultiple iwi Māori entities. We firmly believe
that meaningful engagement occurs when all parties are
involved, and no single party can achieve it alone. To
establish effective working arrangements between the
Council and iwi, it is crucial to ensure that both parties have
the necessary capability and capacity.

To address limitations faced by the iwi Māori entities we
work with, funding had been allocated through our Annual
Planprocess to support iwi capacity, andwe started setting
up a programme to help facilitate more meaningful
engagement.

Ourcommitment to facilitatingMāoriparticipation isevident
in our strategic priorities and active collaboration with our
iwi partners. We recognise the importance of
capacity-building and will continue to work together to
achieve positive outcomes for the Waikato region.
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SECTION 3: 
Ko te hohonutanga ō ā tātou mahi 

Our activities in depth



Ko ngā mahi-ā-rōpū | Groups of

activities
How to read this section

This section describes the council’s activities as grouped in the 2021-2031 Long Term Plan (LTP). Within each group of
activities (GOA), work is structured into individual activities. Each GOA includes the following sections.

How these activities improve wellbeing

This section describes how the activities within the GOA promote the council’s three long-term outcomes included in our
purpose:working together foraWaikato region thathasahealthyenvironment, strongeconomyandvibrant communities.

Why we provide these activities

Provides a brief description of the activities within the GOA and the objectives or purpose, plus the outcomes the activities
primarily contribute towards, and any identified effects the activities had on the community.

What we achieved this year and looking to the future

Features key highlights, as well as some business-as-usual activities, for 2022/23 and 2023/24.

What we delivered

Provides a description of the level of service, measure, target and actual result for each activity, along with supporting
commentary.Commentary isprovided formeasures thatwerenotachievedorwereachieved inpart. Additionalperformance
commentary is included if it provides useful context. Performance status is determined using four categories, as
described below.

Howwemeasure our performance

All components of the performance measure have beenmet, including meeting or
exceeding a stated target for performance.

Achieved

One or more but not all of the components of a measure have been completed. This
result is only applicable when the measure can be broken into more than one
component.

Achieved in part

All components were not achieved.Not achieved

No work scheduled or data available in the current year.Not applicable

What it cost

Reports on the cost of the service, including any variances.

Additional information for Group of Activities Cost of Service Statements can be found on page 87, Note 2 in the Notes to
the financial statements sub-section of Section 4: Finances.

About this report

This report follows PBE FRS 48 Service Performance Reporting standards.

Service performance measures

The council has selected service performance measures that reflect its overall responsibilities to our ratepayers. The
responsibilitiesmay be legislative requirements or driven by our strategic direction set by the governing body. Judgement
has been used to select the best measures to reflect to the readers what level of service has been delivered.
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Section 3: Our activities in depth contains Waikato Regional Council's service performance information, including cost of
service tables and graphs, non-financial performance graphs, non-financial performance results tables, this information
can be found on pages 22 to 73. Our Service Performance Judgements and Assumptions are found at the end of Section 3
on page 73. Waikato Regional Council's Statement of compliance can be found in Section 4: Finances on page 85. Section
2:Ourperformanceprovidesuseful context for thegeneral readerbutdonot formpartof theserviceperformance information
for audit purposes.
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Kiritaki, hapori, me ngā ratonga |

Customer, community and services

This groupof activities includes threeactivities:

governance

iwi Māori participation

planning and reporting.

How these activities improve wellbeing

Theseactivitieshelp support vibrant communities, ahealthy
environment and a strong economy.

Theyprovideopportunities for communities toengagewith
the council, enabling them to share their aspirations and
understand how the work we do can help improve
community outcomes.

The activities also help to ensure that our region's strong
cultural heritage is considered and reflected in the way we
work and in the work we do.

Why we provide these activities

Thesemeasurershavebeenselectedbecause theseactivities
enable democratic decision making, by and for our
communities in line with the requirements of the Local
Government Act 2002.

They support electedmembers in their roles, helping them
tomake robust decisions to promote community interests
by ensuring they have the information necessary to do so.
This, too, helps inform the sustainable management of the
region’s natural resources while also promoting its social,
economic and cultural wellbeing.

Clear, accessible information is provided under this GOA to
givesour communities theopportunity to influencedecision
making and understand whether the council's policies and
services are achieving their intended objectives.

This groupof activities also enhances the council's capacity
and capability to effectively partner with iwi Māori and
participate in collaborative initiatives of significant mutual
benefit.

What we achieved this year and looking to the
future

Te kaupapa kaitiaki

Te Kōpu ā Kānapanapa, a joint committee involving Te
KotahitangaoNgāti Tūwharetoa,WaikatoRegionalCouncil
and Taupō District Council, has developed Te Kaupapa
Kaitiaki – Taupō Catchment Plan, a legislative requirement
under theNgāti TūwharetoaClaimsSettlementAct2018. This
plan, adopted in late 2022 following public consultation,
will be implemented through various local government
statutory and non-statutory plans and activities. These
include regional anddistrict plans, sub-catchmentandzone
plans, pest management strategies and action plans. Te
Kōpu ā Kānapanapa is nowworking on an implementation
plan to achieve the objectives andmeasure the desired
outcomes of Te Kaupapa Kaitiaki.

Co-governance

The council acknowledges the importance of meaningful
collaboration and recognises that working closely with our
iwipartnersproducesawide rangeofbenefits beyond those
achieved through Treaty settlement implementation. We
are committed to continuing our efforts to implement and
honour Treaty settlements while fostering strong
relationships with iwi.

Currently, we have six co-governance forums and
committees that help ensureour obligations to iwi partners
are well implemented. We’ve entered into several
co-governance and co-management agreements with iwi
regarding their participation in decision-making related to
natural resource management. These agreements consist
of five joint management agreements and a co-managed
landsagreementbetween river iwiand the regional council.
All of these agreements are scheduled for review.

Improving te aoMāori competency and capacity

The council recognises the vital importance of having
appropriate te ao Māori competency and capacity. With
ongoing central government reforms, the need for iwi
participation in council decision-making processes is
continuously growing.

To meet this need effectively, it is crucial for our staff and
councillors to possess the necessary skills, training and
support to fulfil our obligations to our iwi partners, both
now and in the future.
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To address this, we developed a te ao Māori cultural
competency framework. The purpose of this framework is
to gain a comprehensive understanding of our current
cultural competencyacross theorganisationandourability
to work effectively with iwi and Māori communities.

A te ao Māori cultural competency assessment was carried
out, providing valuable insights.We identified specific areas
that need improvement and established a baseline for
measuring and tracking the impact of our internal
programmes in enhancing cultural capacity and capability.

Ourapproach focusesonnurturingcapabilityandconfidence
throughout theorganisation to foster effectivepartnerships
with iwi Māori. Additionally, we seek to strengthen
relationships through initiatives tailored to address the
challenge of iwi Māori capacity.

The implementation plan outlines a series of actions
scheduled over an 18-month period, from January 2023 to
June 2024, with quarterly milestones. The plan primarily
emphasises learning and development strategies. It also
includes initiatives that affirm the value and use of te reo
Māori, theestablishmentofperformance indicators for staff,
improvingaccess toand the visibility of tools and resources,
and promoting their use.

The council is committed to enhancing te ao Māori
competency and capacity. The te ao Māori cultural
competency framework and its accompanying
implementation plan will play a pivotal role in identifying

and addressing areas that require improvement while
enhancing the council's ability towork collaboratively with
iwi and Māori communities.

A new council

The triennium for our current council started in October
2022.During2022/23, thecouncilundertookarobustprocess
to review and refresh its strategic direction, to ensure we
continue to focus on the areas that are most important to
the Waikato region. Our Strategic Direction 2023-2025,
Takatū Waikato | Making a Stand for the Waikato, sets out
the vision, purposeand six strategic priorities that guideour
work, as well as our goals for success.

Customer omichannel review

A customer omnichannel review and subsequent customer
transformationmanagementplanwascompleted this year,
with the management plan submitted to the Customer
Experience Transformation Programme Sponsoring Group
on31March2023.Thecustomer transformationprogramme
looks to implement a fit-for-purpose systemwhich takes
requests received via our contact channels and feeds the
information into a consistent technology system so our
customer experience team can triage, answer, or direct
requests to the correct business unit for a response. This
will enable customers to interact with us through their
channel of choice, while providing a seamless experience
from first contact through to resolution.

What we delivered

The total number of customer, community and services performance measures is four. A total of twomeasures were
achieved (50 per cent), one measure was not achieved (25 per cent) and onemeasure was not applicable (25 per cent).
Detailed commentary for these measures can be found in the following tables.
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Activity: Governance

Level of service: To provide and promote governance processes that are robust and transparent for
the regional community.

CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

A total of 124 of 124 (100%) information requests were
receivedand responded towithin statutory timeframes
this year.

2022/23:

Achieved, 100%

100%Percentage of official
information requests
responded to within
statutory timeframes

2021/22:

Achieved, 100%

A total of 79 of 79 (100%) council agendas were made
publiclyavailablewithin the statutory timeframeof two
working days before the meeting this year.

2022/23:

Achieved, 100%

2021/22:

100%Percentage of council
agendas that are
publicly available two
working days or more
before the meeting

Achieved, 100%

Activity: Iwi Māori participation

Level of service: To support a Treaty-based partnership approach in our engagement with iwi Māori.

CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

Sevenout of nine (78%) keysMPAactions identified for
2022/2023 were completed this year.

2022/23:

Not achieved,
78%

100% of actions
completed as
per schedule.

Completion of key
actions identified in the
Māori Partnership
Approach Work has been completed for the following seven

actions:
2021/22:

Develop a strategic outline case on increasing iwi
participation settingout ahigh-level overviewof theAchieved

strategicbenefits for investing in iwi capacity, aswell
as the risks, options, and costs within the current
context and priorities of council.

Set up a technical working group with iwi partners
to collectively advance strategic priorities.

Complete a cultural competency assessment and
framework.

Updateprojectmanagementprocesses so that there
are appropriate mechanisms and triggers directing
projectmanagers towork throughmātaurangaMāori
and iwi engagement tools at the front end.

Complete the development of Rautaki Reo – Te Reo
Māori strategy.

Develop and implement an action plan to further
business as usual (BAU) implementation of the
Mātauranga Māori programme.
Explicitly set out Te Ao Māori KPIs for all WRC roles.

Work is in progress for the following two actions:
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Carryout thescheduled reviewofJointManagement
Agreements (JMAs) with a focus on efficiencies and
effectiveness.

AMāoriCapabilityBaselineReport commissioned
by Te Uru Kahika in May 2023 seeks to address
questions regarding the state of Te Ao Māori
capability and chart a path for
improvement. (complete).

Undertake a kaupapa Māori recruitment needs
analysis.

This activity is reliant on joint effort and
prioritisation by our iwi Partners which has
affected timelines. EachJMAareat varying stages
of review as follows: Te Nehenehenui: A new JMA
was developed, negating the need for a review
(reviewcomplete).TūwharetoaMāoriTrustBoard:
The review is complete and potential areas for
improvement andmodifications, identified.
Waikato Tainui: The Co-Governance Committee
has agreed-upon actions and timeframes set for
review initiation and presentation of findings.
Raukawa: the review of the JMA not currently
prioritised; ongoingchecksand initiationplanned
in alignment with both parties' schedules. TARIT
(Te Arawa River Iwi Trust): the review was
postponed to coincide with the TARIT
Crown/Ministerial review. We will continue to
progress thisworkalongside IwiPartners through
2023/2024.

Activity: Planning and reporting

Level of service: To produce high-quality and fit-for-purpose long term plans and amendments to
long term plans to encourage participation in decision making by the regional community.

CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

The target is not applicable. No amendment to the
2021-2031 Long Term Plan was required as a result of
thedevelopmentof the2023/24AnnualPlan, therefore
there was no requirement for an audit or the issuing of
an audit opinion.

2022/23:

Not applicable

2021/22:

Unmodified
opinionreceived
if LTP amended

Long term plans and
amendments to long
term plans receive
'unmodified' audit
opinions

Achieved
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What it cost Revenue and expenditure for customer,
community and services

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Annual Plan

2022/23
Actual

$000$000$000

6,1216,1556,155UAGC

8891,0531,061Targeted Rates

5--Government grants

1-57Fees and charges

2-30Other income

7,0177,2087,303Total income

7,1707,2939,651Operating expenditure

(152)(85)(2,348)Operating surplus / (deficit)

Total funding from / (to) reserves

(367)259259General

5050138Prior Year Surplus

(317)309397Total reserve transfers

(469)224(1,952)Increase / (decrease) in retained earnings

Note: For summary of cost of services please see page 87.

Expenditure

Customer, community and services

W
ai
ka

to
Re

gi
on

al
Co

un
ci
l
20

22
/2
3
An

nu
al

Re
po

rt
Pū

ro
ng

o
ā-
ta
u

28



Te Rākau Whakamarumaru o Waikato

Rohe | Waikato Civil Defence

Emergency Management

This group of activities includes one activity:

Waikato Civil Defence Emergency Management (CDEM)
Group

How this activity improves wellbeing

This activity primarily contributes to vibrant communities.

It supports the community by growing and reinforcing
relationships with partners, including iwi andmarae,
emergency services, councils, welfare agencies and other
organisations. It works alongside others on hazard risk
reduction work, ensuring coordinated responses and
supporting community recovery following emergencies.

Ensuring communities feel safe and know how to access
help also improves people's wellbeing.

Why we provide this activity

The Group Emergency Management Office (GEMO) works
with others to assist in the development of effective
mitigations by building our knowledge of, andplanning for,
potential hazards.

Waikato Regional Council is the administering authority for
the Waikato CDEM Group. Governance is provided through
the Waikato CDEM Group Joint Committee, which has a
legislated membership of elected member representatives
from all councils in the Waikato.

CEDM activities ensure region-wide capability and capacity
to respond effectively to emergencies. They improve
community resilience by raising public awareness of what
to do in an emergency. And they coordinate partnerships
with iwi, agencies, organisations and communities to
support emergency recovery efforts.

What we achieved this year and looking to the
future

Activities and responses

The CDEM Group led and supported several emergency
responses in 2022/23. These include:

reviewing the CDEM Group Plan hazards and risks with
our partners and stakeholders

submitting feedback on government reforms, including
the Natural and Built Environment Bill, Spatial Planning
Bill and Review into the Future for Local Government

developing a new partnership arrangement to provide
CDEMservices,with theadditionofSouthWaikatoDistrict
Council

providing CDEM training to volunteers, agencies, council
staff, and other CDEM Groups

deploying staff, from across the CDEM Group area, to
Tasman-Marlborough, Thames-Coromandel, Auckland
and Hawkes Bay

responding toNorth Islandweather events; CycloneHale,
Auckland Anniversary Weekend and Cyclone Gabrielle

supporting the recovery for Cyclone Gabrielle.
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What we delivered

The total number of Waikato CDEM Group performance measures is two. One measures (50 per cent) was achieved and
onemeasure (50per cent)wasnot achieved. Detailed commentary for thesemeasures canbe found in the following tables.

Activity: Waikato Civil Defence Emergency Management Group

Level of service: To provide a region-wide coordinated response to and recovery from emergencies
to reduce the impact on people and the economy.

CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

The GECC was activated on Saturday 28 January 2023
(in supportingmode) for Auckland Anniversary and on
Wednesday 8 February for Cyclone Gabrielle weather
events. Both event responses were activated
immediately by onsite staff.

2022/23:

Achieved

2021/22:

≤30 minutes
during business
hours

≤60 minutes
after hours

The time taken for the
Group Emergency
Coordination Centre
(GECC) to be activated
in response to a civil
defence event /
emergency

Achieved

This year therewas no annual evaluation as ameasure
of effectivenessof trainingdelivery. Annual evaluations
are carried out between territorial authorities, where

2022/23:

Not achieved

2021/22:

Increasing trendThe evaluation of our
annual exercise as a
measure of
effectivenessof training
delivery* (mandatory
measure)

one territorial authority assesses another’smeasureof
effectiveness. At the time when an evaluation should
have taken place, territorial authorities were engagedAchieved,

baseline
assessment

responding and remediating extreme weather events.
As a result, no annual evaluation took place. In lieu of
an annual exercise, Waikato Regional Council’s
response to weather events, specifically Cyclone
Gabrielle was utilised.

*This is a mandatory performance measure set by the Waikato Civil Defence Emergency Management Group Joint
Committee which all councils in the Waikato region are required to report against.
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What it costs

Revenue and expenditure for Waikato Civil Defence Emergency Management Group

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Annual Plan

2022/23
Actual

$000$000$000

2,4482,5172,535Targeted Rates

8371153Fees and Charges

--450Government grants

704691790Other Income

3,2353,2793,927Total income

3,0933,2793,978Operating expenditure

1420(51)Operating surplus / (deficit)

Total funding from / (to) reserves

(142)-113Civil defence

345--Prior year surplus

203-113Total reserve transfers

345063Increase / (decrease) in retained earnings

Note: For summary of cost of services please see page 87.

Expenditure

Waikato Civil Defence and Emergency Management Group
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Ngā mahi hei ārai, hei ārahi hoki i ngā

waipuke |  Flood protection and control

works

This groupof activities includes threeactivities:

flood protection

land drainage

river management

How these activities improve wellbeing

Theseactivities contribute toahealthyenvironment, vibrant
communities and a strong economy.

They help to maintain public and private assets and
investments that safeguard communities, homes and
businesses – providing social and economic stability.

Theyalsocontribute tomaintaining thenatural environment
through the rehabilitationandpreservationof river channels
and riparian areas.

Why we provide these activities

The council has judged that the following measures are
relevant to readers of this report to determine the level of
service performance delivered for this Group of Activities.
These measurers have been selected to reduce the risks to
communities from flooding, erosion and other hazards
associatedwith rivers, streamsand their catchments. These
activities help to safeguard people’s lives, property and
economic wellbeing. They protect vital services such as
water supply, telecommunications, transport networksand
other infrastructure. And they reduce impacts on, and help
to enhance, the natural environment.

Our land drainage networks support the productive use of
land by enabling landowners to oversee improved water
tablemanagementon their properties, reducing the surface
flooding and pasture damage caused by heavy rainfall
events.

Theworkweundertakeonour riversandstreamsmaintains
their stability and capacity, protects valuable soils from
erosion, improveswaterquality by reducing sedimentation,
andprotectsproperties fromerosiondamage.This supports
the restoration of our degraded river channels, riparian
environments and in-stream aquatic habitats.

We also provide advice and work with our community
stakeholders to improve our environment.

What we achieved this year and looking to the
future

Cyclone Hale

Ex-Tropical CycloneHale formed in the SouthPacificOcean
andmade landfall on the North Island of New Zealand on
11 January 2023. The storm brought heavy rain and wind
gusts to the Waikato region, causing widespread impacts
across theCoromandelPeninsula.While the rainfall amounts
and intensity may not have been overly significant on their
own, the cumulative effects of the substantial rainover such
a short period led to a range of impacts, including flooding
and landslips affecting power and telecommunications in
some areas.

Despite the impacts, all flood and drainage schemes
managed by Waikato Regional Council performed as
designedandnosignificant issueswere reported. The storm
tide recordedatWhitiangawharf tide gaugeduringCyclone
Hale was the largest recorded at 1.8metres. As a result, the
corresponding stormtideandwavescaused inundationand
coastal erosion along parts of the eastern Coromandel
region, particularly Buffalo Beach, Whitianga.

Cyclone Gabrielle

CycloneGabrielle formed in theSouthPacific and intensified
into a Category 4 tropical cyclone before weakening as it
approached New Zealand. Cyclone Gabrielle made landfall
on the North Island on 12 February 2023.

The low-pressure system brought heavy rain and severe
windgusts to the region, exacerbating thealready saturated
catchment areas and soils. The majority of impacts across
the regionwere localisedponding/surface floodingand land
instability. Overall, all Waikato Regional Council flood
protection schemes in the affected areas performed as
designed during Cyclone Gabrielle.

Next steps

Waikato Regional Council zones are still compiling and
assessing impacts andmoving into recovery. Assessmentof
land slips, soil erosion and general land instability is being
plannedutilising available remote sensing technology such
as satellite and LiDAR.
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We are prioritising work to remediate damaged rivers and
catchments, and to address coastal erosion and
sedimentation issues, based on risk and impact to
communities and the environment.

Our flood protection infrastructure worked as it should to
protect communities and productive farmland, with the
CriterionBridge floodgates inPaeroaused for the first time.

This year, there were twomajor flood events in the Waipā
catchment that required flood recovery plans. These
recoveryplanswereapprovedby the IntegratedCatchment
Management Committee in May 2023.

Pathways to the Sea

In 2023, we continued the Pathways to the Sea project. Of
the 19 projectmilestones, 12 have been completed, five are
in progress, and two have yet to be started. A total of 20
technical reports have beenproduced to date, contributing
extensive information, knowledge, and research towards
downstream fish passage. This information will help to
improve the downstreammigration of fish by resolving or
mitigating passage issues through existing floodprotection
infrastructure.

In 2022,we installedour first fish-friendly Archimedes screw
pump in the lower Waikato catchment – the first of its kind
in Aotearoa New Zealand. The pump was designed and
sourced fromtheNetherlandsandproven tobe100per cent
fish-friendly inEurope.Thepumpwasmonitoredduring the
tuna (eel) migration season in 2023 to see how successfully
it passes our native fish. All 206 tuna to pass through the
pump during monitoring did so without major injury or
mortality. Work also continued on development of a New
Zealand fish -friendlypump.WeareworkingwithMacEwans
Pumping Systems andCallaghan Innovation to develop the
pumptoreplaceexistingMacEwansPPFaxialpumpswithout
the need tomake any civil structuremodifications to pump
stations. With much of the research and development
completed or underway for Pathways to the Sea, the final
stages of the project were kicked off in 2023. This included
the launch of the decision support tool anddevelopment of
the strategy which will bring together all the research and
development undertaken for the project, plus
recommendations to guide decision making.

Major infrastructure projects

Major projects included the following:

Kirikiri Stopbank – land purchase is nearing completion
to enable construction to start in 2023/24.

Mangawhero fishpassagepump–provides saferpassage
for our native fish species (completed).
Roger Harris Pumpstation – civil works, inlet bay and
electrical upgrade (completed).

Ngātea Left Stopbank – stopbank upgrade (completed)
and closeout of ancillary items (nearing completion).

Piako Right Bank Asset Rationalisation – due to an
extraordinarily wet construction season, stage two
earthworks were only partially completed, but drainage
infrastructure and installation of access culverts were
completed.Project completion, includingcivil structures,
is expected in 2023/24.

Foreshore (East andWest) –due toanextraordinarilywet
construction season, the stopbank upgrade was only
partially completed. Completion is expected in 2023/24.

Lake Waikare Northern Operating Control Gate –
refurbishment and reinstallation (completed).

Pungarehu Canal – rockworks for stabilisation were
undertaken on a section of the canal, and further
stabilisation is work planned throughout 2023/24,
including further rockworks and planting.

Tuakau Pumpstation – pipelines were replaced and
realigned, and installationof an inlet structure is planned
for 2023/24.

Churchill East Pumpstation – detailed design was
completed, and a construction contract awarded, with
construction scheduled to begin in late 2023.

River and Catchment Management

Thisyear, rivermanagementhasbeenparticularly important
for areas outside the bounds of our major flood protection
infrastructure, followingmultiple significant rainfall events
across the region. The Coromandel Zone usually delivers
around $350,000 in river management and improvement
works. This year, more than $2.5 million in works has been
scoped for delivery, with more than half delayed due to
access constraints, site instability or further weather
impacts.

We successfully delivered the fourth and final year of the
current Hill Country Erosion Fund project, with a significant
volume of works completed across the Waipā, West Coast,
Lower Waikato and Coromandel zones. On the back of the
successful delivery of this, we secured a further four years
of funding across the region, including Waihou and Piako
catchments into the programme for the first time. Te Uru
Rakau (NewZealandForest Service)will invest a further $2.8
million over the four year period to support the retirement
of steep lands and vulnerable catchments.

Regionally, 1,726haof landwas retired, 948,801eco sourced
natives were planted, 137 kilometres of streambanks were
protected,164rivermanagementstructureswerecompleted
and 229 kilometres new riparian, hill country wetland or
forest fragment protection fencing was erected.

We also completed physical works for the Karāpiro
/Mangaonua catchments and Manaia River Restoration
projectsunder theShovelReadyprogramme.Theseprojects
involved weed control, fencing and planting of native
species, working closely with iwi and landowners. The
projects are in the final close out phase.
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What we delivered

The total number of flood protection and control works performancemeasures is three. Two of themeasures (67 per cent)
were achieved, and one (33 per cent) was achieved in part. Detailed commentary for these measures can be found in the
following tables.

Activity: Flood protection

Level of service: A standardof floodprotection, agreedwith communities, as set out in the zoneplans
and associated documents.

CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

Thismeasure ismadeupof twoparts. Theoverall result
is achieved in part.

2022/23:

Achieved in part

AchievedMajor flood protection
and control works are
maintained, repaired
and renewed to the key

2021/22:
standards defined in
relevant planning Achieved in part
documents (such as the
zonemanagementplan,
annual works
programmeor longterm
plan)

A total of 3,004 out of 3,258 (92.2%) planned
mandatorymaintenanceactions for2022/23havebeen
completed.

2022/23:

Achieved, 92.2%

85%Part one: Percentage of
plannedmandatory
maintenance* actions
achieved each year

2021/22:

Achieved, 93.8%

The urban and rural stopbanks design flood level for
the year are as follows:

2022/23:

Not achieved,

Rural: 93%

Urban: 95%

Part two: Percentage of
stopbanks maintained
to above design flood
height, as agreedwithin
each zone

Rural: 92.64%
Rural: 92.64%

Urban: 95.73%
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CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

The rural stopbanks maintained above the designed
flood height as agreed within each zone were slightly
belowthe targetof 93%at92.64%.Theurbanstopbank

Urban: 95.73%

2021/22:

target was achieved at 95.2%. Crest-level monitoring
Not achieved,

and capital upgrades are in progress. For rural
stopbanks, multi-year works, and historical survey
uploads are underway.

Rural: 92.79%

Urban: 95.18%

There have been twomajor rain events in the Waipā
catchment that have required flood recovery plans.
Plans for the events were approved by the Integrated

2022/23:

Achieved

100%CompliantPercentage of flood
recovery plans**
implemented***afterall
major events**** Catchment Management Committee May 2023,

2021/22:
including a drawdown from the Waipa Zone Disaster
Recovery Reserve for recovery works. An additionalAchieved
drawdownfromtheRegionalDisasterReserveRecovery
will be considered alongside drawdown requests from
the zones impacted by the summer 2023 flood events.

* Maintenance canmean repair, renewal, or maintenance.

** The plans set out timeframes under which flood response actions are to be completed.

*** Implementation: A flood recovery plan is considered ‘implemented’ when the flood recovery plan, containing
remediation actions and costs for said actions, has been approved by ICMC.

**** Major: Any flood event that causes damages that cannot be remediated through normal operational funding and
requires disaster recovery funding to rectified.

Activity: Land drainage

Level of service: Reliable water tablemanagement on landwithin drainage schemes for the purpose
of maintaining pastoral production.

ActualTargetPerformance measure

There have been incidents of ponding in areas due to
continuing extremeweather events, however ponding
has occurred in areas where the annual exceedance

2022/23:

Achieved

≤5Number of reported
incidences where it
takes more than three
days to remove surface probability has been greater than 10%. There were no

2021/22:
water after events with
up to a 10% annual
exceedanceprobability*

reported incidences for weather events up to 10%
annual exceedanceprobabilitywhere it tookmore than
three days to remove surface water.

Achieved

*This measure is only applicable if a weather event of up to 10% annual exceedance probability occurs.
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What it cost

Revenue and expenditure for flood protection and control works

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Annual Plan

2022/23
Actual

$000$000$000

2,8683,2293,235General Rates

19,80022,06422,163Targeted rates

231047Fees and charges

4,7745,2583,096Government grants

2--Investment income

8007621,294Other income

28,26731,32229,834Total income

26,95425,99031,008Operating expenditure

1,3145,332(1,173)Operating surplus / (deficit)

Total funding from / (to) reserves

(950)(2,463)(783)Watershed

42(13)425Peninsula

(31)1(89)West Coast

(638)(980)1,216Waihou

499(1,855)(22)Piako

(363)152(323)Drainage

(108)(98)(143)Regional disaster recovery

(84)(77)84Zone disaster recovery

0-770Lower Waikato Main Channel

0-268Prior year surplus

(1,633)(5,332)1,403Total reserve transfers

(319)0229Increase / (decrease) in retained earnings

Note: For summary of cost of services please see page 87.
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Expenditure
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Te whakahaere ā- tōpū i te rauwiringa

wai | Integrated catchment

management

This group of activities includes four activities:

biodiversity

biosecurity

catchment planning andmanagement

landmanagement advisory services.

How these activities improve wellbeing

Theseactivitiesprimarily contribute tovibrant communities
and a strong economy.

Theseactivities focuson improvingournatural environment
and preventing the loss of natural amenity for the benefit
of all residents. They also work to protect employment and
income opportunities through the removal of pests, and
support industries to be compliant with regulations.

Why we provide these activities

The council has judged that the following measures are
relevant to readers of this report to determine the level of
service performance delivered for this Group of Activities.
Through these activities, we aim to:

reduce the loss of productive soils

reduce sedimentation of rivers, harbours and estuaries

stabilise catchments

create awareness of land and water sustainability

make improvements toandmaintainwaterquality in the
region’s harbours, estuaries and shallow lakes

protect biodiversity

protect biosecurity.

This work is intended to preserve, protect and enhance the
region’s environment, and help the agricultural sector to
meet its obligations.

Our biosecurity activities are also a vital component of the
national biosecurity system, which is designed to mitigate
and prevent the significant impacts of pest species that can
cause great environmental, social, cultural and economic
losses. Where possible, the work is carried out in
collaborationwith landowners, community groups, iwi and
other agencies.

What we achieved this year and looking to the
future

Shovel Ready

In response to COVID-19, the Government awarded funding
to the council formultiple infrastructureandenvironmental
restoration projects. The funding was provided to help
stimulate the economy and create jobs, while providing
public or regional benefit.

Aspartof this, thecouncil put forwardproposals to fast-track
projects focusedonprotectingandenhancingwaterquality,
biodiversity, soils, and coastal areas, and to protect
communities from flooding. Delivering our Shovel Ready
projects in association with our funding partners, iwi and
communities hasbeenakeyareaof focus in 2022/23 (which
represents year three of a five-year funding cycle).

Key projects are included in the infrastructure and river and
catchment activity areas. With the close out of several key
projects thereare10projects remaining in theoverall Shovel
Ready programme.

Regional Pest Management Plan

We prepared theWaikato Regional Pest Management Plan
2022-2032 (RPMP) following extensive community
engagement and consultation. The RPMP provides a
framework for the efficient and effective management or
eradicationof specifiedorganisms in theWaikato region for
the next decade. It came into force on 4 July 2022 and will
remain in force until 5 July 2032.

TheRPMP isa rulebookwith set, cost-effectivemanagement
programmes for identified pest plants and animals in our
region. It focuses on programmes targeting species where
we could make a real difference in the protection of our
environment, cultural and social wellbeing, and for our
economy.

We also developed an operational plan to support our
implementation of the RPMP for the Waikato region, with
the exception of the Hūnua Ranges Pest Management Area.
Thisdocumentoutlines thenatureandscopeof theactivities
we intend to undertake. It includes key performance
indicators (KPIs) and other measures which will help us
determine theextent towhich theRPMPobjectivesarebeing
met.
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The operational plan not only sets out the key priorities for
pest management established through the RPMP, but also
includesmanybiosecurity-related, non-regulatory projects
and work functions that Waikato Regional Council
undertakes, as set out in theWaikato Biosecurity Strategy
2022-2032.

The biosecurity strategy is a non-regulatory, overarching
document thatencompassesallpest species, including those
which other organisations take a management lead on or
those which are so widespread that a regulatory response
would be too costly or ineffective.

Restoration works

Coastcareand theprioritybiodiversity sitesprogrammeare
site-based programmes that aim to protect, maintain, and
restore ecosystems and biodiversity across the Waikato
region. Both programmes are collaborative and include
coordination of partnerships between staff, landowners,
iwi, agencies and other stakeholders.

Theprioritybiodiversity sites includehigh-priority sites such
as TeMaika,Waitoa, LakeWhangape andOpuatiaWetland.
Funding and support was also provided for another 40
priority ecosystems as part of our priority biodiversity site
programme,covering restorationandpestcontrolprojectsat
geothermal, freshwater wetland, shallow lake, coastal and
karst sites. With over 300 priority sites, we rely on willing
landowners and other stakeholders to continue with work
that we helped to initiate.

Coastcare is a community partnership programme that
involves local communities, iwi and agencies working
together to restore and protect coastal ecosystems
throughout the Waikato region. Extreme weather events
such as Cyclone Gabrielle and Cyclone Hale have led to an
increased demand for the involvement of the Coastcare
programme from affected community groups.

There are more than 20 Coastcare groups in the Waikato
region, working across 33 sites on 27 beaches. Highlights
this year included:

31 planting bees at 27 locations

3000 plus hours of planting by volunteers

31,0000 plants planted.

Volunteers carry out a wide range of work to protect
coastlines, including:

building accessways, fences and boarded pathways so
people can get to and from beaches more easily and
without trampling dunes

controlling pest plants and animals

installing signs

speaking to other community groups and running
educational seminars

monitoring beaches for changes or problems that may
need their attention.

Natural Heritage Partnership Programme

In 2022/23,wesupportednumerous community restoration
projects through our Natural Heritage Partnership
Programme. Our Small Scale Community Initiatives Fund,
which provides annual grants of less than $5000 per project
for pest plant andanimal control, funded44projects across
the region.OurEnvironmental InitiativesFund,whichoffers
one-off grants to projects that directly enhance and/or
benefit the environment or provide environmental
education, awarded funding to 15projects. AndourNatural
Heritage Fund, which aims to protect andmanage, in
perpetuity, specialplacesofecological significance,awarded
funds to11projects. This brings the total numberof projects
currently being funded through the Natural Heritage
Partnership Programme to 70.

Farm plan regulations

This year, thePrimary IndustryEngagementSectionworked
closely with the Ministry for the Environment (MfE) and Te
UruKahika toprovideguidanceon the freshwater farmplan
(FWFP) regulations under central government’s Essential
Freshwater requirements. We participated in a pilot study
toassist theMfE inunderstandinghowtheFWFP regulations
would be implemented in different situations.We are doing
all we can to align Plan Change 1 and FWFPs through the
Environment Court process.

We successfully recommended a three-and-a-half year
phased rollout of FWFPs for the Waikato region to the
original 12 month phase proposed by the central
government. To support primary landowners to meet their
regulatory obligations, our work programme has focused
on the following.

FWFP regionally endorsed certifer and auditor training:
We have worked closely with the national accreditation
body (AsureQuality) todevelop the certificationprocess.

Development of a farm registration tool: To meet the
requirements of PC1, a registration tool is needed. This
will be an online self-service portal.

Support development of an Integrated National Farm
DataPlatform(INFDP): Thisnationalplatformwill provide
consistency and efficiency across New Zealand and is
expected toenable regional councils, andothers, to track
certified FWFP actions, identify farms still to obtain a
certified FWFP, and report on the actions taken and
planned to improve fresh water. We are collaborating
with the INFDPdevelopment teamtomake sureour farm
registration tool can work with the national platform.

DevelopmentofCCCV (catchmentcontext challengesand
values): Farm operators are required to consider CCCV
information, made available by regional councils in
consultation with iwi partners, when preparing their
FWFP.

Iwi engagement: We are developing an Iwi Engagement
Plan given the significant involvement by iwi that we
anticipatewill be required for successful implementation
of the FWFP regulations and PC1.
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We are working with primary sector stakeholders to
ensure consistent messaging to primary landowners.

Extreme weather Events

The Waikato region experienced a series of severe weather
eventsduring the summerof 2022/2023 thatwerepreceded
by above-average rainfall in 2022. The weather events
includedslow-moving low-pressuresystemsassociatedwith
subtropicalweather like theAucklandAnniversaryweekend
rainfall event, and two ex-tropical cyclones: Cyclone Hale
andCycloneGabrielle.Muchof the regionexperiencedheavy
rain, flooding, strongwinds, gusts, and landslides. However,
the lowerWaikatoandCoromandel regionswereparticularly
affected by these events.

TheWaikato Regional Council zones are still compiling and
assessing impacts andmoving into recovery. Assessmentof
land slips, soil erosion and general land instability is being
plannedutilising available remote sensing (i.e. satellite and
LiDAR). Coordination through the Science, Policy and
Information (SPI) and integrated Catchment Management
(ICM) Directorates is being undertaken with central
government and Crown Research Institutes (CRI) to ensure
an effective response. The year 2023 proved to be record
breaking with rainfall accumulations exceeding previous
historic maximums.

A summary of provisional regional and zone-by-zone catchment management outputs for 2022/23, undertaken on 341
individual properties, are shown in the following table:

Area retired
(ha)

Waterway
obstruction
removal (#)

River
management
structures

(#)

Poles
planted (#)

Native
plants (#)

Streambank
protected

(m)

Newfencing
(m)

Zone

29.715211,731114,0426,8809,911Central
Waikato

430.3---81,5649,19812,240Coromandel

492-860137,90517,70132,029Lake Taupō
/ Upper
Waikato

450.1373510,211235,60129,24357,446Lower
Waikato

17.1--35052,6465,31720,505Waihou /
Piako

276.1133935,422207,57533,25252,764Waipā

473.815155,181119,46835,38844,753West Coast

1,72620216423,755948,801136,979229,648Regional
outcome

Disclaimer: All data reported is provisional and final outputs may differ slightly to those reported in this report and as
subsequently reported.

What we delivered

The total number of integrated catchmentmanagement performancemeasures is nine. Sevenmeasures (78 per cent)were
achieved and two (22 per cent) were not achieved. Detailed commentary for thesemeasures can be found in the following
tables.
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Activity: Biodiversity

Level of service: We work with private landowners and others to maintain and enhance indigenous
biodiversity.

CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

There are currently 70 groups and/or individuals
undertakingactivities asper their fundingagreements.
Within the Natural Heritage Partnership Programme
there are three funds:

2022/23:

Achieved, 70

2021/22:

65Number of community
groups and individuals
funded through the
Natural Heritage
PartnershipProgramme

Small Scale Community Initiatives Fundthat undertake
restorationactivities, as
per their funding
agreement.

Achieved, 94
Environmental Initiatives Fund and

Natural Heritage Fund

Natural Heritage Fund

The fund for 2022/23 is fully allocated with 11 active
projects.

Environmental Initiatives Fund

The fund for 2022/23 has 15 active projects.

Small Scale Community Initiatives Fund

Funds for 2022/23wereawarded to44projects thatare
undertaking restoration activities in line with their
funding agreement.

Reporting on these projects is due in the next financial
year.
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CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

There are currently 40 on the ground projects
(Environmental Programme Agreements, project
management plans, fencing, planting, trapping, site
condition assessments) being undertaken within
priority ecosystems.

2022/23:

Achieved, 40

2021/22:

16Number of
on-the-ground projects
on private land, within
the top 30% of priority
ecosystems, delivering
biodiversity restoration Achieved, 36

Activity: Biosecurity

Level of service: We reduce animal pest populations on identified sites with assessed biodiversity
values.

CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

Reporting for 2022/23 is completed and this measure
has been achieved.

2022/23:

Achieve, 1.29%

≤5%Average rat tracking
index (RTI) for all rat
control operations

The average RTI for all rat control operations is 1.29%.
This is an average of the results received to date:2021/22:

Achieved,1.67% Old Mountain Road - Ed Hilary Hope Reserve: 0%

Old Mountain Road – Johnstone: 1.82%

Pukemako: 3.33%

In 2022/23 a total of 14 operations were completed.
The average number of possums caught represented
2.22% (RTC) for every 100 traps set. The operation
results are as follows:

2022/23:

Achieved,2.22%

2021/22:

<5% residual
trap catch (RTC)
for ground
control

Average number of
possums* caught for
every 100 traps set for
possum operations

Ground
Achieved,2.00%

Arohena 1: 4.47%

Arohena 2: 0%

Otahu: 0.85%

Mahoenui: 4.46%

Te Kohanga – Sec 1: 4.52%

Port Waikato / Sunset: 4.1%

Taupo west: 1.315%

Hauturu: 4.71%

Waipa River: 2.39%

Waotu: 1.12%

Waipa Puniu 11: 3.13%

North Taupo: 1.805%

North Pirongia: 1.975

Aerial

Port Waikato / Sunset: 0%

Hauturu: 0.74%

Waipa River 0%

*Possums are targeted as they have a detrimental impact on our native flora and fauna, devastating native forests and
impacting on pasture, horticulture and forestry.
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Level of service: We control low-density, high threat plant pests to minimise impacts on primary
industry and human health.

CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

Each eradication site is inspected annually for plants,
to undertake a treatment if required and to survey the
wider area. By continuing this management

2022/23:

Achieved

Reducing trendReducing trend in the
coverage of eradication
pest plants* at known
sites. programme from year-to-year the seed banks /

2021/22:
rhizomes are being exhausted which means there is a
reducing trend in the coverage of all eradication pest
plants at known sites. The measure is achieved.

Achieved

* Plants included in the operative regional pest management plan (RPMP) eradication category

Activity: Catchment planning andmanagement

Level of service: Wemaintain existing works to ensure gains are preserved.

CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

A total of 49 out of 56 (88%) compartments within
catchment schemes have been inspected and found
compliant. Non-compliant properties (if any) will be
recorded, and remedial works programmed in
consultation with the property owner.

2022/23:

Achieved, 88%

2021/22:

80%Percentage of sampled
catchment works
maintained in effective
condition to the
standards set out in
zone plans* Achieved, 82%

* A sample of at least 10 per cent of all catchment scheme and non-scheme works (individual work agreements legally
protected on property title outside schemes) are inspected to assesswork conditions every year.Works include fencing,
planting and erosion control structures.

Level of service: We implement agreed plans (catchment new works) with landowners and land
managers for reduced erosion, improved water quality and enhanced biodiversity.

CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

94% of catchment new works costs are located within
priority catchments and/or significant natural areas
across all zones.

2022/23:

Achieved, 94%

80%Percentage of
catchment new works
undertaken in priority
catchments and/or at
priority sites across all
zones

2021/22:

Achieved,89.7%

Activity: Landmanagement advisory services

Level of service: We work with our partners, stakeholders and the community to improve soil
conservation and water quality.

CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

The percentage of rural professionals who provided a
rating of good or excellent after engaging with the
council was 81%.

2022/23:

Not achieved,
81%

2021/22:

90%Percentage of rural
professionals that
provided a rating of
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CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

good or excellent after
engaging with the
council*

Respondents noted the positive interactions they had
with thePrimarySectorSupportandEngagement team,
especiallywhenteammembersactivelymadetheeffort

Not achieved,
78%

to attendmeetings and be accessible. Many
acknowledged the great direct engagement with PIE
teammembersas theymove into the “challengingarea
of developing WRCs Fresh Water Farm Plans process”.

This measure's results were impacted by Council's
inability to provide the desired answers regarding
upcoming freshwater regulationsand their impact. The
timing of an amendment to The National Policy
Statement for FreshwaterManagement, a crucial piece
of legislation informing the regulations,meant thatwe
were unable to offer the clarity that rural professionals
sought. It’s worth noting that subsequent interviews
with rural professionals emphasised the positive start
made by the Primary Sector Support and Engagement
team has made in engaging with the sector in
preparation for the upcoming regulation clarity.

*This is for our contribution to the development of farm environment plans.

Level of service: We provide relevant, useful information and advice to rural communities to support
them in changing their behaviours to improve the local environment.

CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

Thepercentageofattendeesatagricultural community
events who were satisfied that the events met their
intended purpose was 38%.

2022/23:

Not Achieved,
38%

2021/22:

90%Percentage of
agricultural community
eventattendees thatare
satisfied the event met
its intended purpose* During theEngagingwith theRuralSector inaDynamic

Environment event in February 2023, 93%ofattendees
indicated that they enjoyed the event. Key feedback

Achieved, 95%
highlighted that the event was highly effective in
bringing together representatives from the primary
industry.

The lowresult formeeting theevent's intendedpurpose
wasdue to theCouncil's inability toprovide thedesired
answers regarding upcoming freshwater regulations
and their impact. The timing of an amendment to The
NationalPolicyStatement forFreshwaterManagement,
a crucial piece of legislation informing the regulations,
meant thatwewereunable tooffer the clarity that rural
professionals sought. It’sworthnoting that subsequent
interviews with rural professionals emphasised the
positive startmadeby the Primary Sector Support and
Engagement teamhasmade inengagingwith thesector
in preparation for the upcoming regulation clarity.

*The intended purpose will change according to the event.
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What it cost

Revenue and expenditure for integrated catchment management

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Annual Plan

2022/23
Actual

$000$000$000

8,2618,2788,279General rates

1,7072,1462,146UAGC

18,54920,65220,651Targeted rates

5,8512,9835,735Government grants

9011,060(52)Fees and charges

65-77Investment income

2,3213,2122,792Other income

37,65538,33139,628Total income

33,73939,48238,595Operating expenditure

3,917(1,151)1,033Operating surplus / (deficit)

Total funding from / (to) reserves

(712)630(197)Watershed

(539)(14)(108)Peninsula

(130)(7)(137)West Coast

(517)96(351)Waihou

(283)(0)491Piako

77-56Pathways to the Sea

(754)3951,149Biosecurity

42126178Natural Heritage

(38)26(30)Environmental initiatives

(54)-(119)Stock truck effluent implementation

321--Prior Year Surplus

(2,207)1,151931Total reserve transfers

1,709(0)1,964Increase / (decrease) in retained earnings

Note: For summary of cost of services please see page 87.
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Expenditure
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Mōreatanga ā rohe me te whakarata

ohotata | Regional hazards and

emergency response

This group of activities includes two activities:

Resilient development

Waikato Regional Council emergency response

How these activities improve wellbeing

Theseactivitiesprimarily contribute tovibrant communities,
a healthy environment and a strong economy.

This activity supports communities to make informed
decisions about their own wellbeing, as well as helping to
protect people’s financial and personal safety against the
effects of emergencies.

The work we do strengthens community networks and
supports the resilience of people and businesses.

Why we provide these activities

Providingnaturalhazard informationenablesbetterdecision
making about the management of existing and proposed
developments tominimise risk andharm topeople, homes,
businesses and infrastructure.

We ensure arrangements, standards and processes are in
place for Waikato Regional Council’s emergency response.
We also ensure emergency management staff have the
capability and resources to respond to emergency events,
ensuring the best outcomes for the community.

What we achieved this year and looking to the
future

Regional resilience

We continued to collaborate with and provide advice and
guidance to support our region’s resilience to natural
hazards. This included working with territorial authorities,
communities, iwi and national researchers, and providing
guidance to inform district and regional plan reviews.

We continued our focus on working with communities to
understand their natural hazard risks and how those risks
can bemanaged to build long-term resilience. Thiswork on
dynamic, adaptive planning and community adaptation
plans was undertaken alongside Hauraki District Council,
Waikato District Council and Thames-Coromandel District
Council.

Eachplanassesses areas that are susceptible to the impacts
of a changing climate, including coastal, riparian and land
instability. They consider the ways local government and
communities can manage these challenges, now and into
the future, byhaving iwi and thecommunity at the forefront
of the decision making. We’ve been working with:

HaurakiDistrict Council ona community adaptationplan
for the Wharekawa coast and the initial scoping of a
Hauraki Plains Adaptation Project

Thames-Coromandel District Council on a shoreline
management plan for the Thames-Coromandel area

Waikato District Council on a plan for Port Waikato, and
to consider coastal erosion issues.

Each plan looks at areas that are more susceptible to the
impacts of a changing climate, including sea-level rise and
coastal erosionor inundation. They look at thewayswe can
manage thesechallenges forour communities, nowand into
the future. Our coastal inundation tool also supports this
work, as well as having wider applications, allowing
communities to quickly understand the susceptibility of
coastal areas to particular sea-level-rise scenarios.

We continue to provide technical advice and guidance to
stakeholders where required. This ranges from natural
hazard informationvia theWaikatoRegionalHazard’sPortal
to technical reviewsof consent applications andmodelling.
AndwecontinuetocollaboratewithMatamata-PiakoDistrict
Council and Waipā District Council on flood hazard
modelling.

Emergency response

Our Emergency Response Framework was refined and
formally adopted in July 2022, for implementation in
2022/23. We continued to provide support and guidance
across many forums, including the Waikato Hazardous
Substance Committee and Civil Defence and Emergency
Management (CDEM) professional networks.

TheWaikato regionhasbeen impactedby successive severe
weather events over the past year, with Cyclone Hale, the
Auckland Anniversary Weekend flooding and Cyclone
Gabrielle all occurring within weeks of each other. These
three events followed a wet second half of 2022 which saw
several localised flood events. The region is still impacted
by the significant amount of rainfall experienced over the
last 12 months. Our regional flood response teamworked
alongside the Waikato GEMO (Group Emergency
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Management Office) during the Cyclone Gabrielle National
State of Emergency, continually monitoring the weather
and its impacts to provide real-time information to our
stakeholders via Flood Room Live.

Responding to oil spills

Marine oil spills threaten the coastal marine area. We work
with other agencies to prevent and plan for these hazards
so we canminimise the impact they may have on our
environment.

Our marine oil spill response capability was examined and
tested on two occasions by Maritime New Zealand and
continues to meet the required standards set out in
legislation and best practice.

Hazards portal

Our online Waikato Regional Hazards Portal was launched
in July 2019. It continues to be well used by the public and
key stakeholders to identify hazards where they live and
work. These include flood, seismic, volcanicandgeothermal
hazards, as well as coastal inundation and erosion. No
significant updates to the portal have been undertaken this
year.

Emergency radio network

Ouremergency radionetworkwasupgraded in2022/23. The
upgrade was critical to ensure essential communication
during an emergency event, should the mobile network go
down or if staff are in areas without cell phone reception.

What we delivered

The total number of regional hazards and emergency response performance measures is three. All three measures (100
per cent) were achieved. Detailed commentary for these measures can be found in the following tables.

Activity: Resilient development

Level of service: We provide hazard information and advice to communities and stakeholders to
ensure they are well informed.

CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

The hazards portal is up to date and operational.2022/23:Review the data
and update if
necessary

Provide relevant and
up-to-date hazard
information to Achieved

2021/22:
communities and
stakeholders via the
online hazards portal Achieved
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Activity: Waikato Regional Council emergency response

Level of service:Weprovide thecommunitywith timely floodevent informationandsituation reports
to respond effectively to flood events to lessen the adverse effects.

CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

A total of 267 customers were contacted by Waikato
Regional Council and asked to participate in a survey
to assess their satisfaction with Waikato Regional

2022/23:

Achieved,
95.83%

2021/22:

90%Percentage of
customerssatisfiedwith
the Waikato Regional
Council's flood warning
service (source: contact
database survey)

Council’s flood warning service. Of the 267 contacted,
48 responded to the surveywith95.83%being satisfied
with service offered.

Achieved, 99%

Level of service:We reduce theenvironmental impactofmarineoil spills byhavinga safe, coordinated
and effective plan in place, maintaining an effective readiness to respond.

CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

A Marine Oil Spill Contingency Plan is in place with
exercises completed at Raglan on 22 September 2022
and 9 March 2023.

2022/23:

Achieved

2021/22:

Plan in place
and two
exercises
undertaken

A tier two regional
marineoil spill plan is in
place and two exercises
areundertakenper year

Achieved
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What it cost

Revenue and expenditure for regional hazards and emergency response

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Annual Plan

2022/23
Actual

$000$000$000

1,6011,8671,867UAGC

6258911Fees and charges

--47Other income

1,6632,4571,924Total income

4,1382,4573,016Operating expenditure

(2,475)0(1,092)Operating surplus / (deficit)

Total funding from / (to) reserves

--(20)Resilient Development

--(20)Total reserve transfers

(2,475)-(1,112)Increase / (decrease) in retained earnings

Note: For summary of cost of services please see page 87.

Expenditure

W
ai
ka

to
Re

gi
on

al
Co

un
ci
l
20

22
/2
3
An

nu
al

Re
po

rt
Pū

ro
ng

o
ā-
ta
u

50



Ngā ara hono ā-rohe | Regional

transport connections

This groupof activities includes threeactivities:

inter-regional rail

transport policy and planning

urban and rural transport delivery.

How these activities improve wellbeing

Theseactivities contribute tovibrantcommunities, ahealthy
environment and a strong economy.

They support connectivity and employment, providing our
communities with affordable transport options to access
jobs, education, essential services, recreational activities
and community events.

They also help to ensure that our region’s investment in
transport infrastructure is well coordinated and well
informed so that, together, we’re creating a safe and
sustainable system for people and goods to get around,
encouraging reductions in the use of single occupancy
vehicles and cutting carbon emissions in the process.

Why we provide these activity

We plan, contract, fund andmonitor public transport
services in theWaikato region. These servicesgive thepublic
an alternative to private vehicle travel, provide access for
the transport disadvantaged and support urban growth.
They also provide rural communities with better access to
essential services.

We help the region to set its objectives and priorities for
transport investmentunder theLandTransportManagement
Act 2003, and these plans are laid out in our Regional Land
Transport Plan and Regional Public Transport Plan. We
develop this in partnership with territorial authorities and
Waka Kotahi NZ Transport Agency.

Improving road safety education is also an important part
of our remit. This contributes to the wellbeing of our
communities by encouraging behaviours that help reduce
crashes, serious injuries and deaths. We continue to work
with transport partners such as Waka Kotahi NZ Transport
Agency, district councils, ACC, New Zealand Police and
advocacy groups like Students Against Dangerous Driving
(SADD) to deliver road safety education initiatives across
the Waikato region.

What we achieved this year and looking to the
future

Rail improvements

Waikato to Auckland connectivity is crucial to the
development of our region. It improves community access
to essential services and transport for work and recreation,
helping to improve quality of life. We launched Te Huia
passenger rail service inApril 2021, establishinga twice-daily
commuter service between Waikato and Auckland.

The service continues to grow and now transports almost
500 passengers daily between the Waikato and Auckland.
Te Huia runs return services from Frankton (Hamilton) to
Papakura (Auckland) – stopping at Rotokauri and Huntly
along the way – twice a day during the week, and once on
Saturdays.

The 2022/23 financial year saw continued establishment
and growth of Te Huia patronage, particularly Monday to
Friday. Day trippers are now joined by a growing number of
regular commuters who frequently utilise the service.

Customer feedback also continues to be strong, with a 94
per cent satisfaction rating in mid-2022 and a 98 per cent
rating in mid-2023.

Regional transport planning

In 2022/23,wedeveloped theRegionalPublic TransportPlan
2022-2032 (RPTP) to help ensure our communities remain
well connected and support growth. TheRPTPprovides the
strategy for the regional public transport network and sets
out our aspirations and intent for future expansion and
enhancements. It was developed through significant
collaboration between regional partners and represents an
ambitious new vision for the future of public transport in
our region. The plan was adopted on 22 September 2022
and is now operative.

Development of the Regional Land Transport Plan (RLTP)
also got underway. It’s a six-year plan to document the
region’s land transport, priorities objectives, policies and
measures. We expect this work to be completed by April
2024.

Reducing carbon emissions from transport remains a key
area of focus in 2022/23. A Transport Emissions Reduction
Working Group has been established to consider how the
regionwill address this issue. Theworkinggroupwill provide
guidance to stakeholders inour regionabouthowemissions
can be reduced.
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Hamilton bus improvements

In mid-2022, we consulted on Hamilton Refresh, a set of
proposals aimedatbalancing supplyanddemandon routes
within Hamilton city. It also looked to re-orientate bus
services towards achieving a ridership objective in linewith
the RPTP. The key changes include:

increasing the frequency of existing Comet service

introducing a new high frequency service called the
Meteor

adjusting timetables and re-routing some services to
improve reliability and performances.

In addition to Hamilton Refresh, we also introduced a new
demand-responsive transportoption toHamilton inJanuary
2022, called Flex. Flex uses smaller buses to provide an
on-demand,corner-to-corner rideshareservice.After starting
out as a night service to and fromHamilton’s city centre on
Friday and Saturday nights, it now also operates between
the Hamilton Transport Centre and Hamilton Airport seven
days a week. Flex transports an average of 190 passengers
each week and has become a popular option for evening
and weekend travel.

New regional bus services

New regional services were launched in February 2023
betweenHamiltonandTeKūiti, andbetweenHamiltonand
Tokoroa. Both have a single inbound trip to Hamilton,
arriving for the start of the academic and workday, and
return at the end of the day.

The services are the first for theseareasand represent anew
partnershipwithWaitomoandŌtorohangadistrict councils,
theUniversityofWaikatoandWintec.Theyalsomeanpeople
south of Te Awamutu in the Waipā catchment no longer
need to drive to Te Awamutu to begin a trip.

Glenview bus hub

The new bus hub in Glenview was completed in July 2023
and serves as the main bus interchange for the Comet bus
in the Glenview/Mahoe areas. This will enable better
connections for the Glenview Shopping Centre and library,
improvingpassenger safetyandprovidingaweather shelter.

Community transport

We continue to give people with disabilities door-to-door
transport options through Total Mobility, a nationwide
scheme for delivering subsidised taxi fares. Last year, the
scheme was rolled out to three new districts:
Matamata-Piako, Thames-Coromandel and Waikato.

Through our Annual Plan 2023/24, we decided to fund Total
Mobility services on a region-wide basis from July 2023,
relieving territorial authorities of this requirement. Subject
to the recruitment of new service providers and assessors,
this paves theway for full regional coverageofTotalMobility
services and the introduction of a uniformmaximum fare
subsidy cap.

Providing region-wide access to Total Mobility services will
enhance wellbeing, independence, and accessibility for
disabled and elderly communities where services are not
currently available.

Reduce the risk and road safety

OurRuben theRoadSafetyBearProgrammeremains inhigh
demand, with lots of requests for school visits lined up over
the year ahead. However, in 2022/23 it was impacted by
recruitment issues, following a year impacted by COVID-19
restrictions.

We continue to work with our partners to support the
graduated driver licence system that helps our rangatahi
gain independence and access more opportunities while
improving their road safety.

We co-funded an impaired driver education programme
delivered in thecommunityby thepoliceandMāoriwardens
to rehabilitate those caught driving under the influence.
Those that attend the programme are tracked for five years
by the police and show a low rate of reoffending. This helps
to improve road safety outcomes and reduce the likelihood
of incarceration. The success of this programme has now
come to the attention of the judiciary, who are referring
offenders. The number of sessions has been increased and
the number of attendees this year has more than doubled.
Anotherprogramme for recidivist drivingoffenderswasalso
supported through seed funding.

CollaborationwithACCandaccreditedcoaches toboost the
uptakeofRideForevermotorcycle coachingcontinues,with
more than6000 ridershavingbenefited fromtheprogramme
to date.

We continue to educate people around road safety,
challenging thinking, dispelling myths, creating a sense of
communityandchangingconversationsusingchannels such
as social media.
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What we delivered

The total number of regional transport connections performance measures is eight. A total of six measures (75 per cent)
were achieved and twomeasures (25 per cent) were not achieved. Detailed commentary for thesemeasures can be found
in the following tables.

Activity: Interregional rail

Level of service: We will progressively improve passenger rail services between the Waikato and
Auckland.

CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

Theaveragedaily patronageas at the endof June 2023
is 496 passengers per day, up 30% compared to the
2021/22 end of year result of 382 passengers per day.
These figures are based on average calculations.

2022/23:

Achieved, 30%

2021/22:

10% patronage
growth
comparedto the
previous 12
months of
operations*.

Year on year passenger
rail patronage growth

In 2021/22 a baseline for passengers per day was
developed for the Te Huia rail service. To establish the
baseline, the service ran from April 2021 to June 2022

Develop
baseline

with the service paused between September 2021 and
December 2021 due to COVID-19 lockdowns. The
baseline is the average passengers per day, weekday,
and weekend, while the service ran.

The inauguralCustomerSatisfactionSurveycompleted
in June 2023.

2022/23:

Achieved, 92.5%

90%Percentage of
customers who are
‘satisfied’ or better with
passenger rail The over-all result is 92.5%.

2021/22:
This KPI is measured through the annual public
transport customersatisfactionsurvey.This surveyuses
the Waka Kotahi approved templates. This survey is
filled in by passengers whilst on-board the train.

Achieved, 94%
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Activity: urban and rural transport delivery

Level of service:Wewill transitionHamilton’s bus network froma coverage-based system (many low
frequency routes) to a ridership orientated network (focusing resources on high frequency routes in
areas of greatest demand) supplemented by demand responsive services.

CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

Thenumberof first boardingsper capita (Hamilton) for
2022/23 was 14.01 bus trips, compared to 10.49 bus
trips in 2021/22.

2022/23:

Achieved

2021/22:

Number of first
boardings per
capita increase
year-on-year

Number of public bus
trips per capita
(Hamilton)

In 2021/22 bus patronage suffered from the effects of
COVID-19, services were significantly impacts during
periods of lockdowns, but also in the latter half of the

Not achieved

year with more people across the region working and
learning remotely. In addition, driver shortages lead to
a reduction in timetables and service frequency. In
2022/23 the adverse effects of COVID-19 have largely
abated, driver shortages have improved, as well as
service frequency, resulting in patronage increasing in
Hamilton.

Level of service: We will expand public transport to include more areas within our region, enabling
greater access to essential services, education, employment and social opportunities.

CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

Thenumberof first boardingsper capita (regional total
outside of Hamilton) for 2022/23 was 1.85 bus trips,
compared to 1.23 first boardings in 2021/22.

2022/23:

Achieved

Number of first
boardings per
capita increase
year-on-year

Number of public bus
tripsper capita (regional
total outside of
Hamilton)

In 2021/22 bus patronage suffered from the effects of
COVID-19, services were significantly impacts during
periods of lockdowns, but also in the latter half of the

2021/22:

Not achieved

year with more people across the region working and
learning remotely. In addition, driver shortages lead to
a reduction in timetables and service frequency. In
2022/23 the adverse effects of COVID-19 have largely
abated, driver shortages have improved, as well as
service frequency, resulting in patronage increasing
outside of Hamilton.

Level of service:We deliver a public transport service that is reliable and that people can depend on.

CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

The percentage of arrivals at bus stops in accordance
with the timetable for 2022/23 is 66.69%, compared to
63.89% of stops in accordance with the timetable in
2021/22.

2022/23:

Not Achieved,
66.69%

77.5%Percentageof arrivals at
bus stops that are on
time in accordancewith
the timetable

2021/22: Service performance has improved this year; however,
it was impacted by 'not sighted'* status flags, road
diversionsandextremeweather events suchas cyclone
Gabrielle.

Not achieved,
63.89%
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CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

Achange tohowthe result is calculated for thismeasure
is planned for the 2023/24 reporting period. The new
methodology will include start time, timing point and
end point information, which will improve data
accuracy. It is expected that the performance of this
measure will improve as a result.

*’Not sighted’ status flags occur when trip telemetry
data for the stop isnot receiveddue to technical issues.

Level of service: We deliver bus services that people and communities value and regard as quality
services.

CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

The percentage of customers surveyed who are
'satisfied' or better with the bus transport service is
87.85%.

2022/23:

Not Achieved,
87.85%

2021/22:

>95%Percentageofcustomers
who are ‘satisfied’ or
better with the bus
transport service

The 'not satisfied' scores relate to:

'Info about service delays/disruptions' (24.2%)
Not achieved

'Availability of timetable information at bus stops'
(21.2%)

'Satisfaction with the weather protection offered at
the Transport Centre'(21%)

'How often services run' (20.7%).

Waikato Regional Council has a project underway to
update real-time informationdisplays at key stops and
Hamilton City Council is currently planning for the
refurbishment of the Transport Centre including
improvedweatherproofing. It is anticipated that these
initiatives will increase the percentage of customers
who are 'satisfied' with the bus transport service.

In 2021/22 the Annual Bus Satisfaction Survey was
delayed due to the effects of COVID-19. At the time,
Waka Kotahi guidance was to delay the survey until
September2022. Asa surveywasnot conductedduring
the 2021/22 financial year, the measure was reported
as Not Achieved.

Level of service:We provide attractive, affordable fare productswhich reflect the value of the service
being provided.

CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

The customer satisfaction survey was undertaken at
theendof2022with92.5%ofpassengersbelieving fares
represent good value for money. The major reason for

2022/23:

Achieved, 92.5%

>80%Percentage of surveyed
passengers who believe
bus fares representgood
value for money this result is the half price fare that has been in effect

from 1 April 2022 until 30 June 2023, with funding for
this coming fromWaka Kotahi.
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In 2021/22 the Annual Bus Satisfaction Survey was
delayed due to the effects of COVID-19. At the time,
Waka Kotahi guidance was to delay the survey until

2021/22:

Not achieved

September2022. Asa surveywasnot conductedduring
the 2021/22 financial year, the measure was reported
asNotAchieved. In2022/23 theAnnualBustSatisfaction
Surveywasconducted, resulting in themeasures target
being met.

Activity: Transport policy and planning

Level of service:Wewill complete three-yearly reviews of regional transport plans, as requiredby the
Land Transport Management Act.

CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

TheRegional Public Transport Planwas adopted on 22
September 2022. This is now operative and publicly
available on the Regional Council website.

2022/23:

Achieved

2021/22:

Maintain and
report on
implementation
of the Regional
Land Transport

Regional transportplans
are reviewed and
submitted within
statutory timeframes,
and implemented Development of the Regional Land Transport Plan

(RLTP)has commenced,with informationpresented to
theRegionalTransportCommittee (RTC).Development

AchievedPlan (RLTP) and
Regional Public
Transport Plan
(RPTP).

workshopswith theRTCarescheduled throughout2023
and a draft plan will be delivered in December 2023.
The RLTP is expected to be completed by the due date,
30 April 2024.
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What it cost

Revenue and expenditure for regional transport connections

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Annual Plan

2022/23
Actual

$000$000$000

1,0961,0991,092General rates

518777777UAGC

12,41313,22413,208Targeted rates

19,62423,22824,226Government grants

1,8801,8521,486Fees and Charges

4,5247,8456,092Other income

40,05548,02446,881Total income

40,64749,81344,583Operating expenditure

(593)(1,788)2,297Operating surplus / (deficit)

Total funding from / (to) reserves

161701(1,867)Public transport

300300(114)Prior year surplus

4611,001(1,981)Total reserve transfers

(131)(788)317Increase / (decrease) in retained earnings

Note: For summary of cost of services please see page 87.

Expenditure
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Te whakamahinga o te taiao | Resource

use

This group of activities includes four activities:

regional consents processing

regional compliance

maritime services

community education

How these activities improve wellbeing

Theseactivities contribute tovibrantcommunities, ahealthy
environment and a strong economy.

They enable the use of natural resources in a sustainable
way that supports the generation of income and
employment, providing financial security to our
communities.

This is balanced with protecting the values of natural
resources and ensuring they can be used and enjoyed by
future generations.

Through the provision of funding and advice, community
groups are supported by these activities to make
environmental improvements.

Why we provide these activities

We are responsible for regulating the use of our region’s
natural resources. We grant andmonitor consents, and
monitor compliance with environmental regulations, to
ensure theenvironmental impactsofpeopleandbusinesses
are managed appropriately.

Wealso respondtoenvironmental complaintsand incidents,
andensureourwaterwaysandharboursaresafe tonavigate.
These activities enable us tomeet our statutory obligations
andprotect theWaikato region'suniqueenvironment,while
allowing for sustainable growth and development.

Community-led education programmes are also delivered
under this group of activities to build andmaintain strong
multi-agency relationships, supportingbehavioural change
toenhanceenvironmental learningandsupport sustainable
communities.

What we achieved this year

Regional consents

In total, 820 resource consentswereprocessed this year and
98.5 per cent of these were processed in accordance with
timeframes laid out in the Resource Management Act (RMA)
Discount Regulations.

The council follows a risk-based, prioritised monitoring
programmeformonitoring resourceconsentsandpermitted
activities.

This year, 356 consented sites (most of which hold many
resource consents) were identified as the highest priority
for monitoring. All of these sites (100 per cent) were
monitored for compliance. A total of 14 of these sites were
found to have significant non-compliance and had further
action taken to resolve the noncompliance. A further 361
secondary priority sites were also monitored. In total, 717
sites were monitored in 2022/23.

Regional compliance

Wemonitored 571 farms for compliancewith the permitted
activity rules that most dairy farms operate under for dairy
effluent management. Of the farms inspected, 6 per cent
were found to be significantly non-compliant.

In 2022/23, a total of 1574 calls were taken frommembers
of the public, notifying us of potential breaches of the
environmental regulations. As a result of these calls andour
proactivemonitoring of consents and plan rules, a range of
formal enforcement actions were taken where
non-compliance was identified.

There arenew regulationsnow inplace,withmore to come,
that have been promulgated by central government as part
of its Essential Freshwater programmeofwork. The council
has a key role in implementing these regulations. They
include theNationalEnvironmentalStandards forFreshwater
and National Policy Statement for Freshwater Management.
Planning for the implementation of these regulations is
ongoing and is in addition to our preparation for the
implementation of Healthy Rivers/Wai Ora Plan Change1,
when it becomes operative.

Maritime safety

OurMaritimeServices team,whichmanages andmaintains
marine navigational aids, has carried out extensive repairs
to this network following incidents like Cyclone Gabrielle.
Inaddition, the teamhas furtherbuilt capacityandcapability
to respond to incidents like Cyclone Gabrielle.

Stock levels have been increased across both Cambridge
and Whitianga depots and ongoing stock management
ensures Waikato Regional Council are able to respond to
weather events that cause such losses.

During the cyclone, an unprecedented 48 aids were lost
across theCoromandelPeninsula,mainlybuoysandbeacons
used toguidevessels. The teamresponded toandmanaged
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15 vessels that had brokenmoorings, grounded, or sunk,
and after the cyclone realigned every harbour channel in
theCoromandel as theywereall significantly affected.Much
of this work was undertaken during a time of significant
disruption with road closures, flooding, and weather.

Our maritime safety team issued 139 infringement notices
and 31 formal warnings for breaches of the region’s
Navigation Safety Bylaw. The bylaw sets out safe practices
forpeopleusing the lakes, rivers, andharbours inour region
for water-based activities like boating and kayaking.

Environmental education

The Enviroschools kaupapa is about creating a healthy,
peaceful, sustainable world through learning and acting
together. It’s an action-focused approach to learning that
draws on the physical, social, cultural and political aspects
of our environment. In 2022/23, schools across the region
benefitted from facilitated stream studies, access to
equipment to support local curriculum, NCEA assessment
supportandarangeofeventsandprofessionaldevelopment
opportunities.

Kura Waitī ki Kura Waitā focuses on preparing the kaitiaki
of the future – supporting kurawith environmental learning
in ways that also promote te reo, tikanga andmātauranga
Māori. The programme includes an internship and a range
of exciting learningopportunities, includingwakawānanga.
We continued to work with our iwi partners to support and
advance their mātauranga of te ao hurihuri (our changing
world) in2022/23,with significant external fundingobtained
to help grow the programme, and welcomed seven new
kura.

Our youth and secondary work continue to support the
independent regional youth forum, Rangatahi Voices. This
forumworks to co-design youthparticipationactivitieswith
council andengages youth in local government tohelpdrive
positive change. In 2022/23, this workstream undertook a
range of activities to engage young people and ensure their
voices were heard. Enviroschools and Rangatahi Voices
worked together to support the Impact Hub’s Waikato

Climathon event. Rangatahi Voices worked with us to host
a freshwater consultation event, designed by youth and for
youth, to ensure the youth voice was well represented in
our Freshwater Policy Review.

Waste reduction andmanagement

The waste we create and howwe dispose of it has huge
environmental and social impacts.

Research was undertaken to understand how wemight
support environmental and social wellbeing through a
transition to a circular economy. This was supported by
additional funding from the Ministry for the Environment's
WasteMinimisationFundandtheWaikatoWellbeingProject.
The Circularising Organics project aims to provide insights
to help eliminate contamination, provide collections and
processingoptions fororganics, and incorporate teaoMāori
perspectives. It also considers the various markets and use
cases that might exist for compost products and will help
us to support decision making around organics
management.

We also continued to be a conduit for waste-related
networking and education in the region. This includes our
ongoing co-ordination of the Central North Island Waste
LiaisonGroup (attendedby territorial authorities fromacross
the region) and the Community Enterprise Peer Support
programme, which supports community resource recovery
initiatives.

Air quality

A clean winter burning education campaign was delivered
in the Tokoroa air shed, which is the legally designated air
quality management area for the town. This included a
refreshedwebsite, socialmediacampaign,education leaflets
and a new video filmed in the Waikato. This campaign was
supported by South Waikato District Council, local iwi and
community groups. A survey, conducted as part of this
campaign,will alsohelp to further refineourunderstanding
of the motivations and barriers influencing community
sentiment.

What we delivered

The total number of resource use performance measures is 10. A total of eight measures (80 per cent) were achieved and
twomeasures (20 per cent) were not achieved. Detailed commentary for these measures can be found in the following
tables.
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Activity: Regional consents processing

Level of service: We will effectively deliver consenting and compliance monitoring processes under
theResourceManagementAct 1991 (RMA) toenable the lawful useofnatural andphysical resources.

CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

Actual compliance in accordance with the discount
regulation timeframe for the 2022/23 year was 98.5
percent.

2022/23:

Achieved,98.5%

2021/22:

≥95%Percentage of resource
consents processed in
accordance with the
RMAtimeframediscount
regulations In total, 820applicationswereprocessed tocompletion

in the2022/23year.Of these, therewere14applications
processed outside the statutory RMA timeframe, with
12 applications receiving a discount.

Achieved,
98.42%

Two of the applications were subject to the queued
priorityprocess. Thesewereapplications to takewater
where theapplicationsneed tobeprocessed inpriority
order, and thismeant they did not trigger the discount
regulations. So effectively only 12 applications were
processed outside the timeframe.

A total of 356 (100%) sites of highest priority consented
sitesweremonitored this year. sites thathavehad their
monitoringdeferredarenot included in thecalculation.
Deferredmonitoringhappens for the following reasons:

2022/23:

Achieved, 100%

2021/22:

100%Percentage of highest
priority (P1) consented
sites monitored each
year

The consent has only recently been granted andnot
enough activity time has occurred to warrant a full
assessment of compliance.

Achieved, 100%

A Site has obtained a resource consent, but the
activity has not yet commented (i.e., a factory has
not been built / finished yet) therefore there is
nothing to monitor.

There is insufficient data / evidence to undertake an
adequate assessment of compliance at this time.
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CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

Monitoring will occur when there is sufficient
evidence to proceed.

Theactivityalthoughconsentedhasbeensuspended
byconsentholderoroperational reason (machinery
breakdown, climatic issues, financial difficulties etc).

This year 19 sites were identified as having serious
non-compliance, all 19 instanceswere followedupwith
punitive action (formal warnings) or directive action
(abatement notices served).

2022/23:

Achieved, 100%

2021/22:

100%Percentage of
significant
non-compliance*
incidents where action
is taken

Achieved, 100%

* There are a number of factors that are relevant in determining whether a breach of the RMA is ‘serious’, these include
(but are not limited to) what the actual or potential adverse environmental effects of the breach are, sensitivity of the
receiving environment, whether the parties involved have a history of non-compliance, whether the breach was as a
result of careless, negligent, or deliberate behaviour, what efforts at mitigation have beenmade.

Activity: Regional compliance

Level of service: We will provide a dedicated incident response service to ensure the environment,
people and property are not seriously affected by pollution incidents or non-compliant activities.

CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

This service was maintained for the 2022/23 reporting
period.

In 2021/22 there were two faults in the call diversion
for the Freephone (0800) service during the year. This
resulted in brief periods when calls were not diverted,

2022/23:

Achieved, 100%

2021/22:

Not achieved

100%Percentage of time the
24 hour 7 day a week
response service for
reportingenvironmental
incidents is available

and incidents couldn’t be reported via the Freephone
number. As a result, the measure was reported as Not
Achieved.

Levelof service:Wewill takeappropriateaction in response tonotificationsof seriousnon-compliance.

CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

For the 2022/23 reporting period, all serious
breaches of environmental regulation were
actioned in accordance with our Enforcement
Policy.

2022/23:

Achieved, 100%

2021/22:

100%Percentage of serious
non-compliance* incidents
that are actioned**

Achieved, 100%

A total of 1,574notificationswere received fromthe
public relating to environmental incidents in the
2022/23 reporting period. 454 of the 1,574
notifications were assessed as requiring physical
attendance. Of those 100%were attended.

2022/23:

Achieved, 100%

2021/22:

≥90%Percentageofnotifications,
related to potential
breaches of environmental
regulation, that are
assessed as requiring and
then receive physical
attendance

Achieved, 100%
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* There are a number of factors that are relevant in determining whether a breach of the RMA is ‘serious’, these include
(but are not limited to) what the actual or potential adverse environmental effects of the breach are, sensitivity of the
receiving environment, whether the parties involved have a history of non-compliance, whether the breach was as a
result of careless, negligent, or deliberate behaviour, what efforts at mitigation have beenmade.

** These include: no further enforcement action, letter of direction, abatement notice, formal warning, infringement
notice, prosecution.

Activity: Maritime services

Level of service: We will maintain safe and navigable waterways in the region to protect the people
using them.

CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

This measure was not achieved as there were two
incidents of Category 1 navigational aids being
inoperable for longer than 24hours during the 2022/23

2022/23:

Not Achieved

2021/22:

100%Percentage of time
Category 1 aids* to
navigation are
operational within 24
hours of failure or
notified to Maritime NZ

reporting period. The first incident was a Category 1
navigational aid in Raglan. The navigational aid was
not operational for a total of 25 days. The duration ofAchieved
the outage was due to delays in repairs which were
outside council’s control. The second incident took
approximately 48 hours to source and redeploy a
replacement cardinal mark at Whitianga.

Maritime NZ was not notified in these instances. While
provided for within the current performancemeasure,
staff note that it is not a legal or practical requirement.
For both incidents, risks to vessels were managed
through other means including Coastguard radio
communications.

In 2021/22 there were no failures of grade 1 aids to
navigation during the reporting period.

This service was maintained for the 2022/23 reporting
period. A service disruption occurred on 26 January
2023, however once identified all callswerediverted to
our after-hours team tomaintain service continuity.

In 2021/22 there were two faults in the call diversion
for the Freephone (0800) service during the year. This
resulted in brief periods when calls were not diverted,

2022/23:

Achieved, 100%

2021/22:

Not achieved

100%Maintain a 24 hour, 7
day aweek response for
navigational incidents**

and incidents couldn’t be reported via the Freephone
number. As a result, the measure was reported as Not
Achieved.

* Considered to be of primary navigational significance including leading lights, outer channelmarkers, isolated danger
marks and wreck marks.

**Maritime incidents are thoseWaikatoRegional Council has jurisdictionover that include, but arenot limited to, serious
boating mishaps or obstruction of navigable waterways.
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Levelof service:Wewill increaseour levelof service tomeet increaseddemandandensure recreational
boaties are safe.

CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

A totalnumberof 639contactsbystaffwith recreational
boaties by staff weremade in 2022/23. This represents
a20%decrease fromthebaselineof800contactsmade.

2022/23:

Not Achieved,
20% decrease

2021/22:

20% increase
from baseline
(800 contacts)

Percentage increase in
one-on-one contacts
with recreational
boaties This decrease in recreational contacts is attributed to

extreme adverse weather events over the summer
period preventing recreational boating activities
combined with maritime staffing vacancies.

In2021/22adverseweathereventsdidnot significantly
impact one on one contacts with recreational boaties
over the summer period and as a result the measure
was achieved.

Achieved, 26%
increase

Activity: Community education

Level of service: We deliver education programmes that bring about behaviour change.

CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

Theprogrammereviewed this yearwasEnviroschools.
The tools andprocessesused todeliver theprogramme
have been reviewed by an external evaluator (The
Knowledge Institute). Information fromthis evaluation
will be used to improve this programme.

2022/23:

Achieved

2021/22:

1Number of education
programmes*evaluated
for their effectiveness

Achieved

* The programmes include Advancing Māori Medium, Enviroschools, Waste Minimisation, Youth and Secondary.
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What it cost

Revenue and expenditure for resource use

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Annual Plan

2022/23
Actual

$000$000$000

7,7298,4578,457General rates

2,4702,5392,539UAGC

1,3941,5851,591Targeted rates

0-70Government grants

7,7748,3277,909Fees and charges

693680750Other income

20,06021,58921,318Total income

19,95222,05921,550Operating expenditure

108(470)(233)Operating surplus / (deficit)

Total funding from / (to) reserves

(43)9(24)Permitted activity monitoring

--(1,691)Healthy Rivers

(43)9(1,714)Total reserve transfers

65(461)(1,947)Increase / (decrease) in retained earnings

Note: For summary of cost of services please see page 87.

Expenditure
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Pūtaiao, kaupapahere, me te mōhiohio

| Science, policy and information

This group of activities includes six activities:

environmental monitoring

environmental science and information

social and economic information

spatial information

resource management policy

strategic and spatial planning

How these activities improve wellbeing

Theseactivities contribute tovibrantcommunities, ahealthy
environment and a strong economy.

They help support an environment that can sustain vibrant
community life by ensuring land is used well, there is fresh
water available, the air is kept clean, and pollution is
managed.

These environmental factors are balanced with the use of
natural resources to support the economy and our regional
communities.

Why we provide these activities

This group of activities covers the collection and
interpretationof data to support thedevelopmentof policy,
management and allocation of the Waikato’s natural
resources. The expert analysisweprovidehelp tell the story
of our region and is an important part of our work.

We provide these activities to help protect and restore the
healthof thenatural environment andensure resources are
managed for the benefit of our communities, both nowand
into the future.

Wemonitor our region's natural andphysical resources.We
also collect information about our communities and the
economyandanalyse it tobetter understandcurrent trends
and identify new and emerging issues.

The insights gained are used for a range of purposes,
including the development of consent conditions and flood
warning systems, and the setting of thresholds for water
allocation.

We also provide tools to present this information and our
strategicadvice toourcommunitiesandkeydecisionmakers
in more accessible ways, to help improve wellbeing in the
Waikato.

What we achieved this year and looking to the
future

Plan Change 1

Healthy Rivers/Wai Ora – Proposed Waikato Regional Plan
Change 1 remains at the appeals stage in the Environment
Court. Court-assistedmediations occurred during 2022/23,
with a hearing scheduled for late 2023. The plan change
represents the first step in an 80-year journey to improve
water quality in our region, make our rivers safe for food
gathering along their entire length, andmeet the
requirements of Te Ture Whaimana o Te Awa oWaikato, the
Vision and Strategy for the Waikato River. Staff continue to
undertake additional water quality monitoring at 34
representative lakes in preparation for meeting the Plan
Change 1 reporting requirements.

Freshwater Policy Review

Giving effect to theNationalPolicyStatement for Freshwater
Management 2020 (NPSFM) has required engagement with
iwi, the community and stakeholders through a series of
community workshops, individual hui and stakeholder
meetings throughout the year.

Coastal Plan Review

A review of our coastal plan is in progress. At the June 2023
meeting, the council approved public notification of the
proposed plan. Public notification occurred on 18 August
2023.

Resource management reform

In February 2021, the Government announced that the
Resource Management Act (RMA) would be repealed and
replaced with three new acts: the Natural and Built
Environment Act, the Spatial Planning Act, and the Climate
Adaptation Act. The Spatial Planning Bill and the Natural
and Built Environment Bill were introduced to Parliament
in late 2022. The Climate Adaptation Bill is expected to be
introduced in 2023/24.

We submitted responses to the Natural and Built
Environment and Spatial Planning Bill consultations in
February 2023. Our submissions included various key
concernsarounddemocratic accountability, theavailability
of funding, thecapacityofall parties, integrationwith further
legislative reform, and the roles and functions of regional
councils.
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The Environment Select Committee released their reports
on the bills, which included amendments in response to
submissionsand,overall, recommendedtheBillsarepassed,
in June 2023.

Exploring spatial technology

LiDAR (LightDetection andRanging) creates 3Dmapsof the
earth’s surface. In 2022/23, we published the first maps for
theWaikato regionusing thishighlyaccurate3D technology.
To date, published areas include all of the Waikato region
north of Hamilton, with the remaining regional data
expected to be available in 2023.

This datawill improve our ability tomore accuratelymodel
natural hazards and climate change, design better
infrastructure, support better land use planning, and
improve environmental outcomes for communities in our
region. Over 20 organisations are already using the draft
data, and during Cyclone Gabrielle it was invaluable for the
assessment of slips, debris build-up and road repairs.

We’vealsobeen investigatingemergingspecial technologies
at the cutting edge of remote sensing that may help to
improve our business processes. We successfully used an
airborne camera system for rapid aerial reconnaissance of
wetland sites, and further initiatives, including helicopter
LiDAR for stopbank crest determination and SAR satellite
imagery for mid-event automatic floodmapping, got
underway.

In2022/23,wealsocontinuedtoprovidedata for theWaikato
Data Portal so that customers can access a range of useful
spatial information.

Updating theWaikatoRegionalPolicyStatement

The National Policy Statement on Urban Development
(NPS-UD) came into force on 20 August 2020. We prepared
an update to theWaikato Regional Policy Statement (WRPS)
to implement the NPS-UD and ensure alignment with the
updated Future Proof Strategy. This work also involves
insertinghousingbottom lines (theamountofdevelopment
capacity sufficient tomeet expectedhousingdemand–plus
a competitiveness margin) for Tier 1 local environments,
planning for out-of-sequence development proposals and
an overall update to our WRPS information on the Built
Environment.Change1 to theWRPSwasnotified inOctober
2022 and the hearing was held in May 2023. Decisions are
expected in 2023/24.

Sustainable Infrastructure and Decision Making
Framework

We continued work on our Sustainable Infrastructure
DecisionMakingFramework in2022/23. This frameworkwill
enable the council to make sound, long-term investments
in critical flood protection and land drainage assets. Over
the past year, the development process has highlighted the
complexity and significance of the issue of sustainable
infrastructure for our region, the scale of the task ahead,

and importance engaging with stakeholders, including
central government and our iwi partners, throughout that
journey.

Adraftdecisionmaking frameworkwasapprovedbycouncil
in 2022 andwehave started the testing phase,with scoping
and initiation of testing due to take place by end of June
2024.

State of the Environment report

The State of the Environmentwas adopted June 2023 and is
based on 28 technical reports that interpret decades of
environmental monitoring data collected by Waikato
Regional Council. The SOE report combines and compares
data and information gained from council’s state of the
environment monitoring programme and seeks to address
observations and concerns made in recent Parliamentary
Commissioner for the Environment in regard to regional
council reporting. The outputs provide an evidence-based
pictureof themajor environmental issues facing the region.
The reportalsohighlightswhere thestateof theenvironment
monitoring programme requires additional attention.

Key issues from the Waikato State of Environment Report
2022 include:

less rain, and water use is increasing

phosphorus discharges have decreased

nitrogen levels have increased

our shallow lakes have deteriorated and are at risk

Lake Taupō is doing better than expected

our estuaries are under pressure

stream ecosystems are degraded

wetlands and forest are in trouble

bacteria levels remain high

air quality is improving.

The synthesis of key issues in theStateofEnvironment report
reflects the scale andmagnitude of the problem, informed
by themonitoring presently undertakenby the council. The
report highlights that there are gaps in our knowledge and
state of the environment monitoring programme, and that
these should be filled.

Water Security Strategy

Our regional economy and the wellbeing of our people are
dependent on the availability of water. There is increasing
concern amongWaikato communities over climate-related
reductions in water availability and the implications for
freshwater ecosystems, urban and industrial water
supply/demand dynamics, ongoing delivery of electricity
generation, primary sector productivity and constraints on
future growth.

Waikato Regional Council has developed a draft Water
Security Strategy for the Waikato Region to support and
provide leadership in conversations on regional and local
water security issuesand to identify potential solutions. The
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strategy was resented and approved for publication by the
council at the June 2023 council meeting. The aim of our
Water Security Strategy is to establish a roadmap for
improved water security in the Waikato, with a clear
understanding of the issues, objectives for the region and
measures of success.

Followingacouncilworkshop in2022, thedraft strategywas
revised and then sent out to a wide range of partners and
stakeholders for feedback. Territorial authorities and

municipal water users, primary sector and industrial water
users and iwi partners were approached. The strategy
recommends the development of a collaborative,
multi-stakeholder and regional-scaleWater Security
Management Plan to identify roles and responsibilities in
addressing the significant water security challenges facing
the region, and to establish partnerships to implement
appropriate solutions.

What we delivered

The total number of science, policy and information performance measures is 12. A total of eight measures (67 per cent)
were achieved and fourmeasures (33 per cent) were not achieved. Detailed commentary for thesemeasures can be found
in the following tables.

Activity: Environmental monitoring

Level of service: We will provide high quality and timely data to key decision makers and the
community.

CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

The audit considered the effectiveness of the
Environmental Monitoring section. The results found
that the section has good processes in place and

2022/23:

Achieved

1 domain
audited

External audit of one
environmental domain
each year shows good
quality control of data
collection and analysis

provided recommendations for minor process
improvements which should be addressed through
planned technology upgrades.

2021/22:

Achieved
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Over the last twelve months, one site experienced a
major outage. During the outage staff put in place an
alternative reporting system to provide data to
Integrated Catchment Management. Due to thismajor
outage, data was unavailable for 2.5% of the time.

In 2021/22 there were nomajor outages. In 2022/23 a
majoroutageandsubsequent repair lead time resulted
in themeasurebeing ‘NotAchieved’due to theamount

2022/23:

Not Achieved,
2.5%

2021/22:

Achieved, 1.5%

<2% of the timeThe percentage of time
(during flood events)
when data isn’t
available for more than
70 continuous minutes

of time data was unavailable. Council hasmeasures in
place to repair such sites, however repairs to sites
experiencingoutagescanbe impededby factorsoutside
of council control such as site access, delays in
replacement parts as spares are not on hand or delays
in arranging contractors due to contractor availability.

Activity: Environmental science and information

Level of service: We provide high quality and timely advice and information to key decision makers
and the community.

CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

The State of the Environment (SOE) Report was
approved by Council and published to the WRC
website State of the Environment 2022 | Waikato
Regional Council.

Thepreparationofall underlying technical reportswas
completed at the end of October 2022. Due to the
triennial elections, the decision was taken to present

2022/23:

Achieved

2021/22:

Not achieved

Update of
relevant
sections of the
SOE report and
publish results

State of the
Environment reporting
is completed andmade
available to the public
through the WRC
website

the State of the Environment Monitoring Report to the
new Council, with this occurring in March 2023.
Following feedback, the final report was adopted in
June 2023.

Level of service: We will develop and implement a freshwater quality and quantity accounting
framework tomeasure theeffectivenessof ourworkprogrammeon improving freshwateroutcomes.

CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

The Freshwater Accounting Framework has not been
completed and is still under development. A water
quality accounting framework has been developed

2022/23:

Not achieved

Fresh water
accounting
framework
completed

Develop a freshwater
accounting framework

which has produced information to feed into the
2021/22:

RegionalPlanReview.Developmentofawaterquantity
framework is continuing and a Technical Report onAchieved
regionalwater resources (supplyanddemand)hasbeen
published. The water quality and quantity accounting
frameworksare requiredcomponentsof theFreshwater
Accounting Framework.

The 2021/22 performance target required the
Freshwater accounting framework to be under
development. The 2022/23 target required the
framework to be completed, however development of
the framework ismorecomplex thanoriginallyoutlined
in the 2021-2031 LTP timeline and is tightly linked to
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theFreshwaterPolicyReview.Although the framework
will continue to be developed, and ultimately
completed, it is unlikely that itwill be completedwithin
the 2021-2031 LTP reporting period.

Activity: Strategic and spatial planning

Level of service: We will work with territorial authorities and advocate to government to achieve
alignment on policies, plans and strategies.

CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

Staff ensuredWRC isactivelyengaging innationalpolicy
reforms through well-coordinated and informed
submissions to promote high quality, well-informed

2022/23:

Achieved

Submissions
made to
relevant
national

Actively engage in
national policy reforms
topromotehighquality,
well-informed national
direction

national direction setting. Key consultations for this
periodhavebeenon the resourcemanagement system
review and national policy direction.

2021/22:

Achieved

resource
management
policy and
reformproposal

Staff kept up active engagement with district plan
change processes both proactively (before formal
submissionsopen)andthroughsubmitting toprocesses

2022/23:

Achieved

Formal
participation in
local TAs’
district plan

Actively engage with
district plan change
processes toensureRPS
is given effect to when the formal opportunity arises. Key processes

2021/22:
development
and plan
changes

underway are the Waikato District Plan review, and
Waitomo District’s formal notification of review, plus
various plan changes throughout the region.

Achieved

Level of service: We provide an annual trends and implications report which offers insights to key
decision makers and the community.

CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

The Annual Trends and Implications report was
delivered October 2022 and used to inform the
pre-election report. The information was also used to
inform stakeholder discussions, councillor induction
and the strategic direction review and development.

2022/23:

Achieved

2021/22:

Full refresh of
trends and
implications
reportdelivered.

Annual Trends and
Implications report
delivered

Achieved

Activity: Resource management policy

Level of service: We provide opportunities for the public to be involved in developing a resource
management framework that will manage and improve our region’s environment.

CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

Preparation, changesand reviewsof policies andplans
are being carried out in accordance with statutory
processes. For example, the review of the Regional

2022/23:

Achieved

Compliant with
RMA and other
legislation

Preparation, changesor
reviews of policies and
planswill be carried out
in accordance with
statutory processes

Coastal Plan is being carried out in accordance with
Schedule 1 of the RMA and was publicly notified for
submissions on 18 August 2023. Submissions close on
14 November 2023.

2021/22:

Achieved
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Level of service: We will prioritise our policy programme to meet legislative requirements and
community expectations.

CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

The target as stated in the 2021-2031 LTP has not been
met. There have been delays to the timeline for the
Regional Coastal Plan due to COVID-19, and delays in
iwi and landowner engagement due to the recent
cyclone events.

2022/23:

Not achieved

2021/22:

Hearings on
Regional
Coastal Plan

Our policy programme
will be delivered as per
ourprescribedplanning
schedule

Not achieved
A decision of Council was made in May 2022 that
deferred the process for notification of the Regional
Coastal Plan in the 2022/23 year. The Council hosted a
webinar and two drop-in sessions for landowners to
discuss the plan.

The final draft plan was also further consulted on with
tāngata whenua, and changes were made based on
their advice. A decision to notify the Proposed Coastal
Plan was made at the 29 June 2023 Council meeting.

Activity: Social and economic information

Level of service: We undertake robust social and economic science processes to gather data and
information in order to provide evidence-based analysis for the council.

CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

All indicators have been updated as required in the
schedule and can be found onWRCwebsite Social and
economic indicators in theWaikato |Waikato Regional
Council

2022/23:

Achieved, 100%

2021/22:

100%Percentageof indicators
on the changes and
trends in social and
economic indicators
analysed and reported
on as per the indicator
monitoring schedule

Achieved, 100%

Activity: spatial information

Level of service:We provide high quality and timely data to key decisionmakers and the community.

CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure

The actual 94.36% figure is an average across all the
audit criteria.

2022/23:

Achieved,
94.36%

90%Percentage of data and
metadata that has
quality controls* in
place

2021/22:
Achieved, 91%

* Quality controls mean an audit will be done on a regular basis. This will involve checking the metadata to ensure the
mandatory fields are filled in and that any restrictions on use are applied to any ARC GIS online applications.

Level of service: We provide quality customer service.

CommentaryActualTargetPerformance measure
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The financial year rolling annual averagenet promoter
score was 71.9%. This result came from 48 responses
forSpatial Information,whichconsistsof 37promoters,
nine neutral and two detractors. The two detractors
caused the percentage to fall below the target of 82%.

To improve interactionswith customersgoing forward,
a four-part plan is in place and being actioned:

2022/23:

Not achieved,
71.9%

2021/22:

Not achieved,
67.5%

>82%Rolling annual average
net promoter score [for
the Spatial Information
section]

Identify the cause of the detractors: Complete

Spatial Information team training-refresher on
effective communication: Complete

Continual evaluation of effective communication
with requestors, responding on time, giving
consistent updates, and contacting requestorwhen
needed: In progress

Beproactive in addressing request andeffectiveuse
of tools to efficiently monitor requests: In progress

Se
ct
io
n
3:

Ko
te

ho
ho

nu
ta
ng

a
ō
ā
tā
to
u
m
ah

iO
ur

ac
tiv

iti
es

in
de

pt
h

71



What it cost

Revenue and expenditure for science, policy and information.

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Annual Plan

2022/23
Actual

$000$000$000

21,67324,00324,003General rates

2,2532,4032,403UAGC

35--Government grants

3,3693,4723,776Fees and charges

750750750Investment income

1,2457631,102Other income

29,32531,39132,034Total income

26,21131,41330,250Operating expenditure

3,114(22)1,784Operating surplus / (deficit)

Total funding from / (to) reserves

200--Prior year surplus

45341341General

245341341Total reserve transfers

3,3593192,125Increase / (decrease) in retained earnings

Note: For summary of cost of services please see page 87.

Expenditure
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Service performance judgements and

assumptions
Service performance judgements and
assumptions

In the selectionof our serviceperformancemeasures for the
forecast Statement of service performance in our 10-year
plan, wemade the following judgments.

We reflected on how to best ensure the levels of service
weplan toprovide to the community are capturedbyour
performance measures, adjusting them accordingly.

We considered the views expressed by our residents,
ratepayers,andcommunities, including feedbackrelevant
to the levels of service and performance measures
received throughout the long term plan consultation
process.

Weensuredourperformancemeasuresadequately track
progress towards delivering our community outcomes.

In relation to the floodprotection groupof activities,we are
mandated under the Local Government Act 2002 to provide
standard performance measures so that the public may
make comparisons with other providers. We are also
required todemonstrate regulatorycompliance for statutory
measures (such as the percentage of both building consent
and resource consent applications processed within the
20-day statutory timeframe).

Furthermore, we applied judgments to the measurement,
aggregation and presentation of service performance
information.

In the setting of funding levels, we considered the impact
on services and their performance measures and applied
the following material judgments.

Surveys

Surveys are one of the tools we use to measure the quality
of services we provide. Customer surveys, for example, are
considered appropriate for assessing community
perceptions. To determine the number of performance
measures to monitor and report on, and the level of
aggregation, we considered the information needs of our
communities, the costs and benefits of these, practical
feasibility, and the requirement to provide performance
information across the full breadth of the services we
provide.

The frequency of each survey differs in linewith the specific
performance measures. For example, interaction-based
customer surveys are more frequent, given the service is
ongoing and there are consistent interactions.

Our surveys are designed in-house, or by external research
experts, based on best practice in survey design. For
example, questions are written so that they are neutral in
tone and can be clearly understood by participants.
Response options are designed to be balanced, not lead
participants to respond in a certain way and cover all likely
responses a participant may wish to provide. Analysis of
survey responses is used to improve our processes and
informs future service-level improvements.

External implications for statements about
performance

Some conditions that affect service performance andmay
result in a variation from anticipated or forecast results are
outside our control. Examples include, but are not limited
to, changes in government policy in New Zealand, changes
in international travel restrictions, global and domestic
economic conditions, major weather events and
international policy. Such factorsmay impact areas such as
recruitment, the availability of materials and supplies, and
the stability of international financial markets.
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SECTION 4: 
Pūtea 

Finances



Tauākī ahumoni | Financial statements
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. The financial statements from page 77 to page 82 are to
be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements from page 85 to page 147.

Statement of Compliance

The council of Waikato Regional Council hereby confirms that all statutory requirements in relation to the annual report,
as outlined in the Local Government Act 2002, have been complied with.

The financial statements of the Council are for the year ended 30 June 2023. The financial statements were authorised for
issue by Council on 31 October 2023.

Chief ExecutiveChair
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Statement of comprehensive revenue and expense for the year ended 30 June 2023

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Annual plan

2022/23
Actual

$'000$'000$'000Note

Revenue

111,367121,958122,8093Rates revenue

14,09315,38013,3864Fees and charges

30,28731,46933,5795Subsidies and grants

10,86115,07313,9436Other revenue

5734502,0397Investment revenue

6,2761,3845,5688Investment fund capital protection revenue

(11,648)3,200(1,345)8Change in market value of investments

2,316-3438Unrealised Gain on Interest rate derivatives

164,125188,914190,322Total revenue

Expenditure

53,53258,62357,25912Employee benefit expenses

11,13912,43412,88828, 25, 26Depreciation and amortisation expense

393-40917Other losses

7641,3471,1837Interest expense

103,873117,193120,91010Other expenses

169,701189,597192,649Total operating expenditure

(5,576)(683)(2,327)Net surplus / (deficit) after tax

Surplus / (deficit) attributable to Waikato
Regional Council

Other comprehensive revenue and
expenditure

72,60126,896359,48636Gain / (Loss) on revaluation of property, plant
and equipment

72,60126,896359,486Total other comprehensive income

67,02526,213357,159Total comprehensive income

Surplus is attributable to:

Total comprehensive revenue and
expenditure comprised of:

(3,946)30,7905,54936Funds transferred to council-created reserves

71,456-351,610Funds transferred from asset revaluation
reserves

(485)(4,577)-General operating surplus

67,02526,213357,159Other comprehensive income

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of financial position as at 30 June 2023

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Annual plan

2022/23
ActualColumn2

$'000$'000$'000Note

Current assets

2,8345,18818,72119Cash and cash equivalents

20,90223,66522,86524Trade and other receivables

2,1651,2662,902Prepayments

1,4216191,37230Inventories

9341,26762630Work in progress

20,40521,0836,50020Other financial assets

48,66153,08852,986Total current assets

Non-current assets

100,441105,098102,24320Financial assets

207632020Other financial assets

1,6482,1981,25520Investments in CCO*

17775522427Biological assets

6,62610,0265,60026Intangible assets

632,515621,120995,69625Property, plant and equipment

1,148-1,49031Derivative financial instruments

742,575739,9601,106,528Total non-current assets

791,236793,0481,159,514Total assets

Current liabilities

27,26429,82032,55632Trade and other payables

6,8507,2707,25413Employee benefits liabilities

2--31Derivative financial instruments

7,0284,84311,15333Borrowings

41,14441,93350,963Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

2,2502,9742,28813Employee benefits liabilities

-2,397-31Derivative financial instruments

18,09060,05519,23733Borrowings

20,34065,42621,525Total non-current liabilities

61,484107,35972,488Total liabilities

729,752685,6891,087,026Net assets

EQUITY
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220,754220,116212,87736Accumulated funds

508,998465,573874,14936Other reserves

729,752685,6891,087,026Total equity

* Investments in Council ControlledOrganisations (CCOs) relate to the council's interest inWaikato Local Authority Shared
ServicesLimited (WLASS),RegionalSoftwareHoldingsLimited (RSHL)and theNZLocalGovernmentFundingAgencyLimited
(LGFA).

Explanations of major variances against budget are provided on pages 85. The accompanying notes form part of these
financial statements.
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Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 30 June 2023

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Annual plan

2022/23
Actual

$'000$'000$'000Note

662,727659,477729,752Opening Equity

(5,576)(683)(2,327)Surplus / (deficit)

---Other comprehensive revenue

72,60126,896359,602Net transfer to / (from) Asset revaluation
reserve

729,752685,6901,087,02636Balance at 30 June

COMPONENTS OF EQUITY

Council created reserves

65,22963,69561,283Council created reserves at beginning of the
year

(3,946)(1,364)5,54936Net transfer (to) / from retained earnings

61,28362,33166,83236Council created reserves at end of year

Asset revaluation reserves

376,259376,346447,715Asset revaluation reserves at beginning of the
year

(1,145)--36Net transfer to retained earnings

72,60126,896359,60236Net gain / (loss) on revaluation of PPE

447,715403,242807,31736Asset revaluation reserves at end of the year

Retained earnings

221,239219,436220,754Retained earnings at beginning of the year

(5,576)(683)(2,327)Net surplus / (deficit) for the year

3,9461,364(5,549)Net transfer (to) / from council created
reserves

1,145--Net transfer (to) / from Asset revaluation
reserve

220,754220,117212,878Retained earnings at end of the year

729,752685,6901,087,026EQUITY AT END OF THE YEAR

Explanations of major variances against budget are provided on pages 85. The accompanying notes form part of these
financial statements.
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Statement of cash flows for the year ended 30 June 2023

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Annual plan

2022/23
Actual

$'000$'000$'000Note

Cash flows from operating activities

142,735150,953153,174Receipts from customers

29,34931,46931,334Grants

4584501,900Interest revenue received

680-443Receipts of funding held on behalf of third
parties

381-(319)Goods and services tax

(172,282)(173,793)(174,382)Payments to suppliers and employees

(341)-(734)Payments of funding held on behalf of third
parties

(764)-(884)Interest paid

2169,07910,53218Net cash flow from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

--43Receipts from sale of intangibles

-(825)-Repayments of loans to subsidiaries

520-185Receipts from sale of property, plant and
equipment

76,1133,68279,551Receipts from sale of investments

-869-Receipt of loan repayments

(81,221)(10,000)(63,595)Purchase of investments

(9,430)(21,248)(15,831)Purchase of property, plant and equipment

(923)(3,161)29Purchase of intangible assets

(14,941)(30,683)382Net cash flow from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

-24,78712,000Proceeds from borrowings

(7,048)(10,203)(7,028)Repayment of borrowings

(7,048)14,5844,972Net cash flow from financing activities

(21,773)(7,020)15,887Net (decrease)/increase in cash, cash
equivalents and bank overdrafts

24,60712,2102,834Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts
at the beginning of the year

2,8345,19018,72119
Cash, cash equivalents, andbankoverdrafts
at the end of the year

As per Public Benefit Entry (PBE) IPSAS (International Public Sector Accounting Standards) 2 the receipt and purchase of
long termdeposit (greater than 3months) is not able to be offset in the Statement of Cash Flow. The variance between this
year's actual and the budget arises because the budget shows the receipt and purchase of long term deposit as a net
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figure. The GST (net) component of operating activities reflects the net GST paid and received with the Inland Revenue
Department. TheGST (net) component has beenpresented on anet basis, as the gross amounts donot providemeaningful
information for financial statement purposes.

Explanations of major variances against budget are provided on pages 85. The accompanying notes form part of these
financial statements.
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Mō ngā rerekētanga matua ki te tahua

| Explanation of major variances

against budget
Explanations for major variations fromWaikato Regional
Council’s estimated figures in the 2022/23 Annual Plan are
as follows.

Statement of comprehensive revenue and
expenditure

Integrated catchment management fees and charges
revenue is unfavourable by $1.112 million due $959,000
lower than anticipated revenue for project work as a result
of delays in work, this is offset by lower than anticpated
expenditure and for a delay in invoicing $388,000 Waipa
Catchment plan WRA revenue. Emergency management
revenue receivable in relation to marine oil spill response
was lower than the annual plan by $578,000. This revenue
(and associated costs) is only recognisedwhen amarine oil
spill is activated.

Civil defence emergency management also received
additional funding from central government for Cyclone
Gabrielle relief of $450,000. These funds are held by Council
for distribution to local councils to fund local recovery
efforts.

Other revenue includes public transport fare revenue. This
is $1.753millionunfavourable tobudget, reflecting the 50%
government subsidy made available to offset public
transport fares over the period from July 2022 to June
2023.Additionalgrant revenueof$998,000hasbeenreceived
through these subsidies.

Increasing interest rates have had a favourable impact on
the income Council has been able to earn through the
investmentofworkingcapital funds.Onaverage, the interest
earned on these fundswas 4.74%, compared to a budgeted
return of 1.5% resulting in additional interest income of
$1.357 million.

Council’s investment fund has achieved a total return of
$3.854 million against a budgeted return of $4.584 million.
In light of thehigh inflation environmentprevailingover the
year, $5.568 million of this return has been set aside to
inflation proof the fund’s base capital in line with the
investment funddistributionpolicy. A further$2.801million
was used to fund the budgeted rates subsidy. The shortfall
in theseamounts is funded fromthe investmentequalisation
reserve.

Expenditure for the implementation of project reboot is
higher than original budgeted by $1.375million. Additional
fundingwas approved by Council in August 2022 to support
the final delivery of this programme of work. Progress

payments in relation to the Waikato Regional Theatre,
delayed from last financial year, have beenmade this year
($2.5 million). Planned improvements to the Waikato to
Auckland rail service, Te Huia, have resulted in reduced
operatingcosts (-$1.751million)offsetby lower fare revenue
($192,000) and Waka Kotahi subsidy ($358,000).

Council incurred additional, unbudgeted costs of $2.140
million in response to weather events over January and
February 2023. It is expected that these costs willbe funded
by a drawdown from regional and zone disaster recovery
reserve which council sets aside to meet response and
recovery costs of these events. The termination of the
proposed Muggeridges flood and drainage scheme has
resulted in $2.075 million of costs being reclassified from
capital work in progress to operating expenditure.

Statement of Financial Position

Cash and cash equivalents are $13.533 million higher than
budget. This reflects a higher balance of working capital
being held on call due to the timing of maturing term
deposits andpaymentsof expenses,matchedwithcashflow
requirements. This is offset by the value of financial assets
(reflecting term deposits with a duration of more than 3
months) being $14.583million less thanbudgeted.Maturity
dates of investments held at the end of the financial year
are difficult to ascertainwhen setting the budget due to the
timing of cashflow needs as well as the tactical investment
of sme funds in order to maximise investment returns on
available funds.

Prepayments are $1.636million higher than budget. This is
due to the timingofpayments for IT license fees, particularly
software as a service fees, being charged this financial year
but related to the 2023/24 financial year.

The closing balance of the investment fund this year was
$2.855 million lower than budgeted. This result is still
affected by the negative return from prior year ($3.755
million), meaning a lower opening balance. The main fund
returned4.2%against abudgeted4.6%(includingbudgeted
inflation of 1.6%) while the low risk fund returned 4.3%
against budgeted 2.2%.

Capital expenditure in relation to intangible assets is less
thanbudgeted this year ($3.191million).Of this, $1.8million
relates to the Healthy Rivers porject. Work on planned
information systems has been paused, pending legislative
changes and central government direction. Weather
conditions have delayed the completion of planned LiDAR

Se
ct
io
n
4:

Pū
te
a
Fi
na

nc
es

83



capture ($600,000) with this work now planned to be
completedbyOctober2023.TheWaikatoRegionalTransport
Model (WRTM) has been delayed until 2023/24.

The triannual revaluation of infrastructure assets has
resulted in an increase in asset values in excess of the
assumed when the annual plan was developed
($374.576 million). This reflects market cost pressures and
replacement value of these assets.

Total derivative financial instruments are $3.887 million
favourable to budget. Derivative financial instruments are
interest rate swaps the council has entered into tomanage
the interest rate risk associated with its borrowing
programme. By having thee swaps in place, Council has
mitigated the effect of Increases in market borrowing rates
over the year.

Trade and other payables are $2.736 million higher than
budget. This is driven by timing of expenditure combined
withan increase in revenuereceived inadvance fromfunding
partners.

Borrowing reflects the council’s external borrowing through
the Local Government Funding Agency. The Annual Plan
projected a total borrowing programme of $60.055 million
by the end of the 2022/23 financial year. Actual borrowing
at 30 June 2023 was $30 million. This reflects both a lower
opening balance ($25 million against a budgeted $51
million) as well as a lower than budgeted capital works
programme ($7 million favourable to the Annual Plan
budget).

W
ai
ka

to
Re

gi
on

al
Co

un
ci
l
20

22
/2
3
An

nu
al

Re
po

rt
Pū

ro
ng

o
ā-
ta
u

84



Ngā pitopito tuhinga mō ngā tauākī

ahumoni | Notes to the financial

statements
1 Statement of accounting policies for the year ended 30 June 2023

Reporting entity

Waikato Regional Council is a territorial local authority
governed by the Local Government Act 2002, and is
domiciled inNewZealand.Therelevant legislationgoverning
the council's operations includes the Local Government Act
2002 and the Local Government (Rating) Act 2002.

The primary objective of Waikato Regional Council is to
enabledemocratic localdecision-makingandactionby, and
on behalf of, communities, and to promote the social,
economic, environmental, and cultural well-being of
communities in the present and for the future. The council
does not operate to make a profit. Accordingly, Waikato
RegionalCouncil hasdesignated itself apublicbenefit entity
for financial reporting purposes.

The financial statements of the Council are for the year
ended 30 June 2023. The financial statements were
authorised for issue by Council on 31 October 2023.

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on the going
concernbasis,andtheaccountingpolicieshavebeenapplied
consistently throughout the year.

Statement of compliance

The financial statements and service performance
information for council have been prepared in accordance
with the requirements of the Local Government Act 2002
and the Local Government (Financial Reporting and
Prudence)Regulations2014,which includes the requirement
to complywithNewZealandgenerally acceptedaccounting
practice (NZ GAAP).

The financial statements and service performance
information for the Council have been prepared in
accordancewithTier1PublicBenefitEntity (PBE)accounting
standards.

These financial statements comply with PBE Standards.

Presentation currency and rounding

The financial statements are presented in New Zealand
dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
dollars ($000), other than the remuneration and severance

payment disclosures in note 11. The remuneration and
severance transactiondisclosuresare roundedto thenearest
dollar.

Changes in accounting policies

There have been no changes in the Council's accounting
policies since the date of the last audited financial
statements.

Accounting standards issued and effective in preparing 30
June 2023 financial statements

PBE IPSAS 41 Financial Instruments

In March 2019, the External Reporting Board (XRB) issued
PBE IPSAS41Financial Instruments,which supersedesboth
PBE IFRS9Financial InstrumentsandPBE IPSAS29Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. PBE IPSAS 41
is effective for the financial years beginning on or after
January 2022, with early application permitted. The main
changes under the standard relevant to Council are:

New financial asset classification requirements for
determining whether an asset is measured at fair value
or amortised cost

A new impairment model for financial assets based on
expected credit losses, which may result in earlier
recognition of impairment losses

Revised hedge accounting requirements to better reflect
the management of risks.

PBE FRS 48 Service Performance Reporting

PBE FRS 48 replaces the service performance reporting
requirements of PBE IPSAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statementsand iseffective for theyearending30June2023.

The council has adopted this standard in preparing its 30
June 2023 financial statements.

Summary of significant accounting policies

Significant accounting policies are included in the notes to
which they relate.

Significantaccountingpolicies thatdonot relate toaspecific
note are outlined below.

Goods and services tax (GST)
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All items in the financial statements are stated exclusive of
GST, except for receivables and payables, which are
presented on a GST inclusive basis. Where GST is not
recoverable as input tax then it is recognised as part of the
related asset or expense.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the
Inland Revenue Department (IRD) is included as part of
receivables or payables in the statement of financial
position.

The net GST paid to, or received from the IRD, including the
GST relating to investingand financingactivities, is classified
as an operating cash flow in the cash flow statement.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive of
GST.

Budget figures

The budget figures are those approved by the council in its
2022/23AnnualPlan.Thebudget figureshavebeenprepared
in accordance with NZ GAAP and are consistent with the
accounting policies adopted by the council for the
preparation of the financial statements.

Costs allocation

Cost of service for each significant activity is calculated as
follows:

Direct costs are charged directly to significant activities.

Indirect costs are charged to significant activities using
appropriate cost drivers such as actual usage, staff
numbers and floor area. Indirect costs are those costs
that cannot be identified in an economically feasible
manner with a specific significant activity.

Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency transactions (including those for which
forward foreignexchangecontracts areheld) are translated
into NZ$ (the functional currency) using the spot exchange
rate at the date of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at year end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the surplus or deficit.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

In preparing these financial statements, estimates and
assumptions have beenmade concerning the future. These
estimatesandassumptionsmaydiffer fromthe subsequent
actual results. Estimates and assumptions are continually
evaluated and are based onhistorical experience andother
factors, including expectations or future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below:

estimating the fair value of land, buildings, and
infrastructural assets - see note 25.

estimating the retirement and long service leave
obligations - see note 13.
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2 Summary of cost of services

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Annual plan2022/23 Actual

$'000$'000$'000

Revenue

7,0177,2087,303Community and Services

3,2353,2793,927Civil Defence Emergency Management

1,6632,4571,924Emergency management

28,26731,32229,834Flood control and protection works

37,65538,33139,628Integrated Catchment Management

40,05548,02446,881Regional Transport Connections

20,06021,58921,318Resource use

29,32531,39132,034Science, Policy and Information

(3,389)5,0867,242Corporate and self-funding

237231231Council controlled organisations

164,125188,914190,322Total income from activities

Expenditure

7,1707,2929,651Community and Services

3,0933,2793,978Civil Defence Emergency Management

4,1382,4573,016Emergency management

26,95425,99031,008Flood Control and Protection Works

33,73939,48238,595Integrated Catchment Management

40,64649,81344,583Regional Transport Connections

19,95422,05921,550Resource Use

26,21131,41330,250Science, Policy and Information

7,6827,5829,848Corporate and self-funding

116231170Council controlled organisations

169,703189,597192,649Total operating expenses

(5,578)(683)(2,327)Net Total

The total number of rateable properties in the region in 2023was 221,849 (2022: 217,533), the total capital value of rateable
properties was $244.7 billion (2022: $217.7 billion) and the total land value of rateable properties was $128.2 billion (2022:
$128.2 billion).
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3 Rates revenue

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Actual

$'000$'000

55,17660,639General rates

55,17660,639Total general rates revenue

Targeted rates attributable to activities

1,0771,076Biodiversity

9,09410,663Biosecurity

1,3941,591Permitted activity monitoring

28,12930,993River and catchment services

12,41413,208Public Transport

4782Stock Truck Effluent

2,4482,535Civil defence emergency management

173343Community partnerships

717718Regional Services

55,49361,209Total targeted rates

(408)(490)Less rates remissions

1,1061,451Plus rate penalties

111,367122,809Total rates, excluding targeted water supply rates

Revenue is measured at fair value.

Rates revenue

The following policies for rates have been applied:

General rates, targeted rates, and uniform annual general charges are recognised at the start of the financial year to
which the rates resolution relates. They are recognised at the amounts due. The council considers that the effect of
payment of rates by instalment is not sufficient to require discounting of rates receivables and subsequent recognition
of interest revenue.

Rates arising from late payment penalties are recognised as revenue when rates become overdue.

Rates remissions are recognised as a reduction of rates revenue when the council has received an application that
satisfies its rates remission policy.

Rates revenue is shownnet of rates remissions.Waikato Regional Council’s rates remission policies allow for the remission
of the following rates.

Land protected for biodiversity.

Lake Taupō lakebed.

Māori freehold land.

Urban land in areas classified as rural, commercial or industrial.

Biosecurity rate on fenced indigenous bush and wetland areas.

Rating units with a capital value of $1,000 or less.

Sporting and recreational organisations.

Community organisations.

Undeveloped land, native bush or swamp areas charged the Waihou/Piako Catchment rate.
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Remission of rates due to financial hardship

Public transport indirect benefit rates for properties with a capital value greater than $5.0 million.

Public transport direct benefit rate for properties without direct access to public transport services.

The council is required to disclose any rates that have been written off during the period of these financial statements by
the Chief Executive under powers grantedby section 90A and 90Bof the Local Government (Rating) Act 2002. These powers
came into force on 12 April 2021 through the Local Government (Rating of Whenua Maori) Amendment Act 2021. For the
period covered by these financial statements $348,000 was written off by the Chief Executive (2022: $469,000).

Non-rateable land

Under theLocalGovernment (Rating) Act 2002, certainproperties cannotbe rated for general rates. Theseproperties include
schools, placesof religiousworship, public gardensand reserves. Thesenon-rateablepropertiesmaybesubject to targeted
rates. The non-rating of non-rateable land does not constitute a remission under the council’s rates remission policy.

The council is required by the Local Government Funding Agency (LGFA) Guarantee and Indemnity Deed to disclose in its
financial statements (or notes) its annual rates revenue. That Deed defines annual rates revenue as an amount equal to
the total revenue from any funding mechanism authorised by the Local Government (Rating) Act 2002 together with any
revenue received by the council from other local authorities for services provided by that council for which those other
local authorities rate. Annual rates revenue by this definition is as disclosed in the table above.

4 Fees and charges

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Actual

$'000$'000

1,9422,115Compliance monitoring direct charges

4,3874,348Consent application fees

4,5965,075Consent holder charges

3,1681,848Other direct charges

14,09313,386Total fees and charges

Building and resource consent revenue

Feesandcharges forbuildingand resource consent servicesare recognisedonapercentagecompletionbasiswith reference
to the recoverable costs incurred at balance date.

5 Subsidies and grants

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Actual

$'000$'000

19,62624,227Land transport government grants

10,6619,352Other grants

30,28733,579Total subsidies and grants

Land Transport Government grants

There are no unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies attached to subsidies and grants recognised (2022 nil).

Government grants are received fromWaka Kotahi, which subsidises part of the cost of the provision of public transport
services and development of transport policies and plans. The subsidies are recognised as revenue upon entitlement, as
conditions pertaining to eligible expenditure have been fulfilled.
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Other grants

Other grants are recognised as revenue when they become recievable unless there is an obligation in substance to return
the funds if conditions are not met. If there is such an obligation, the grants are intially recorded as grants recieved in
advance and recognised as revenue when conditions of the grant are satisfied.

6 Other revenue

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Actual

$'000$'000

3,8245,213Public transport fare revenue

695656Rental

66224Royalties

6,2767,850Other revenue

10,86113,943Total other revenue

Provision of services

Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at balance
date, based on the actual service provided as a percentage of the total services to be provided.

7 Finance revenue and expenses

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Actual

$'000$'000

Interest revenue

2-Community loans

6577Statutory land charges

5061,807Term deposits and call accounts

-155Interest rate swaps

5712,039Total interest revenue

Interest expense

4681,152Interest on borrowings

29631Interest rate swaps

7641,183Total interest expense

Interest revenue

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest method. Interest revenue on an impaired financial asset is
recognised using the original effective interest rate.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the financial year in which they are incurred.
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8 Change in market value of investments

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Actual

$'000$'000

Unrealised gains on assets at fair value through surplus or deficit

8641,670Fixed interest

(7,083)3,511Equities

847(1,097)Property

2,316343Unrealised gain on revaluation of interest rate swaps

(3,056)4,428

Realised gains on assets at fair value through surplus or deficit

-138Fixed interest

--Equities

--Property

-138

(3,056)4,566

6,2765,568Investment fund capital protection revenue

(11,648)(1,345)Net change in market value

2,316343Unrealised Gain on Interest rate derivatives

(3,056)4,566Total change in market value of investments

Financial risk management strategies

Waikato Regional Council is exposed to financial risks associated with changes in the value of the financial instruments
that comprise its investment fund. Waikato Regional Council is a long-term investor, and accepts that returns in any given
yearmay vary from its long-term target return. Risk ismanaged through the use of a diversified portfolio of financial assets.
The council also undertakes a regular review of the risk profile associated with the investment fund, and adjusts its asset
allocation policy accordingly. Refer to note 23 for further information regarding council’s financial instrument risks.

9 Exchange and non-exchange revenue

The total revenue fromnon-exchange transactions includes the revenue fromrates, government grants, bus revenue, fines,
fees and charges and other revenue. Total non-exchange revenue for the 2022/23 financial year is $176.373 million (2022:
$159.517 million).

The total revenue from exchange transactions includes the revenue from interest, rental, royalties, fees and charges and
investment revenue. Total exchange revenue for the 2022/23 financial year is $13.948 million (2022: $4.608 million).
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10 Other expenses

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Actual

$'000$'000

1,3931,408Insurance premiums

224260Subscriptions and levies

572345Debts written off

(28)126Impairment of receivables

163215Fees paid to auditors: Audit of Annual Report

77Fees paid to auditors: Audit of debenture trust deed

38-Fees paid to auditors: Audit of LTP

49Donations

3,1403,816Minimum lease payments under operating leases

68,36186,449Other operating expenses

670628Inventory consumption

1,050155Property, plant and equipment losses / (gains) on disposal

1,0931,070Councillors’ remuneration: Meeting attendance fees and salary

3080Councillors' remuneration: Expenses

356369Investment fundmanagement fees

815733Contracted services - pest control

25,98525,240Contracted services - buses

103,873120,910Total other expenses
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11 Remuneration

2021/222022/23

$$

Chief Executive

341,670361,060Salary

16,81617,506Vehicle (value per contract)

358,486378,566Total key management personnel remuneration

Elected representatives

Total
remuneration

Travel time
allowanceSalary

$$$

This Year

55,261-55,261B Clarkson

52,27249951,773R Cookson

58,1508,12050,030M Downard

45,40861044,798B Dunbar-Smith

50,14912050,029C Graf

70,87816070,718K Hodge

50,0825250,030C Hughes

67,2106067,150S Kneebone

55,7533,98051,773WMaher

64,352-64,352T Mahuta

71,83550071,335J Nickel

48,47519048,285N Smith

132,575834131,741P Storey

67,39024067,150A Strange

21,63432821,306*S Husband

19,5381,03018,508*F Lichtwark

18,5484018,508*A MacPherson

47,24315047,093*B Quayle

18,508-18,508*R Rimmington

19,23672818,508*D Tegg

21,306-21,306*H Vercoe

21,96666021,306*K White

1,077,76918,3011,059,468Total

Last Year

86,46824086,228K Hodge
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74,01915973,860S Husband

73,9357573,860S Kneebone

64,79063064,160F Lichtwark

64,160-64,160A MacPherson

64,160-64,160T Mahuta

73,8791973,860J Nickel

87,03015086,880B Quayle

143,580-143,580R Rimmington

74,43257273,860P Storey

74,20934973,860A Strange

64,76460464,160D Tegg

74,31045073,860H Vercoe

75,5901,73073,860K White

1,095,3264,9781,090,348Total

Chair Pamela Storey had the full private use of a motor vehicle valued at $3,624.61 from 15 November 2022. From 3 May
2023 Chair Storey has the full private use of a motor vehicle valued at $4,961 (2022: $0)

The figures presented above exclude mileage expenses paid to councillors.

Employee remuneration

At balance date, the Council employed 548 (2022: 488) full-time employees, with the balance of staff representing 70 (2022:
55) full-time equivalent employees. A full-time employee is determined on the basis of a 40-hour working week.

Total annual remuneration by band for employees as at 30 June:

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Actual

9181< $60,000

161189$60,000-$79,999

141155$80,000-$99,999

93110$100,000-$119,999

4352$120,000-$139,999

1021$140,000-$159,999

1411$160,000-$179,999

37$180,000-$199,999

78$200,000-$279,999

11$280,000-$359,999

564635Total employees

Severance payments

For the year ended 30 June 2023 Waikato Regional Council made no severance payments (2022: no severance payments).
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12 Employee benefit expenses

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Actual

$'000$'000

Employee benefit expenses

51,97855,622Salaries and wages

1,4611,577Defined contribution plan employer contributions

9360Increase/(decrease) in employee benefit liabilities

53,53257,259Total employee benefit expenses

The impactof theactuarial valuationof long service leaveand retirementgratuity liability hasbeen to increase theemployee
benefit expense by $30,000 in total (2022: $300,000 decrease). The retirement gratuity liability increased by $17,000 and
the long service leave liability increased by $13,000.

Employer contributions to defined contribution plans include contributions to KiwiSaver.

13 Current liabilities - employee benefits liabilities

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Actual

$'000$'000

Current

4,2064,167Annual leave

311289Long service leave

428442Retirement gratuities

428497Sick leave

685767Other employee expenses

7921,092Accrued pay

6,8507,254Total current portion

Short term employee entitlements

Employee benefits expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employee renders the
related service are measured based on accrued entitlements at current rates of pay.

These include salaries and wages accrued up to balance date, annual leave earned to but not yet taken at balance date,
retirement gratuities and long service entitlements expected to be settled within 12 months, and sick leave.

A liability for sick leave is recognised to the extent that absences in the coming period are expected to be greater than the
sick leave entitlements earned in the coming period. The amount is calculated based on the unused sick leave entitlement
that can be carried forward at balance date, to the extent it will be used by staff to cover those future absences.

Se
ct
io
n
4:

Pū
te
a
Fi
na

nc
es

95



Presentation of employee entitlements

Sick leave, annual leave, vested long service leave, and non-vested long service leave and retirement gratuities expected
to be settled within 12 months of balance date are classified as a current liability. All other employee entitlements are
classified as a non-current liability.

Superannuation schemes

Defined contribution schemes

Obligations for contributions to KiwiSaver are accounted for as defined contribution superannuation schemes and are
recognised as an expense in the surplus or deficit when incurred.

14 Non-current liabilities - employee benefits liabilities

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Actual

$'000$'000

Non-current

1,9391,974Long service leave

311314Gratuities

2,2502,288Total non-current

The present value of retirement and long service leave obligations depends on a number of factors that are determined on
an actuarial basis. Two key assumptions used in calculating this liability include the discount rate and the salary growth
rate. Any changes in these assumptions will affect the carrying amount of the liability. Expected future payments are
discounted using forward discount rates derived from the yield curve of New Zealand government bonds. The discount
ratesusedhavematurities thatmatch, as closelyaspossible, theestimated future cashoutflows. The salarygrowthassumed
for an employee is the salary inflation component plus the promotional salary scale for that employee’s age. The 10 year
discount rate of 4.94 per cent (2022: 4.31 per cent) and a long-term salary growth rate of 1.93 per cent (2022: 1.76 per cent)
was used.

Long term employee entitlements

Employee benefits that are due to be settled beyond 12months after the end of the period in which the employee renders
the related service, such as long service leave and retirement gratuities, have been calculated on an actuarial basis. The
calculations are based on:

likely future entitlements accruing to staff, based on years of service, years to entitlement, the likelihood that staff will
reach the point of entitlement, and contractual entitlement information; and

the present value of the estimated future cash flows.
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15 Related party transactions

Transactions with key management personnel

During the year councillors and key management, as part of a normal customer relationship, were involved in minor
transactions with Waikato Regional Council (such as the payment of rates).

Keymanagementpersonnel include thecouncil Chair, councillors, Chief Executiveandother seniormanagementpersonnel.

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Actual

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Actual

$'000$'000

--Councillors

1,0951,078Remuneration

--1414Full-time equivalent members

--Senior management team, including the Chief
Executive

1,7911,886Remuneration and post-employment
benefits

--77Full-time equivalent members

2,8862,964Balance at 30 June

2121Total full-time equivalent personnel

Due to the difficulty in determining the full-time equivalent for councillors, the full-time equivalent figure is taken as the
number of councillors.

Transactions between Waikato Regional Council and Waikato Local Authority Shared Services Ltd and Regional Software
Holdings Ltd have been treated as related party transactions.

Noprovisionhasbeen required, nor anyexpense recognised for impairmentof receivables for any loansorother receivables
to related parties (2022 nil).

Se
ct
io
n
4:

Pū
te
a
Fi
na

nc
es

97



16 Tax

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Actual

$'000$'000

Components of tax expense

--Current tax expense

--Adjustment to current tax in prior years

--Deferred tax liability

(5,576)(2,327)Net surplus (deficit) before tax

(1,561)(652)Tax at 28%

Plus (less) tax effect of:

1,561652Non-deductible expenditure

--Non-taxable revenue

--Add: Revenue taxable to council

(1)-Less: Expenses deductible to council

--Less: Tax expense over/understated prior period

--Less: Payments reclassified to other expenditure

1-Tax loss not recognised

--Tax expense

Generally local authorities are exempt from income tax, except for any revenue derived from any Council Controlled
Organisation or port activity as per the Income Tax Act 2007.

Income tax expense includes components relating to both current tax and deferred tax.

Current tax is the amount of income tax payable based on the taxable surplus for the current year, plus any adjustments
to income tax payable in respect of prior years. Current tax is calculated using tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at balance date.

Deferred tax is the amount of income tax payable or recoverable in future periods in respect of temporary differences and
unused tax losses. Temporary differences are differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the
statement of financial position and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the asset is realised or the liability is settled,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at balance date. The measurement of
deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the council expects to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that taxable surpluseswill be available againstwhich the deductible temporary differences
or tax losses can be utilised.

Deferred tax is not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination, and at the time of the transaction,
affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit.

Current and deferred tax is recognised against the surplus or deficit for the period, except to the extent that it relates to a
business combination, or to transactions recognised in other comprehensive revenue and expense or directly in equity.
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17 Other gains/(losses)

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Actual

$'000$'000

6347Gain/(loss) on changes in fair value of biological assets

(456)(456)Gain/(loss) on changes in fair value of other investments

--Gain/(loss) on changes in fair value of property, plant and equipment

--Unrealised loss on revaluation of interest rate swaps

(393)(409)Total

18 Reconciliation of net surplus/(deficit) after tax to net cash flow from operating activities

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Actual

$'000$'000

(5,576)(2,327)Surplus/(deficit)

Add/(less) non-cash items:

11,13912,888Depreciation and amortisation expense

-174Assets adjustments relating to disposals

393346Other gains and losses

(56)547Bad and doubtful debts

(2,316)(343)(Gains)/losses on derivative financial instruments

9,16013,612Total non-cash items

Add/(less) items classified as investing or financing activities:

5,372(4,223)Change in market value of investments

1,050155Net loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment

6,422(4,068)Total items classified as investing or financing activities

Add (less) itemsmovements in working capital items

(3,552)5,292Creditors and other payables

98404Current employee entitlements

(331)(38)Non-current employee entitlements

(509)(737)Prepayments

(563)357Work in progress and inventory

(4,933)(1,963)Debtors and other receivables

21610,532Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities
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19 Cash and cash equivalents

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Actual

$'000$'000

2,83410,721Cash at bank and in hand

-8,000Term deposits maturing three months or less from date of acquisition

2,83418,721Total cash and cash equivalents

Cashandcashequivalents includecashonhand,deposits heldat callwithbanks, other short-termhighly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts.

The reported balance includes $1.698 million (2022 $1.523 million) which is held on behalf of other parties that Waikato
Regional Council is administering. Funds are paid out once expenditure is approved by the relevant party.

The carrying value of cash at bank and short-term deposits withmaturities less than threemonths approximates their fair
value.

Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the statement of financial position.

20 Other financial assets

Themethods and assumptions used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instrument, for which it is practical
to estimate that value, are as follows.

Investment fund and term deposits

The carrying amount of these items is approximately equivalent to the fair value.

Interest rate risk

In making its investments, the council adopts a conservative risk profile, while aiming to maximise its returns. The range
of interest rates receivable on financial instruments at 30 June 2023 range from2.30 - 6 per cent. (2022: 0.86 - 1.90 per cent)

Collateral

The council does not require collateral or other security to support financial instruments subject to credit risk.

Currency risk

The council enters into foreign currency forward exchange contracts to hedge foreign currency transactions. Any exposure
to gains or losses on these forward contracts is generally offset by a related loss or gain on the item being hedged. Gains
and losses on contracts which hedge specific short-term foreign currency denominated commitments are recognised as a
component of the related transaction in the period in which the transaction is completed.
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Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are converted at the New Zealand rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction.
At balance date, foreignmonetary assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate, and exchange variations arising
from these translations are included in the statement of comprehensive revenue and expense.

Investment fund

The investment fund is invested with a number of fundmanagers whose performance is monitored by Mercer (N.Z.) Ltd
whoprovide investment strategyadvice to thecouncil. At 30June2023 the investment fundwas investedwith the following
fundmanagers:

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Actual

$'000$'000

Equity

6,9997,524Harbour Asset Management (Trans Tasman)

8,3189,545Macquarie (AMP Capital) - Hedged

7,7959,412Stewart Investors (Colonial First State) - Unhedged

23,11226,481Net book amount

Fixed Interest

25,01723,375Macquarie (AMP Capital) (Cash)

21,00421,447Fisher Funds (Global bonds)

10,14310,546Term deposits managed internally

9,3489,745Harbour NZ Short Duration

65,51265,113Net book amount

Property

6,3215,381Fisher NZ Direct Property

5,4965,268First Sentier (Colonial First State) ($NZ)

11,81710,649Net book amount

100,441102,243Total Net book amount

At 30 June 2023, the following investments were held by the council's fundmanagers.

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Actual

$'000$'000

Listed securities - held for trading

3,6293,432NZ local authority investments

6,7037,055NZ Government guaranteed investments

16,58514,633Corporate investments

18,32919,041NZ cash/short term deposits

21,62521,447Overseas bonds

27,86831,252Equity investments

5,7025,381Property
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100,441102,243Net book amount

Other Investment

20,4056,500Term deposits with maturities greater than 3 months

2020NZ Local Government Insurance Corporation shares

--Other investments

20,4256,520Net book amount

Investments in CCO

1,230774Integrated Regional Information System shares

418481NZ Local Government Funding Agency Ltd (LGFA) - borrower notes

1,6481,255Net book amount

Total Financial Assets

100,441102,243Financial assets (investment fund)

22,0737,775Other investments

122,514110,019

TheCouncil hasan11per centholding inRegional SoftwareHoldingsLimited (RSHL). Therearenine shareholdingCouncil's
each with an equal share. There are 8 RSHL Board members, who are elected and retire by rotation. The original six
participating Council's retain their relative shares in the Integrated Regional Information System (IRIS) software. Waikato
Regional Council has a32per centholding in the IRIS software. RSHLoperatesonacost recoverybasiswith theparticipating
shareholders and there will be no distributable profits retained in the business. Given the governance structure of RSHL
and the nature of its activities, Council do not believe they hold “significant influence” and accordingly has not accounted
for the RSHL investment as an associate.

Borrower notes

Borrower notes are required to be held by each local authority that borrows from LGFA. The borrower notes are amounts
equal to 1.6% of $16 million ($256,000) and 2.5% of $9 million ($225,000) of council's borrowing from LGFA. The borrower
notes are repaid to council as the underlying debt matures.

W
ai
ka

to
Re

gi
on

al
Co

un
ci
l
20

22
/2
3
An

nu
al

Re
po

rt
Pū

ro
ng

o
ā-
ta
u

102



2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Actual

$'000$'000

The Council's investments are included in the balance sheet as follows:

Current portion

20,4056,500Term Deposits

--Non-current portion

100,441102,243Financial assets (investment fund)

2020NZ Local Government Insurance Corporation shares

1,6481,255Investments in CCOs

122,514110,018

It is the council's intention to continue to hold the investment fund as a non-current asset. Individual assets held by the
fundmanagers have maturity periods as follows:
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2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Actual

$'000$'000

22,44022,5740-1 year

15,51315,4751-3 years

34,58732,942Greater than three years

27,90131,252No specified maturity date

100,441102,243

The Maturity profile of other investments held by council is as follows:

20,5176,5960-1 year

1281391-3 years

178246Greater than three years

1,250794No specified maturity date

22,0737,775

Fair value

Unlisted investments

The fair value of the investment in NZ Government Insurance Corporation Limited is $20,000 (2022: $20,000).

The fair value of council's equity investment in Waikato Local Authority Shared Services Limited has not been disclosed
however its fair value will not differ materially from the carrying value.

The fair value of council's equity investment in Regional Software Holdings Limited has not been disclosed however its fair
value will not differ materially from the carrying value.

Other financial assets

Other financial assets (other than shares in subsidiaries) are initially recognised at fair value. They are then classified as,
and subsequently measured under, the following categories:

• amortised cost;

• fair value through other comprehensive revenue and expense (FVTOCRE); and

• fair value through surplus or deficit (FVTSD).

Transaction costs are included in the value of the financial asset at initial recognition unless the it has been designated at
FVTSD, in which case it is recognised in surplus or deficit. The classification of a financial asset depends on its cash flow
characteristics and the Council's management model for managing them.

A financial asset is classified and subsequently measured at amortised cost if it gives rise to cash flows that are ‘solely
payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal outstanding and is held within a management model whose
objective is to collect the contractual cash flows of the asset.

A financial asset is classified and subsequently measured at FVTOCRE if it gives rise to cash flows that are SPPI and held
within a management model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial
assets.

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria to be measured at amortised cost or FVTOCRE are subsequently measured
at FVTSD. However, the Council may elect at initial recognition to designate an equity investment not held for trading as
subsequently measured at FVTOCRE.
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Subsequent measurement of financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets classified at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any expected credit losses (ECL). Where applicable, interest accrued is added to the investment balance.
Instruments in this category include term deposits, community loans, and loans to subsidiaries and associates.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets at FVTOCRE

Financial assets in this category that are debt instruments are subsequently measured at fair value with fair value gains
and losses recognised in other comprehensive revenue and expense, except ECL and foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognised in surplus or deficit. When sold, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive
revenue and expense is reclassified to surplus and deficit. Debt instruments in this category are the Council's listed bonds.

Financial assets in this category that are equity instruments designated as FVTOCRE are subsequently measured at fair
valuewith fair value gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive revenue and expense. There is no assessment for
impairment when fair value falls below the cost of the investment. When sold, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive revenue and expense is transferred to accumulated funds within equity. The Council
designate into this category all equity investments that are not held for trading as they are strategic investments that are
intended to be held for the medium to long-term.

Expected credit loss allowance (ECL)

The Council recognise an allowance for ECLs for all debt instruments not classified as FVTSD. ECLs are the
probability-weighted estimate of credit losses, measured at the present value of cash shortfalls, which is the difference
between the cash flows due to Council in accordance with the contract and the cash flows it expects to recive. ECLs are
discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). However, if there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the loss allowance is based on losses possible for the remaining life of the financial asset (Lifetime ECL).

Whendeterminingwhether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition, theCouncil
considers reasonableandsupportable information that is relevant andavailablewithoutunduecost or effort. This includes
bothquantitative andqualitative informationandanalysis basedon theCouncil's historical experienceand informedcredit
assessment and including forward-looking information.

The Council consider a financial asset to be in default when the financial asset is more than 90 days past due. The Council
may determine a default occurs prior to this if internal or external information indicates the entity is unlikely to pay its
credit obligations in full. Council measure ECLs on loan commitments at the date the commitment becomes irrevocable.
If the ECL measured exceeds the gross carrying amount of the financial asset, the ECL is recognised as a provision.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets at FVTSD

Financial assets in this category are subsequently measured at fair value with fair value gains and losses recognised in
surplus or deficit. Interest revenue and dividends recognised form these financial assets are separately presented within
revenue.

Council has derivatives and financial assets in this category.

Previous accounting policy (summarised)

In the previous year, other financial assets were classified into the following categories:

• loans and receivables at amortised cost (including term deposits, related party loans, and community loans);

• held-to-maturity investments at amortised cost (included listed bonds); and

• fair value through other comprehensive revenue and expense (including shares and listed bonds).

The main differences for the prior year policies are:
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• impairment was recorded only when there was objective evidence of impairment. For equity investments, a significant
or prolonged decline in fair value of the investment below its cost was considered objective evidence of impairment. For
debt investments, significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability the debtor would enter into bankruptcy,
receivership or liquidation, and default in payments were indicators that asset is impaired.

• impairment losses on shares were recognised in the surplus or deficit.

• for shares, the cumulative gainor losspreviously recognised inother comprehensive revenueandexpensewas transferred
from equity to surplus or deficit on disposal of the investment.

Credit risk, including ECLs

Term deposits - Council considers there has not been significant increase in credit risk for investments in term deposits
because thebankscontinue tohave lowcredit riskatbalancedate. Termdepositsareheldwithbanks thathavea long-term
AA- investment grade credit rating, which indicates the bank has a very strong capacity tomeet its financial commitments.
No ECL has been recognised for term deposits as the loss allowance is trivial.

Other financial assets - expected credit losses measure for other financial assets are trivial. They are low-risk and Council
has not identified any indications that credit risk associatedwith those instruments has significantly increased since initial
recognition. Council does not hold any collateral for any of its loan assets.

21 Investment policy

Thecouncil delegates responsibility for themanagement,monitoringand reportingof its investmentactivities to its Finance
andServicesCommitteeandFinanceandBusinessServicesdirectorate. A treasurypolicydocument setsout theparameters
for the operation of the Finance and Business Services directorate and the volume of investments that the council will be
involved with. The mix of investments between current and non-current is determined according to the council’s working
capital needs.

The council's investment fundmade a return of $4.223 million against an Annual Plan budgeted return of $4.584 million
reflecting market volatility over the year. The council continues to take external advice as to changes to be made to any
asset class mix.

For the investment fund, excluding amounts held in the Harbour NZ short duration fund (the long term portfolio), the
Council has a Strategic Asset Allocation for investments undermanagement of 60 per cent growth (equities and real assets)
and 40 per cent income assets (fixed interest and cash). This is considered a prudent policy to maintain the real value of
the capital of the fund firstly, and then to provide sufficient returns to meet the council’s distribution policy for returns.
The Harbour NZ short duration fund is wholly invested in income assets (fixed interest and cash) which is considered a
prudent policy to protect the capital value of funds set aside for Regional Development Portfolio projects. The council
continues to take external advice as to changes to be made to any asset class mix.

22 Treasury risk management policy

The council’s Treasury Risk Management Policy was updated in January 2021. This policy ensures that the council’s debt
and associated risks are maintained at prudent levels.

There are no significant variations or material departures from the council’s Liability Management Policy.
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23 Financial instruments

Inaccordancewith the transitionalprovisions inPBE IPSAS41,Councilhaselectednot to restate thecomparative information.
The comparative information continues to be reported under PBE IPSAS 29. Adjustments arising from the adoption of PBE
IPSAS 41 are recognised in opening equity at 1 July 2022 (the date of initial application).

Theaccountingpolicies for theyearended30June2023havebeenupdated tocomplywithPBE IPSAS41.Themainchanges
to the Council's accounting policies are:

• Note 24 – Receivables – This policy has been updated to reflect that the impairment of short-term receivables is now
determined by applying the simplified expected credit loss model.

• Note 20 – Other financial assets – This policy has been updated to reflect:

– the new classification categories;

– the measurement and recognition of loss allowances based on the new expected credit loss (ECL) model; and

– the removal of impairment loss considerations for equity investments at FVTOCRE.

PBE IPSAS 41 also significantly amended the financial instruments disclosures of PBE IPSAS 30. This has resulted in new
or amended disclosures, mostly in relation to credit risk.

The measurement categories and carrying amounts for financial liabilities have not changed on transition to PBE IPSAS
41.

On the date of initial of application of PBE IPSAS 41, the classification and carrying amounts of financial assets under PBE
IPSAS 41 and PBE IPSAS 29 is outlined in the tables below.

Adoption
adjustment

1 July 2022
PBE IPSAS 41

30 June 2022
PBE IPSAS 29Measurement ClassificationFinancial Asset

$'000$'000$'000PBE IPSAS 41PBE IPSAS 29

-2,8342,834AmortisedcostLoans and
receivablesCash and cash equivalent

-20,90220,902AmortisedcostLoans and
receivablesReceivables

-20,40520,405AmortisedcostLoans and
receivablesTerm Deposits

-100,441100,441FVTSDFVTSDInvestment fund

-1,2301,230FVTOCREFVTOCREInvestment in IRIS

18436418AmortisedcostFVTOCREBorrower Notes

-2020FVTOCREFVTOCREUnlisted shares

- 1111,0371,148FVTSDLoans and
receivables

Derivative financial
instruments - not hedge
accounted

Additional information in relation to subsequent measurement classification assessment

PBE IPSAS41 requiresdebt instruments tobesubsequentlymeasureatFVTSD,amortisedcost,orFVTOCRE.This classification
is based on the business model for managing debt instruments, and whether the payments are for solely payments of
principal or interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Council hasassessed thebusinessmodel for its classesof financial assets at thedateof initial application.Debt instruments
are held mainly to collect, except for Council's listed bond portfolio which are held to collect and sell in accordance with
Council's Treasury Management Policy to meet capital requirements.

Council's debt instruments are solely comprised of contractual cash flows solely for payments of principal and interest, in
linewithbasic lendingarrangements. This assessmentwasbasedon the facts andcircumstancesasat the initial recognition
of the assets.
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PBE IPSAS 41 requires equity instruments to be classified at FVTSD. However, it permits entities to make an irrevocable
election on transition to PBE IPSAS 41 to subsequently measure at FVTOCRE if the shares are not held for trading. Council
has elected to subsequently measure the investment in IRIS and unlisted shares at FVOTCRE.

Waikato Regional Council has a series of policies tomanage the risks associated with financial instruments. The council is
risk averse and seeks to minimise exposure from its treasury activities. The council has established approved liability
management and investment policies. These policies do not allow any transactions that are speculative in nature to be
entered into.

(a) Financial instrument categories

Total

Fair value
through

Fair value
through other

Amortisedcosts
(2022: Loans

and
receivables)Assets

surplus or
deficit

comprehensive
revenue

$'000$'000$'000$'000

30 June 2023

18,721--18,721Cash and cash equivalent

25,767--25,767Receivables and prepayments

Other financial assets:

6,500--6,500Term Deposits

102,243102,243--Investment fund

1,255-1,255-Investments in CCOs

20-20-Unlisted shares

1,490--1,490Derivative financial instruments - not hedge
accounted

155,996102,2431,27552,478Total

30 June 2022

2,834--2,834Cash and cash equivalent

23,067--23,067Receivables and prepayments

Other financial assets:

20,405--20,405Term Deposits

100,441100,441--Investment fund

1,648-1,648-Investments in CCOs

20-20-Unlisted shares

1,148--1,148Derivative financial instruments - not hedge
accounted

149,563100,4411,66847,454Total

Total
Measured at

amortised cost

Liabilities at fair
value through

surplus or deficitLiabilities

$'000$'000$'000

30 June 2023

32,55632,556-Payables and accruals

30,39030,390-Borrowings secured loans
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62,94662,946-Total liabilities

30 June 2022

27,26427,264-Payables and accruals

2-2Derivative financial instruments - not hedge accounted

25,11925,119-Borrowing secured loans

52,38552,3832Total liabilities
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(b) Market risk

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrumentwill fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The
investment fund is a fully hedged asset apart from the Stewart Investors Fund (30 June 2023 AUD $8,662,384 converted to
NZD $9,411,543: exchange rate NZD/AUD: 0.9204). (30 June 2022 AUD $7,047,924 converted to NZD $7,794,652: exchange
rate NZD/AUD: 0.904)

The council purchasesplant andequipment associatedwith the constructionof certain infrastructureassets fromoverseas,
which require it to enter into transactions denominated in foreign currencies. As a result of these activities, exposure to
currency risk arises.

It is the council's policy to manage foreign currency risks arising from contractual commitments and liabilities that are
above $100,000 by entering into forward foreign exchange contracts to manage the foreign currency risk exposure. This
means that thecouncil is able to fix theNewZealanddollar amountpayableprior to thedeliveryof theplantandequipment
from overseas.

Price risk

Price risk is the risk that the valueof a financial instrumentwill fluctuate as a result of changes inmarket prices. The council
is exposed to equity securities price risk on its investments,whichare classified as financial assets held at fair value through
surplus and deficit. This price risk arises due to market movements in listed securities. This price risk is managed by
diversification of the council’s investment portfolio in accordancewith the limits set out in the council’s investment policy.

Fair value interest rate risk

Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the valueof a financial instrumentwill fluctuatedue to changes inmarket interest
rates.

If interest rates on the council's fixed interest financial instruments at 30 June 2023 had fluctuated by plus orminus 0.5 per
cent, the effect would have been to decrease/increase the fair value through comprehensive revenue reserve by $384,000
(2022:$331,000).

Borrowings issued at fixed rates of interest expose council to interest rate risk. The council's Treasury Risk Management
Policy sets a range of control limits for the fixed rate proportion of borrowings with different maturities. The range is from
amaximum of 60 per cent for debt maturing in any one period with a 15 per cent minimum placed on 0-3 years and 3-5
years periods.
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Cash flow interest rate risk

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the cash flows from a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market interest rates.

Generally, the council raises long termborrowingat floating rates and swaps them into fixed rates using interest rate swaps
to manage the cash flow interest rate risk. The council enters into interest rate swaps in order to manage the cash flow
interest rate risk. Such interest rate swaps have the economic effect of converting borrowings at floating rates into fixed
rates that are generally lower than those available if the council borrowed at fixed rates directly. Under the interest rate
swaps, the council agreeswith other parties to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between fixed contract rates
and floating rate interest amounts calculated by reference to the agreed notional principal amounts.

Sensitivity analysis

The tablesbelow illustrate thepotential surplusanddeficit andequity (excludingaccumulated funds) impact frompossible
marketmovements,withall other variablesheld constant, basedon the council's financial instrument exposures atbalance
date.

Interest rate risk30 June 2023

+100bps-100bps

EquitySurplusEquitySurplusInterest rate risk

$'000$'000$'000$'000

Financial assets

-187-(187)Cash and cash equivalents

-678-(720)Derivatives - non hedge accounting

-865-(907)Total sensitivity

Equity price risk30 June 2023

+100 bps-100bps

EquitySurplusEquitySurplusEquity price risk

Financial assets

-258-(258)Other financial assets

-258-(258)Total sensitivity to equity price risk

Interest rate risk30 June 2022

+100bps-100bps

EquitySurplusEquitySurplusInterest rate risk

Financial assets

-28-(28)Cash and cash equivalents

-802-(872)Derivatives - non hedge accounting

-830-(900)Total sensitivity

Equity price risk30 June 2022

+100bps-100bps
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EquitySurplusEquitySurplusEquity price risk

Financial assets

-231-(231)Other financial assets

-231-(231)Total sensitivity to equity price risk

Explanation of sensitivity analysis

The interest rate sensitivity is based on a reasonable possible movement in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, measured as a basis points (bps) movement. For example, a decrease in 100 bps is equivalent to a decrease in
interest rates of 1 per cent.

Cash and cash equivalents include deposits at call totalling $14.721 million (2022: $2.834 million) which are at floating
rates. A movement in interest rates of plus or minus 100bps (1.0 per cent) has an effect on interest revenue of $147,000
(2022 $28,000)

The sensitivity for derivatives (interest rate swaps) has been calculated using a derivative valuation model based on a
parallel shift in interest rates of -100bps/+100bps (2022 -100bps/+100bps).

(c) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its obligation to Waikato Regional Council, causing the council to
incur a loss.

Council is exposed tocredit riskasaguarantorofall of LocalGovernmentFundingAgency's (LGFA)borrowings. Information
about this exposure is explained in note 35.

The council has no significant concentrations of credit risk, as it has a large number of credit customers,mainly ratepayers,
and the council has powers under the Local Government (Rating) Act 2002 to recover outstanding debts from ratepayers.

Waikato Regional Council invests funds only in deposits with registered banks and local authority stock. Its investment
policy limits the amount of credit exposure to any one institution or organisation.

Other than other local authorities, the council only invests funds with those entities which have a Standard and Poor’s
credit rating of at least A2 for short-term and A- for long-term investments. Accordingly, the council does not require any
collateral or security to support these financial instruments.

Maximum exposure to credit risk

The council's maximum credit exposures for each class of financial instruments are as follows:

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Actual

$'000$'000

23,23925,221Cash at bank and term deposits

23,06725,767Debtors and other receivables

418481LGFA borrower notes

46,72451,469Total credit risk
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Credit quality of financial assets

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to Standard and
Poor's credit ratings (if available) or to historical information about counterparty default rates.

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Actual

$'000$'000

Counterparties with credit ratings

Cash at bank and term bank deposits

-6,500AA

23,23918,711AA-

23,23925,211Total

stock and government bonds

418481AAA

418481Total

Council has no financial assets with counterparties without credit ratings.

Debtors and other receivables mainly arise fromWaikato Regional Council's statutory functions, therefore there are no
procedures in place to monitor or report the credit quality of debtors and other receivables with reference to internal or
external credit ratings. Thecouncil hasnosignificant concentrationsof credit risk in relation todebtorsandother receivables,
as it has a large number of credit customers, mainly ratepayers, and the council has powers under the Local Government
(Rating) Act 2002 to recover outstanding debts from ratepayers.

(d) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that Waikato Regional Council will encounter difficulty raising liquid funds to meet commitments
as they fall due. Prudent liquidity riskmanagement impliesmaintaining sufficient cash, the availability of funding through
an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions. The council aims to
maintain flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit lines available.

In meeting its liquidity requirements, the council maintains a target level of investments that must mature within the next
12 months.

The council has a sweep facility in place. A sweep facility is an automatic system that transfers funds between the current
account and call account to improve cash management andmaximise interest on funds. The council nominated a target
balance for its current account of $10,000. Once all debits and credits have been processed every night (with the exception
of bank fees) the system automatically calculates the amount required to maintain the target balance. Funds are then
moved out of the current account into the nominated call account or if the current account has an overdrawn balance the
systemwill transfer funds back from the call account to retain the set balance of the current account.

Council utilises funding through the Local Government Funding Agency Limited (LGFA). As at 30 June 2023 council had
borrowed $30 million (2022 $25 million) and held borrower notes with a face value of $481,000 (2022 $418,000).

The council is also exposed to liquidity risk as a guarantor of all of LGFA's borrowings. This guarantee becomes callable in
the event of the LGFA failing to pay its borrowingswhen they fall due. Information about this exposure is contained in note
35.

Contractual maturity analysis of financial liabilities excluding derivatives

The table below analyses the council's financial liabilities into relevantmaturity groupings based on the period remaining
atbalancedateuntil the contractualmaturitydate. Future interestpaymentson floating ratedebtarebasedon the floating
rate on the instrument at the balance date. The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Carrying
Amount

Totalcontractual
cash flows

Over 5 yearsBetween 2
and 5 years

Between 1
and 2 years

Less than 1
year30 June 2023

Se
ct
io
n
4:

Pū
te
a
Fi
na

nc
es

113



(assets) /
liabilities

$'000$'000$'000$'000$'000$'000

32,55632,556---32,556Trade and other
payables

30,39035,5782,73815,1475,46312,229Securedborrowing

62,94668,1342,73815,1475,46344,785Total financial
liabilities

Carrying
Amount

Totalcontractual
cash flows

Over 5 yearsBetween 2
and 5 years

Between 1
and 2 years

Less than 1
year30 June 2022 (assets) /

liabilities

$'000$'000$'000$'000$'000$'000

27,26427,264---27,264Trade and other
payables

25,11926,9605,8697,7746,2037,114Securedborrowing

52,38354,2245,8697,7746,20334,378Total financial
liabilities

Contractual maturity analysis of derivative financial instrument liabilities

The table below analyses the council's financial liabilities into relevantmaturity groupings based on the period remaining
atbalancedateuntil the contractualmaturitydate. Future interestpaymentson floating ratedebtarebasedon the floating
rate on the instrument at the balance date. the amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Over 5 yearsBetween 2
and 5 years

Between 1
and 2 years

Less than 1
year

Contractual
cash flows

Liability
carrying
amount30 June 2023

$'000$'000$'000$'000$'000$'000

------
Net settled
derivative
liabilities

------Total

30 June 2022

---222
Net settled
derivative
liabilities

---222Total
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Contractual maturity analysis of financial assets

The table below analyses the council's financial liabilities into relevantmaturity groupings based on the period remaining
atbalancedateuntil the contractualmaturitydate. Future interestpaymentson floating ratedebtarebasedon the floating
rate on the instrument at the balance date. The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Carrying
Amount

Totalcontractual
cash flows

Over 5 yearsBetween 2
and 5 years

Between 1
and 2 years

Less than 1
year

30 June 2023

$'000$'000$'000$'000$'000$'000

18,72118,721---18,721Cash and cash
equivalents

25,76725,767---25,767Debtors and other
receivables

------Other financial
assets:

6,5006,500---6,500- term deposits

102,243102,24331,26230,59414,51825,869Investment fund

1,2551,25582422810796Investment in CCO

202020---Unlisted shares

154,506154,50632,10630,82214,62576,953Total financial
assets

Carrying
Amount

Totalcontractual
cash flows

Over 5 yearsBetween 2
and 5 years

Between 1
and 2 years

Less than 1
year

30 June 2022

$'000$'000$'000$'000$'000$'000

2,8342,834---2,834Cash and cash
equivalents

23,06723,067---23,067Debtors and other
receivables

------Other financial
assets:

20,40520,405---20,405- term deposits

100,441100,44127,95733,5845,62033,280Investment fund

1,6491,6491,32811296113Investment in CCO

202020---Unlisted shares

148,416148,41629,30533,6965,71679,699Total financial
assets

(e) Fair value hierarchy disclosures

For those instruments recognised at fair value in the statement of financial position, fair values are determined according
to the following hierarchy:

∙Quoted market price (level 1) – financial instruments with quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets.

∙Valuation technique using observable inputs (level 2) – financial instruments with quoted prices for similar instruments
in activemarkets or quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in inactivemarkets and financial instruments valued
using models where all significant inputs are observable.

∙Valuation techniques with significant non-observable inputs (level 3) – financial instruments valued using models where
one or more significant inputs are not observable.
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The following table analyses the basis of the valuation of classes of financial instruments measured at fair value in the
statement of financial position:

Significant
non-observable

inputs
Observable

inputs
Quotedmarket

priceTotal

$'000$'000$'000$'00030 June 2023

--1,4901,490Derivatives

--3,4323,432NZ local authority investments

--15,46315,463Corporate investments

--18,21118,211NZ cash/short term deposits

--21,44721,447Overseas bonds

--7,0557,055NZ Government guaranteed investments

--31,25231,252Equity investments

--5,3815,381Property

--103,733103,733Total financial assets

Financial liabilities

----Derivatives

----Total financial liabilities

Significant
non-observable

inputs
Observable

inputs
Quotedmarket

priceTotal

$'000$'000$'000$'00030 June 2022

--1,1481,148Derivatives

--3,6293,629NZ local authority investments

--16,58516,585Corporate investments

--18,32918,329NZ cash/short term deposits

--21,62521,625Overseas bonds

--6,7036,703NZ Government guaranteed investments

--27,86927,869Equity investments

--5,7015,701Property

--101,589101,589Total financial assets

Financial liabilities

--(2)(2)Derivatives

--(2)(2)Total financial liabilities

There were no transfers between the different levels of the fair value hierarchy during the period.

24 Receivables

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Actual
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$'000$'000

Exchange

Net trade receivables

11,36612,458Other receivables

(661)(763)Provision for doubtful receivables

10,70511,695Net debtors

10,70511,695Receivables from exchange transactions

Non-exchange

7,9588,640Rates receivables

3,0493,368Other receivables

4-Related party receivables

(814)(838)Provision for doubtful receivables

10,19711,170Net debtors

10,19711,170Receivables from non-exchange transactions

20,90222,865Total receivables

Fair value

Receivables are measured at their face value, less any provision for impairment.

Debtors and other receivables are non-interest bearing and receipt is normally on 30-day terms, therefore the carrying
value of debtors and other receivables approximates their fair value.

Impairment

Short-term receivables are recorded at the amount due, less an allowance for expected credit losses (ECL).

Council applied the simplified ECL model of recognising lifetime ECL for short-term receivables.

InmeasuringECLs, receivableshavebeengrouped into rates receivables, andother receivables, andassessedonacollective
basis as theypossess sharedcredit risk characteristics. Theyhave thenbeengroupedbasedon thedayspastdue. Aprovision
matrix is then established based on historical credit loss expenditure, adjusted for forward looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

Rates are "written-off":

• when remitted in accordance with Council's rates remission policy; and

• in accordancewith thewrite-off criteria of sections 90A (where rates cannot be reasonably recovered) and90B (in relation
to Māori freehold land) of the Local Government (Rating) Act 2002.

Other receivables arewritten-offwhen there is no reasonable expectationof recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include the debtor being in liquidation or the receivable being more than one year overdue.

Previous accounting policy

In the previous year, the allowance for credit losses was based on the incurred credit loss model. An allowance for credit
losses was recognised only when there was objective evidence that the amount due would not be fully collected.
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The fair value of receivables past due and impaired is as follows:

The fair value of receivables past due and impaired is as follows:

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Actual

$'000$'000

5,1655,998Past due > 120 days

(1,475)(1,601)Less impairment

3,6904,397Balance as at 30 June

The ageing profile of gross receivables not impaired is as follows:

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Actual

$'000$'000

14,81117,435Not past due

2,2811,135Past due 1-60 days

120(101)Past due 61-120 days

17,21218,468Balance as at 30 June

20,90222,865Grand total

Waikato Regional Council holds no collateral as security or other credit enhancements over receivables that are either past
due or impaired. All receivables greater than 30 days in age are considered to be past due.

There is no concentration of credit risk with respect to receivables as the council has a large number of customers.

The impairment provision has been calculated based on expected losses for Waikato Regional Council’s pool of debtors.
Expected losses have been determined based on an analysis ofWaikato Regional Council’s losses in previous periods, and
a review of specific debtors.

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Actual

$'000$'000

--Individual impairment

1,4751,601Collective impairment

1,4751,601Total provision for impairment

Individually impaired receivables have been determined to be impaired because of the significant financial difficulties
being experienced by the debtor.
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Movement in the provision for impairment of receivables is as follows:

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Actual

$'000$'000

1,5031,475At 1 July

544471Additional provisions made during the year

(572)(345)Receivables written off during the period

1,4751,601Total gross trade receivables

Thecouncil holdsnocollateral as securityorother credit enhancementsover receivables thatareeitherpastdueor impaired.
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Infrastructural assets - further disclosures

Additions

Most recent
replacement

Additions:
constructed by

council
Closing book

value30-June-2023

cost estimate
for revalued

assets

$'000$'000$'000

Infrastructural assets

-1,301950,483Flood protection and control works

01,301950,483Total infrastructural assets

Additions

Most recent
replacement

Additions:
constructed by

councilClosingbookvalue30-June-2022

cost estimate
for revalued

assets

$'000$'000$'000

Infrastructural assets

623,3118,985595,302Flood protection and control works

623,3118,985595,302Total infrastructural assets

Property, plant and equipment consists of:

Operational assets - these include land, buildings, plant and equipment, andmotor vehicles.

Infrastructure assets - infrastructure assets are the flood protection and erosion control assets ownedbyWaikato Regional
Council.

Operational land is measured at fair value, and buildings and infrastructural assets are measured at fair value less
accumulated depreciation. All other asset classes are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses.

Work in progress

Included in the operational fixed asset balances as at 30 June 2023 is work in progress in the following asset classes:
Buildings $13,000 (2022 $17,000), Vehicles $224,000 (2022 $218,000), Plant and equipment $3,170,000 includes $2,033,000
for constructing vessel, $229,000 for the excavator (2022 $617,000) and Information Technology $160,000 (2022 $179,000).

Valuation

Land and buildings and infrastructural assets (except land under roads) are revalued with sufficient regularity to ensure
that their carrying amount does not differ materially from fair value and at least every three years.

The carrying values of revalued assets are assessed annually to ensure that they do not differ materially from the assets’
fair values. If there is a material difference, then the off-cycle asset classes are revalued.

Revaluations of property, plant and equipment are accounted for on a class-of-asset basis.

The net revaluation results are credited or debited to other comprehensive revenue and expense and are accumulated to
anasset revaluation reserve inequity for that classof asset.Where thiswould result inadebit balance in theasset revaluation
reserve, this balance is not recognised in other comprehensive revenue and expense but is recognised in the surplus or
deficit. Any subsequent increase on revaluation that reverses a previous decrease in value recognised in the surplus or
deficit will be recognised first in the surplus or deficit up to the amount previously expensed, and then recognised in other
comprehensive revenue and expense.
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Operational land

Land is valued at fair value using market-based evidence based on its highest and best use with reference to comparable
land values.

Themost recent valuationwasperformedbyPSmith, independent registeredvaluer of SGHUValuations, and thevaluation
is effective as at 30 June 2021. The fair value of operational land and buildings was assessed as at 30 June 2023 by SGHU
Valuations. An adjustment has beenmade to reflect this valuation.

Operational buildings

Specialised buildings are valued at fair value using depreciated replacement cost because no reliable market data is
available for such buildings.

Depreciated replacement cost is determined using a number of significant assumptions. Significant assumptions include:

the replacement asset is based on the replacementwithmodern equivalent assetswith adjustmentswhere appropriate
for obsolescence due to over-design or surplus capacity

the replacement cost is derived fromrecent constructioncontractsof similar assets andProperty InstituteofNewZealand
cost information

the remaining useful life of assets is estimated

straight-line deprecation has been applied in determining the depreciated replacement cost value of the asset.

Non-specialisedbuildings (for example, residential buildings) are valuedat fair valueusingmarket-basedevidence.Market
rents and capitalisation rates are applied to reflect market value.

Themost recent valuationwasperformedbyPSmith, independent registeredvaluer of SGHUValuations, and thevaluation
is effective as at 30 June 2021. The fair value of operational land and buildings was assessed as at 30 June 2023 by SGHU
Valuations. An adjustment has beenmade to reflect this valuation.

Infrastructural assets

Infrastructural asset classes include the flood protection and drainage assets. These were valued at fair value using
depreciated replacement cost because no reliable market data is available.

Themost recent valuationwasperformedby independent valuerAndrewLiewofBecaProjectsNZLimited, and thevaluation
is effective as at 31 December 2022.

In valuing these assets, a number of assumptions were made especially relating to the attributes of the assets where this
information was not held in the database. Some of this information was obtained by visual inspections by the valuers,
checkingdesigndrawingswereavailableor takinganaverage fromother similar assetswhere thedatawasavailable.Given
the long term nature of these assets, estimated useful lives need to be reviewed periodically as the assets age andmore
reliable data is gathered on actual expiry lengths of asset types. This is also reviewed by the evidenced deterioration of the
asset through asset inspections and condition assessments. Values have been derived from the council’s record of recent
renewal or replacement project costs, the actual cost of recent new works and information held by the valuers for similar
types of work. All of these works have been undertaken in a competitive market place. The depreciated replacement cost
is estimated based on the age of the asset (in some cases this is an estimate) and the expected life of the asset.

Depreciated replacement cost is determined using a number of significant assumptions and estimates. Significant
assumptions and estimates include:

the replacement asset is based on the reproduction cost of the specific assets with adjustments where appropriate for
obsolescence due to over-design or surplus capacity.

the replacement cost is derived fromrecent constructioncontractsof similar assets andProperty InstituteofNewZealand
cost information

the remaining useful life of assets is estimated

straight-line depreciation has been applied in determining the depreciated replacement cost value of the asset.
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Infrastructural land

Land is valued at fair value using market-based evidence based on its highest and best use with reference to comparable
land values.

The most recent valuation was performed by Chrissy Wright-Stow, independent registered valuer of QV Valuations, and
the valuation is effective as at 31 December 2022.

Additions

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is probable that future
economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the council and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably.

Work in progress is recognised at cost less impairment and is not depreciated.

In most instances, an item of property, plant and equipment is initially recognised at its cost. Where an asset is acquired
through a non-exchange transaction, it is recognised at its fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Subsequent costs

Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised only when it is probable that future economic benefits or
service potential associated with the item will flow to the council and the cost of the item can bemeasured reliably.

The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant, and equipment are recognised in the surplus or deficit as they are
incurred.

Disposals

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the disposal proceeds with the carrying amount of the asset.
Gains and lossesondisposals are reportednet in the surplusordeficit.When revaluedassets are sold, theamounts included
in asset revaluation reserves in respect of those assets are transferred to accumulated funds.

No significant disposals have beenmade during 2023.

Impairment

Impairment losses of $Nil have been recognised by council during 2023 (2022: $615,000).

Collateral

No property, plant and equipment are pledged as security for liabilities, there are no restrictions on title.

Depreciation

Depreciation isprovidedonastraight-linebasisonall property, plantandequipmentother than landanddrainagenetworks,
at rates that will write-off the cost (or valuation) of the assets to their estimated residual values over their useful lives. The
useful lives and associated depreciation rates of major classes of assets have been estimated as follows:

Estimated useful life
(Years)Class of asset depreciated

Operational assets

25-75Buildings

15Leasehold Improvements

7.5Motor vehicles

4-5Computer equipment

7.5Office furniture

7.5-10Plant and Equipment
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Infrastructural Assets

50-100Bridges

100Channels

50Control gates

50-80Culverts

100Debris traps

80Detentions

50-80Drop structures

30Fencing

20-999Floodgates

20-80General structures

Not depreciatedPlantings

20-80Pump stations

30-100Retaining structures

50-100River training works

20-155Stopbanks

100Weirs

Estimated useful life
(Years)Class of asset depreciated

Operational assets

25-75Buildings

15Leasehold Improvements

7.5Motor vehicles

4-5Computer equipment

7.5Office furniture

7.5-10Plant and Equipment

Infrastructural Assets

50-100Bridges

100Channels

50Control gates

50-80Culverts

100Debris traps

80Detentions

50-80Drop structures

30Fencing

20-999Floodgates

20-80General structures

Se
ct
io
n
4:

Pū
te
a
Fi
na

nc
es

129



Not depreciatedPlantings

20-80Pump stations

30-100Retaining structures

50-100River training works

20-155Stopbanks

100Weirs

The residual value and useful life of an asset is reviewed, and adjusted if applicable, at each financial year end.

26 Intangible assets

Total
Computer
software

$'000$'000

Year ended 30 June 2023

6,6266,626Opening net book amount

2424Additions

(1,380)(1,380)Disposals

(29)(29)Work in progress

(978)(978)Amortisation charge

1,3371,337Write back amortisation on disposal

5,6005,600Closing net book amount

13,43513,435Cost

(7,835)(7,835)Accumulated amortisation and impairment

5,6005,600Net book amount
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Total
Computer
software

$'000$'000

Year ended 30 June 2022

6,7156,715Opening net book amount

533533Additions

(1,730)(1,730)Disposals

390390Work in progress

(1,012)(1,012)Amortisation charge

1,7301,730Write back amortisation on disposal

6,6266,626Closing net book amount

14,82114,821Cost

(8,195)(8,195)Accumulated amortisation and impairment

6,6266,626Net book amount

Realised gains and losses arising from the disposal of intangible assets are recognised in statement of comprehensive
revenue and expenditure in the year in which the disposal occurs.

Software acquisition and development

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the
specific software.

Costs that are directly associated with the development of software for internal use are recognised as an intangible asset.
Direct costs include the software development employee related costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Staff training costs are recognised as an expense when incurred.

Costs associated with maintaining computer software are recognised as an expense when incurred.

Costs associatedwithdevelopment andmaintenanceof the council’swebsite are recognisedas anexpensewhen incurred.

Amortisation and impairment

The carrying valueof an intangible assetwith a finite life is amortisedona straight-linebasis over its useful life. Amortisation
begins when the asset is available for use and ceases at the date that the asset is derecognised. The amortisation charge
for each period is recognised in the surplus or deficit.

The useful lives and associated amortisation rates of major classes of intangible assets have been estimated as follows:

4 yearsComputer software

Intangible assets subsequently measured at cost that have an indefinite useful life, or are not yet available for use, and
goodwill, are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment.

Intangible assets subsequentlymeasured at cost that have a finite useful life are reviewed for impairmentwhenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is regarded as impaired and the carrying amount
is written-down to the recoverable amount. The total impairment loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit. The reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit.
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There are no restrictions over the title of intangible assets, nor are any intangible assets pledged as security for liabilities
(2022: nil)

27 Forestry assets

Waikato Regional Council’s forestry asset comprises approximately 78 hectares (2022 78 hectares) of Pinus radiata forest
split between Ryan’s block and Kuaoiti Forest. The Kuaoiti Forest was completely harvested during the 2020/21 year and
hadapproximately 17 hectares replantedduring 2021/22. TheRyan's Block remains unchangedwith the plantations agesd
seven and eight years.

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Actual

$'000$'000

113177Balance as at 1 July

6447Gains / (losses) arising from changes attributable to physical changes

--Purchases

--Sales

--Harvest

--Gains/(losses) arising from changes attributable to price changes

177224Carrying amount at 30 June

Standing forestry assets are independently revalued annually to fair value less estimated costs to sell for one growth cycle.
Fair value is determined based on the present value of expected net cash flows discounted at a currentmarket determined
pre-tax rate. This calculation is basedonexisting sustainable fellingplansandassessments regardinggrowth, timberprices,
felling costs and silviculture costs and takes into consideration environmental, operational andmarket restrictions. Gains
or losses arising on initial recognition of forestry assets at fair value less estimated costs to sell and from a change in fair
value less estimated costs to sell are recognised in the statement of comprehensive revenue and expenditure.

Forestry maintenance costs are included in the surplus or deficit when incurred.

Carl Hanna, a member of New Zealand Institute of Forestry fromWood Marketing Services Ltd, has independently valued
the forestry assets as at 30 June 2023. The following significant assumptions have been adopted in determining the fair
value of forestry assets:

the forest has been valued on a going concern basis and only includes the value of the existing crops on a single rotation
basis

thevalueof the landhasbeen treatedas zerobecause forestry is currently thebestuseof the land fromanenvironmental
andmanagement perspective. The planted forest is part of an integrated land use pattern that mitigates soil erosion.

both buyer and seller are registered for GST and the impact on the transaction would be neutral.

The following taxation assumptions are made in respect of the forest purchaser:

rate of taxation is 28 per cent

tax losses and tax liability are assumed to be claimable/payable in the year costs are incurred or revenue received,

a value of Cost of Bush Account equal to the estimated tree crop value is included in the cashflow to be deducted against
future revenue,

the forest is retained by the prospective purchaser through to maturity,

the new ownership of the forest is effected by equity funding only,

no change in the New Zealand tax law for the cashflow period considered.
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Financial risk management strategies

Waikato Regional Council is exposed to financial risks arising from changes in timber prices. The council is a long-term
forestry investor and does not expect timber prices to decline significantly in the foreseeable future and therefore has not
taken any measures to manage the risks of a decline in timber prices. The council reviews its outlook for timber prices
regularly in considering the need for active financial risk management.

28 Depreciation and amortisation expense by group of activity

Directly attributable depreciation and amortisation expense by group of activity were:

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Actual

$'000$'000

-2Community and services

3823Civil defence emergency management

6,9748,727Flood protection and control works

22Integrated catchment management

1,1221,121Regional transport connections

-2Science, policy and information

3,0033,011Corporate and self funding

11,13912,888Total depreciation and amortisation expense

29 Asset insurance

As at 30 June 2023, the council held insurance contracts in relation to its property, plant and equipment, and Intangible
Assets on the following basis:

Total insurance contracts to the value of $150 million in relation to operational assets and intangible assets having a
book value of $27.471 million (2022 $26.748 million).

Total insurance contracts to the value of $300 million in relation to infrastructure assets having a book value of
$947.604million (2022: $539.795million). These insurance contracts provide for the recovery of 40 per cent of the costs
of loss or damage to declared assets. The council assumes that, in the event of a major disaster, Central Government
will meet the other 60 percent of costs.

An Insurance contract to the value of $12 million in relation to infrastructure assets having a book value of $947.604
million (2022: $539.795). This insuranceprovides for the recoveryof 100per centof the costs of lossordamage todeclared
assets in excess of the insurance policy deductible of $500,000.

The council’s infrastructure andmaterial damage insurance policies are held collectively with other councils in the region.
In the case of a major event affecting the assets of more than one council, the insurance cover would respond to costs
incurred by all councils impacted up to the maximum level of cover.

In addition to the insurance contracts noted above, the council maintains disaster recovery reserves to meet the costs of
damage to flood protection schemes that may not be recoverable through insurance (for example, costs associated with
channel clearance). At 30 June 2023 the balance of these reserves was $8.207 million (2022: $8.148 million).
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30 Inventories and work in progress

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Actual

$'000$'000

Inventory held for distribution

14211,372Rawmaterials at cost

Commercial inventories

Inventory held for use in the provision of services

934626Work in progress

2,3551,998Total inventory and work in progress

Inventories held for distribution or consumption in the provision of services that are not supplied on a commercial basis
aremeasured at cost (using the first-in first-out (FIFO)method) adjustedwhen applicable, for any loss of service potential.
Inventory acquired through non-exchange transactions are measured at fair value at the date of acquisition.

Inventories held for use in the production of goods and services on a commercial basis are valued at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. The cost of purchased inventory is determined using the FIFOmethod.

The amount of any write down for the loss of service potential or from the cost to net realisable value is recognised in the
surplus or deficit in the period of the write down.

Work in progress represents unbilled costs associated with consent processing and compliance monitoring. This balance
is reduced as costs are invoiced and become a debtor.

31 Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are used to manage exposure to foreign exchange and interest rate risks arising from the
council's financing activities. In accordance with its treasury policy, the council does not hold or issue derivative financial
instruments for trading purposes. The council has elected not to apply hedge accounting.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured at their fair value at each balance date with the resulting gain or loss recognised in the surplus or deficit.

A forward foreign exchange derivative is classified as current if the contract is due for settlement within 12 months of
balance date. Otherwise, the full fair value of forward foreign exchange derivatives is classified as non-current. The portion
of the fair value of an interest rate derivative that is expected to be realised or settledwithin 12months of the balance date
is classified as current, with the remaining portion of the derivative classified as non-current.

The associated gains or losses of derivatives that are not hedge accounted are recognised in the surplus or deficit.
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2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Actual

$'000$'000

Interest rate swaps

-16Interest rate swaps - current assets

1,1481,474Interest rate swaps - non current assets

2-Interest rate swaps - current liabilities

--Interest rate swaps - non current liabilities

1,1461,490Total net derivative financial instruments

Information about interest rate swaps

The notional principal amounts of the outstanding interest rate swap contracts totalled $21million (2022 $23million). The
fixed interest rates of interest rate swaps varied from 2.41% to 2.98%.

The council currently has no fair value hedges.

32 Creditors and other payables

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Actual

$'000$'000

Non-exchange

1,9181,627Funds held on behalf of third parties

1,9181,627Total creditors and other payables from non-exchange transactions

Exchange

12,64713,182Trade payables

3850Deposits and bonds

4,2116,889Accrued expenses

8,45010,808Other payables

25,34630,929Total creditors and other payables from exchange transactions

27,26432,556Total current creditors and other payables

Short-term creditors and other payables are recorded at their face value. Creditors and other payables are non-interest
bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms, therefore the carrying value of trade and other payable approximates
their fair value.
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33 Borrowing

Accounting policy

Borrowings are initially recognised at their fair value plus transaction costs. Interest dueon theborrowings is subsequently
accrued and added to the borrowings balance.

Borrowingsare classifiedas current liabilities unless the council hasanunconditional right todefer settlementof the liability
for at least 12 months after balance date.

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Actual

$'000$'000

7,02811,153Secured borrowing

7,02811,153Total secured current interest bearing borrowings

7,02811,153Total current portion

18,09019,237Secured borrowing

18,09019,237Total secured non-current interest bearing borrowings

18,09019,237Total non-current portion

25,11830,390Total secured interest bearing borrowings

Interest terms for secured loans

Council's secured debt of $30.390 million (2022 $25.118 million) is issued at a mixture of floating rates, with interest rates
reset quartely based on the 90-day bank bill rate plus a margin for credit risk, and fixed rates of interest. Council has 10
swap contracts in place (2022: 11). These swap contracts have a notional value of $21 million dollars (2022 $23 million).
The swaps convert part of council's borrowing from floating to fixed rates. The majority of swaps were put in place in the
2018/19 and 2019/20 financial years with three new swaps being entered into in the 2021/22 year. There was one swap
maturity during the 2022/23 year.

At 30 June 2023 total borrowings from the Local Government Funding Agency Ltd were $30million (2022 $25million). The
average cost of interest was 3.43 per cent (2022 3.06 per cent).

Security

The council's secured loans are secured over either targeted or general rates of the council.

Fair values

Due to interest rates on debt resetting to the market rate every three months, the carrying amounts of secured loans
approximates their fair value.
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34 Capital commitments and operating leases

Capital expenditure contracted for at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities as follows:

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Actual

$'000$'000

Capital commitments

651,721Vehicles

10463,894Other plant and equipment

12632Intangible assets

1,9053,288Flood protection and control

3,1428,935Total capital commitments

Capital commitments relate to property, plant, equipment and intangibles. There are no commitments at balance date for
forestry assets.

Operating leases as lessee

Waikato Regional Council leases property, plant and equipment in the normal course of its business. Themajority of these
leases have a non-cancellable term of 12 months. The future aggregate minimum lease payments to be collected under
non-cancellable operating leases are as follows.

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Actual

$'000$'000

3,5703,272Not later than one year

12,76512,146Later than one year and not later than five years

30,24023,552Later than five years

46,57538,970Total non-cancellable operating leases

The total minimum future sublease payments expected to be received under non-cancellable subleases at balance date is
$nil (2022 $nil).

Leases can be renewed at Waikato Regional Council’s option, with rents set by reference to current market rates for items
of equivalent age and condition.

There are no restrictions placed on Waikato Regional Council by any of the leasing arrangements.

Operating leases as lessor

Waikato Regional Council sub-leases part of a property it leases. This sublease has a non-cancellable term of six years.
The future aggregate minimum lease payments to be collected under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows.

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Actual

$'000$'000

14037Not later than one year

35-Later than one year and not later than five years

--Later than five years
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17537Total non-cancellable operating leases

The total minimum future sublease payments expected to be received under non-cancellable subleases at balance date is
$36,577 (2022 $175,000).

No contingent rents have been recognised during the period.

Operating leases

An operating lease is a lease that does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
asset.

Lease payments under an operating lease are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Lease incentives received are recognised in the surplus or deficit as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term.

35 Contingent liabilities

Unquantified claims

Waikato Regional Council was previously amember of the New ZealandMutual Liability Riskpool scheme ('Riskpool'). The
Scheme is inwind down, however the Council has an ongoing obligation to contribute to the scheme should a call bemade
in respect of any historical claims (to the extent those claims are not covered by reinsurance), and to fund the ongoing
operation of the scheme. The likelihoodof any call in respect of historical claims diminishes each year as limitation periods
expire. However, as a result of the Supreme Court decision on 1 August 2023 in Napier City Council v Local Government
Mutual Funds Trustee Limited, it has been clarified that Riskpool has a liability for that member's claim in relation to
non-weathertightdefects (inamixedclaim involvingbothweathertightandnon-weathertightdefects). Riskpoolhasadvised
that it is working through the implications of the Supreme Court decision. At this point any potential liability is unable to
be quantified.

Local Government Funding Agency

Waikato Regional Council is a guarantor of the New Zealand Local Government Funding Agency Limited (LGFA). The LGFA
was incorporated in December 2011 with the purpose of providing debt funding to local authorities in New Zealand and it
has a current credit rating from Standard and Poor’s of AAA.

Council is oneof 70 local authority guarantorsof theLGFAasat 30June2023. Theaggregateamountof uncalled shareholder
capital ($20million) is available in theevent that an imminentdefault is identified. Also, togetherwith theother shareholders
and guarantors, the council is a guarantor of all of LGFA’s borrowings. At 30 June 2023, LGFA had borrowings totaling
$17.684 billion (2022 $16.826 billion).

PBEAccountingStandards require thecouncil to initially recognise theguarantee liabilitybyapplying the12-monthexpected
credit loss (ECL) model - as fair value could not be reliably measured at initial recognition - and subsequently to recognise
it at the higher end of the provision for impairment at balance date determined by the ECLmodel and the amount initially
recognised.Council hasassessed the12-monthECLof theguarantee liability, basedonmarket informationon theunderlying
assets held by the LGFA. The estimated 12-month expected credit losses are immaterial due to the very low probability of
default by the LGFA in the next 12 months. Therefore, Council has not recognised this as a liability.
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36 Equity

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Actual

$'000$'000

220,754212,877Accumulated funds

508,999874,149Other reserves

729,7531,087,026Balance at 30 June 2023

Accumulated funds

221,239220,753Balance at 1 July

5,091(5,549)Transfer to reserves

(5,576)(2,327)Surplus/(deficit) for the year

220,754212,877Balance 30 June

Balance
30 June

Transfers
out of
fund

Transfers
into fund

Balance1
July

Activities to which the reserve relates
Reserve

$'000$'000$'000$'000

2023

4,732(971)1,1154,588Integratedcatchmentmanagement; Flood
protection and control works

Regional disaster
recovery

(1,473)(10,998)9,395130Integratedcatchmentmanagement; Flood
protection and control worksWaihouPiakoScheme

1,632(770)-2,402Flood protection and control worksLower Waikato main
channel

11,433(20,570)21,55010,453Integratedcatchmentmanagement; Flood
protection and control worksWatershed

4,011(5,431)5,1154,328Integratedcatchmentmanagement; Flood
protection and control worksCoromandel

570(2,763)2,989345Integratedcatchmentmanagement; Flood
protection and control worksWest coast

3,475(1,017)9333,559Integratedcatchmentmanagement; Flood
protection and control worksZonedisaster recovery

(967)(7,879)8,202(1,289)Flood protection and control worksDrainage

186(13,188)13,074300Civil defenceCivil defence

262(692)523430Integrated catchment managementNatural heritage

3,082(34,203)33,1704,113Integrated catchment managementBiosecurity

71(217)25039Integrated catchment managementEnvironmental
initiatives

2,369(2,520)4,058832Community and servicesGeneral

528(1,267)1,310487Resource usePermitted activity
monitoring

90(28)3187Resource useBuilding Act
contingency
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72--72Resource useComplaints and
enforcement

677(676)837517Science, policy and informationStock truck effluent

3,544(19,680)21,7521,473Public transportPublic transport

348(52)51348Corporate (council controlled
organisations)

Integrated Regional
Information System
(IRIS)

967(4,240)4,304901CorporateMotor vehicle and
plant

747(400)400747CorporateOperational fixed
asset depreciation

550--550CorporateCommunications
network

(5,643)(20,906)16,391(1,128)Corporate (Treasury)Investment fund
equalisation

24,936(8,474)14,04219,368Corporate (Treasury)Investment fund
capital protection

3(56)-58Flood protection and control worksPathways to the sea

1,490(8,534)10,153(130)CorporateDerivative Financial
Instrument

93--93Integratedcatchmentmanagement; Flood
protection and control worksShovel Ready Reserve

93--93Science, policy and informationHauraki plan change

6,844(550)2757,119Science, policy and informationRegionaldevelopment
fund

399--398Science, policy and informationContaminated Land
Investigation

20-20-ResilientDevelopment
Reserve

1,691(1,852)3,543-Science, policy and informationHealthy rivers internal
loan

66,832(167,934)173,48361,283

Balance
30 June

Transfers
out of
fund

Transfers
into fund

Balance1
July

Activities to which the reserve relates
Reserve

$'000$'000$'000$'000

2022

4,588(681)7894,480Integratedcatchmentmanagement; Flood
protection and control works

Regional disaster
recovery

130(12,134)13,073(809)Integratedcatchmentmanagement; Flood
protection and control worksWaihouPiakoScheme

2,402--2,402Flood protection and control worksLower Waikato main
channel

10,453(16,418)18,0788,793Integratedcatchmentmanagement; Flood
protection and control worksWatershed

4,328(3,704)4,2013,831Integratedcatchmentmanagement; Flood
protection and control worksCoromandel
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345(2,855)3,016184Integratedcatchmentmanagement; Flood
protection and control worksWest coast

3,559(551)6353,475Integratedcatchmentmanagement; Flood
protection and control worksZonedisaster recovery

(1,289)(7,636)7,999(1,652)Flood protection and control worksDrainage

300(9,756)10,243(187)Waikato civil defense and emergency
management groupCivil defence

430(2,875)2,468837Integrated catchment managementNatural heritage

4,113(28,017)28,9223,208Integrated catchment managementBiosecurity

39(351)391(1)Integrated catchment managementEnvironmental
initiatives

832(1,418)7661,484Community and servicesGeneral

487(1,941)2,000428Resource usePermitted activity
monitoring

87(24)2784Resource useBuilding Act
contingency

72--72Resource useComplaints and
enforcement

517(213)285445Science, policy and informationStock truck effluent

1,473(19,110)18,7691,814Public transportPublic transport

348(252)211389Corporate (council controlled
organisations)

Integrated Regional
Information System
(IRIS)

901(536)689748CorporateMotor vehicle and
plant

747(500)-1,247CorporateOperational fixed
asset depreciation

550--550CorporateCommunications
network

(1,128)(24,112)9,33813,646Corporate (Treasury)Investment fund
equalisation

19,368(1,232)7,50813,092Corporate (Treasury)Investment fund
capital protection

58(155)77136Flood protection and control worksPathways to the sea

(130)(638)1,678(1,170)Corporate (Treasury)Derivative Financial
Instruments

93--93Integratedcatchmentmanagement; Flood
protection and control worksShovel Ready Reserve

93--93Science, policy and informationHauraki plan change

7,119--7,119Science, policy and informationRegionaldevelopment
fund

398--398Science, policy and informationContaminated Land
Investigation

61,283(135,109)131,16365,229
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Balance 30
June

Transfers out
of fund

Transfers into
fundBalance 1 July

$'000$'000$'000$'000

Asset revaluation reserve 2023

(241)(241)--Operational buildings

3,738--3,738Operational Land

Infrastructural assets

994-136858- Bridges

38,586-23,73514,851- Channels

377-377-- Control gates

2,818-1,945873- Culverts

119(59)178- Debris traps

14,165-11,1183,047- Detentions

2-2-- Drop structures

4,728-4004,328- Fencing

36,169-7,75828,411- Floodgates

57,689(431)58,120- Land

171-57114- Plantings

36,439-12,65123,788- Pump stations

4,274(5,294)9,568- Retaining structures

1,173-680493- River training works

601,412-303,708297,704- Stopbanks

3,912-2,4871,425- Structures

792-573219- Weirs

807,317(6,025)365,627447,715Balance at 30 June

Balance 30
June

Transfers out
of fund

Transfers into
fundBalance 1 July

$'000$'000$'000$'000

Asset revaluation reserve 2022

----Operational buildings

3,738--3,738Operational Land

Infrastructural assets

858--858- Bridges

14,851(26)9,4065,471- Channels

----- Control gates

873--873- Culverts

178--178- Debris traps
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3,047-3,047- Detentions

4,328--4,328- Fencing

28,411(385)-28,796- Floodgates

58,12013,35944,761- Land

114--114- Plantings

23,788(446)(613)24,847- Pump stations

9,568(2)-9,570- Retaining structures

493--493- River training works

297,704(285)50,449247,540- Stopbanks

1,425--1,425- Structures

219(1)-220- Weirs

447,715(1,145)72,601376,259Balance at 30 June

2021/22
Last year

2022/23
Actual

$'000$'000

376,259447,715Balance 1 July

72,601359,486Revaluation adjustment

(1,145)116Transfer to accumulated funds on disposal of property

447,715807,317Balance 30 June

Disaster recovery (regional and zone)

To provide funding to respond to natural disaster events, including the funding of insurance excesses.

Waihou Piako Scheme

To recognise the difference between actual and budgeted expenditure in relation to this zone. This activity is funded by
way of a targeted rate. The application of a reserve ensures that the targeted rate revenue is only applied for the purpose
it was charged. The reserve also recognises revenue generated to fund capital expenditure.

Watershed (including lower Waikato main channel)

To recognise the difference between actual and budgeted expenditure in relation to this zone. This activity is funded by
way of a targeted rate. The application of a reserve ensures that the targeted rate revenue is only applied for the purpose
it was charged. The reserve also recognises revenue generated to fund capital expenditure.

Coromandel

To recognise the difference between actual and budgeted expenditure in relation to this zone. This activity is funded by
way of a targeted rate. The application of a reserve ensures that the targeted rate revenue is only applied for the purpose
it was charged. The reserve also recognises revenue generated to fund capital expenditure

West coast

To recognise the difference between actual and budgeted expenditure in relation to this zone. This activity is funded by
way of a targeted rate. The application of a reserve ensures that the targeted rate revenue is only applied for the purpose
it was charged. The reserve also recognises revenue generated to fund capital expenditure.
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Drainage

To recognise the difference between actual and budgeted expenditure in relation to the council’s land drainage functions.
This activity is funded by way of a targeted rate. The application of a reserve ensures that the targeted rate revenue is only
applied for the purpose it was charged. The reserve also recognises revenue generated to fund capital expenditure

Civil defence

To recognise the difference between actual and budgeted expenditure in relation to civil defence function. This activity is
funded byway of a targeted rate. The application of a reserve ensures that the targeted rate revenue is only applied for the
purpose it was charged. The reserve also recognises revenue generated to fund capital expenditure

Natural Heritage

To recognise thedifferencebetweenactual andbudgetednatural heritageexpenditure. Applications to theNaturalHeritage
fund occur in an ad hoc manner. Maintenance of a reserve ensures that funds can be accumulated across financial years,
andmade available once suitable applications for funding are received.

Biosecurity

To recognise the difference between actual and budgeted biosecurity expenditure. This activity is funded by way of a
targeted rate. The application of a reserve ensures that the targeted rate revenue is only applied for the purpose it was
charged.

Environmental Initiatives

To recognise the difference between actual and budgeted expenditure in relation to the Environmental Initiatives Fund.
Expenditure from the Environmental Initiatives Fund is dependent on applications received each financial year. The use
of a reserve ensures that unspent funds can be accumulated across financial years.

General

To smooth the costs of the triennial elections over the three year term of the council.

Permitted activity monitoring

To recognise thedifferencebetweenactual andbudgetedpermittedactivitymonitoringexpenditure. Thisactivity is funded
bywayof a targeted rate. The applicationof a reserve ensures that the targeted rate revenue is only applied for thepurpose
it was charged.

Building Act contingency

A legal contingency fund in relation to the council’s responsibilities under the Building Act 2004. Waikato Regional Council
acts as the consenting authority on behalf of a number of other local authorities.

Complaints and enforcement

The compliance and enforcement reserve is held tomanage variability in the annual revenue generated from this activity.
While abudgetprovision for revenue recoveries ismade, actual revenue receivedmayvary fromthis amountdue tomatters
outside of the control of the council.

Stock truck effluent

To recognise the difference between actual and budgeted expenditure in relation to this activity.

Public transport

To recognise the difference between actual and budgeted passenger transport expenditure. This activity is funded by way
of a targeted rate. The application of a reserve ensures that the targeted rate revenue is only applied for the purpose it was
charged. The reservebalancewill beheldat a level thatprovides somemitigationagainst increasing costs for these services.
This reserve will also be used for the electronic ticketing system.
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Integrated Regional Information System (IRIS)

To allow funding for the IRIS project to be smoothed over the development period. The reserve is expected to be fully
expended once the project is completed.

Motor vehicle and plant

To recognise the difference between actual and budgeted expenditure. Reserve funds may be applied to the funding of
vehicle and plant capital expenditure.

Computer

To recognise the difference between actual and budgeted expenditure. Reserve funds may be applied to the funding of
information technology capital expenditure.

Operational fixed asset depreciation

To recognise thedifferencebetweenbudgetedandactualoperational fixedassetdepreciation. Toensure thatdepreciation
funding is not applied to general council expenditure.

Communications network

To recognise the difference between actual and budgeted expenditure. Reserve funds may be applied to the funding of
communications network capital expenditure.

Investment fund equalisation

To provide a smoothing of the impact of variable investment fund returns over time. The investment equalisation reserve
tracks the difference between the budgeted fund return and the actual fund return each year.

Investment fund capital protection

To recognise the provision for the investment fund inflation proofing.

Pathways to the sea

To hold funds set aside for the council’s contribution to developing a strategy for the management of downstream fish
passage impediments associated with council owned flood protection schemes in the Waikato region.

Derivative financial instruments

To recognise the fluctuations in the value of derivative financial instruments. As financial instruments are held tomaturity,
movements in the value of the instruments are not realised.

Shovel ready reserve

To recognise the difference between actual and budgeted revenue and expenditure in relation to shovel ready projects.

Hauraki plan change

To track funding set aside for the development of the change to the Regional Plan for the Hauraki Catchment area.

Regional Development Fund

To track funding set aside to form the council's regional development fund.

Asset revaluation reserve

The property, plant and equipment revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation
of non-current assets.

Resilient development reserve

To recognise the difference between actual and budgeted expenditure. Reserve funds will be applied to the resilient
development operational expenditure
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Healthy Rivers Internal Loan

To allow the funding for costs incurred through the Healthy Rivers Wai Ora Implementation Plan to be spread over the
agreed funding period.

Accounting Policy

Equity is the community's interest in the council and ismeasuredas thedifferencebetween total assets and total liabilities.
Equity is disaggregated and classified into the following components:

accumulated funds

property revaluation reserves

restricted reserves.

Restricted reserves

The council created reserves are a component of equity generally representing a particular use to which various parts of
equity have been assigned. Reserves may be legally restricted or created by the council.

Restricted reserves include those subject to specific conditions accepted as binding by the council and which may not be
revised by the council without reference to the courts or a third party. Transfers from these reservesmay bemade only for
certain specified purposes or when certain specified conditions are met.

Also included in restricted reserves are reserves restrictedby council decision. The councilmayalter themwithout reference
to any third party or the courts. Transfers to and from these reserves are at the discretion of the council.

Property revaluation reserve

This reserve relates to the revaluation of property, plant and equipment to fair value.

37 Capital management

Thecouncil’s capital is its equity (or ratepayer’s funds),whichcomprises retainedearningsandreserves. Equity is represented
by net assets.

TheLocalGovernmentAct2002 (theAct) requires thecouncil tomanage its revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, investments
and general financial dealings prudently and in amanner that promotes the current and future interests of the community.
Ratepayers' funds are largely managed as a by-product of managing revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, investments
and general financial dealings.

The objective of managing these items is to achieve intergenerational equity, which is a principle promoted in the Act and
applied by the council. Intergenerational equity requires today’s ratepayers to meet the costs of utilising the council's
assets but not expecting them tomeet the full cost of long-term assets that will benefit ratepayers in future generations.
Additionally, thecouncil has inplaceassetmanagementplans formajor classesofassetsdetailing renewalandmaintenance
programmes, to ensure ratepayers in future generations are not required to meet the costs of deferred renewals and
maintenance.

The Act requires the council to make adequate and effective provision in its long term plan (LTP) and in its annual plan
(where applicable) to meet the expenditure needs identified in those plans. The Act sets out the factors the council is
required to consider when determining themost appropriate sources of funding for each of its activities. The sources and
the levels of funding are set out in the funding and financial policies in the LTP.

Waikato Regional Council has the following council created reserves:

reserves for different areas of benefit

self-insurance reserves.

Reserves for different areas of benefit are usedwhere there is a discrete set of rate or levy payers as distinct from the payers
of general rate. Any surplus or deficit relating to these separate areas of benefit is applied to the specific reserves.

Self-insurance reserves are built up annually from rates and aremade available for specific unforeseen events. The release
of these funds generally can only be approved by the council.
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38 Compliance with the council's policies

The Local Government Act 2002 requires all local authorities to prepare the following policies and plans:

long term plan

revenue and financing policy

treasury risk management policy (incorporating liability and investment management policies

development contributions or financial contributions policy

remission and postponement of rates on Maori freehold land.

In addition, local authorities may adopt a rates remission policy and a rates postponement policy.

39 Events occuring after the balance sheet date

No significant events have occurred after balance date that would impact these financial statements.

40 Statements of service performance

Under the Local Government Act 2002, the council is required to report on its performance as it relates to measures
established in the annual plan. Elements of cost, quality, quantity, timeliness and location (where applicable) must be
built into each service performance area. These elements have been covered. Quality processes (which affect the quality
of output) are also a standard feature of the internal management control systems, in particular as follows.

Preparation of internal reports

Internal reports are prepared by suitably qualified and experienced staff. Significant reports are subject to a peer review
process/consultation review.

Capital works

Capital works are constructed to design specifications. Inspections of works are undertaken by suitably qualified and
experienced engineers.

Maintenance works

Maintenanceworksareundertakenbyemployeesorby contractunder the supervisionof suitablyqualifiedandexperienced
engineers andmonitored thereafter in accordance with the maintenance programme.

Performance review

Aspart of theannual planningand reporting cycle, theorganisation's performance is formally assessedby the council three
times during the financial year. At these reviews, progress with the achievement of the performance measures stated in
theAnnualPlan is evaluated.Where circumstanceshavechanged, adjustmentsaremade to thebudget througha resolution
of the council.
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Ngā tahua ā-wāhanga | Group of

activity funding impact statements
Customer, community and services

2023
Actual
($000)

2023
LTP

(Amended)
($000)

2022
LTP

(Amended)
($000)

Sources of operating funding

6,1556,2286,121General rates, uniform annual general charges, rates penalties

1,0611,312889Targeted rates

---Subsidies and grants for operating purposes

87--Fees and charges

---Internal charges and overheads recovered

-87-Local authorities fuel tax, fines, infringement fees, and other receipts

7,3037,6267,009Total operating funding (A)

Applications of operating funding

6,8475,3564,639Payments to staff and suppliers

24178130Finance costs

2,7782,1402,092Internal charges and overheads applied

-255-Other operating funding applications

9,6497,9286,860Total applications of operating funding (B)

(2,346)(302)149Surplus (deficit) of operating funding (A-B)

Sources of capital funding

---Subsidies and grants for capital expenditure

---Development and financial contributions

2,9641,538983Increase (decrease) in debt

---Gross proceeds from the sale of assets

---Lump sum contributions

---Other dedicated capital funding

2,9641,538983Total sources of capital funding (C)

Applications of capital funding

Capital expenditure
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---- to meet additional demand

---- to improve the level of service

---- to replace existing assets

6181,2361,132Increase (decrease) in reserves

---Increase (decrease) of investments

6181,2361,132Total applications of capital funding (D)

2,346302(149)Surplus (deficit) of capital funding (C-D)

---Funding balance ((A-B)+(C-D))

Waikato Civil Defence Emergency Management Group

2023 Actual
($000)

2023 LTP
(Amended)

($000)

2022 LTP
(Amended)

($000)

Sources of operating funding

---General rates, uniform annual general charges, rates penalties

2,5352,4922,449Targeted rates

450--Subsidies and grants for operating purposes

942766759Fees and charges

---Internal charges and overheads recovered

---Local authorities fuel tax, fines, infringement fees, and other receipts

3,9273,2583,208Total operating funding (A)

Applications of operating funding

2,8932,3492,317Payments to staff and suppliers

---Finance costs

1,062888868Internal charges and overheads applied

---Other operating funding applications

3,9553,2373,185Total applications of operating funding (B)

(28)2123Surplus (deficit) of operating funding (A-B)

Sources of capital funding

---Subsidies and grants for capital expenditure

---Development and financial contributions

---Increase (decrease) in debt

---Gross proceeds from the sale of assets

---Lump sum contributions
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---Other dedicated capital funding

---Total sources of capital funding (C)

Applications of capital funding

Capital expenditure

---- to meet additional demand

---- to improve the level of service

---- to replace existing assets

(28)2123Increase (decrease) in reserves

---Increase (decrease) of investments

(28)2123Total applications of capital funding (D)

28(21)(23)Surplus (deficit) of capital funding (C-D)

---Funding balance ((A-B)+(C-D))

Regional hazards and emergency response

2023 Actual
($000)

2023 LTP
(Amended)

($000)

2022 LTP
(Amended)

($000)

Sources of operating funding

1,8671,8181,601General rates, uniform annual general charges, rates penalties

---Targeted rates

---Subsidies and grants for operating purposes

58587217Fees and charges

---Internal charges and overheads recovered

---Local authorities fuel tax, fines, infringement fees, and other receipts

1,9252,4041,817Total operating funding (A)

Applications of operating funding

1,2461,432974Payments to staff and suppliers

---Finance costs

1,770973844Internal charges and overheads applied

---Other operating funding applications

3,0162,4041,817Total applications of operating funding (B)

(1,091)--Surplus (deficit) of operating funding (A-B)

Sources of capital funding
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---Subsidies and grants for capital expenditure

---Development and financial contributions

---Increase (decrease) in debt

---Gross proceeds from the sale of assets

---Lump sum contributions

---Other dedicated capital funding

---Total sources of capital funding (C)

Applications of capital funding

Capital expenditure

---- to meet additional demand

---- to improve the level of service

---- to replace existing assets

(1,091)--Increase (decrease) in reserves

--Increase (decrease) of investments

(1,091)--Total applications of capital funding (D)

1,091--Surplus (deficit) of capital funding (C-D)

---Funding balance ((A-B)+(C-D))

Flood protection and control works

2023 Actual
($000)

2023 LTP
(Amended)

($000)

2022 LTP
(Amended)

($000)

Sources of operating funding

3,2353,2392,868General rates, uniform annual general charges, rates penalties

22,16322,31219,990Targeted rates

3,096--Subsidies and grants for operating purposes

1,340772772Fees and charges

4,9664,9174,818Internal charges and overheads recovered

---Local authorities fuel tax, fines, infringement fees, and other receipts

34,80031,24028,448Total operating funding (A)

Applications of operating funding

14,29712,91312,388Payments to staff and suppliers

75664327Finance costs

12,74110,34510,105Internal charges and overheads applied
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---Other operating funding applications

27,11323,92222,820Total applications of operating funding (B)

7,6877,3185,628Surplus (deficit) of operating funding (A-B)

Sources of capital funding

-5,0817,078Subsidies and grants for capital expenditure

---Development and financial contributions

2,44910,25917,377Increase (decrease) in debt

---Gross proceeds from the sale of assets

---Lump sum contributions

---Other dedicated capital funding

2,44915,34124,456Total sources of capital funding (C)

Applications of capital funding

Capital expenditure

---- to meet additional demand

-4,0622,930- to improve the level of service

10,87720,32927,262- to replace existing assets

(741)(1,734)(109)Increase (decrease) in reserves

---Increase (decrease) of investments

10,13622,65830,083Total applications of capital funding (D)

(7,687)(7,318)(5,628)Surplus (deficit) of capital funding (C-D)

---Funding balance ((A-B)+(C-D))

Integrated catchment management

2023 Actual
($000)

2023 LTP
(Amended)

($000)

2022 LTP
(Amended)

($000)

Sources of operating funding

10,42411,45710,005General rates, uniform annual general charges, rates penalties

20,65120,37618,639Targeted rates

5,7351,9761,669Subsidies and grants for operating purposes

2,7405,9086,261Fees and charges

1,3432,1252,062Internal charges and overheads recovered

77--Local authorities fuel tax, fines, infringement fees, and other receipts

40,97041,84238,636Total operating funding (A)
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Applications of operating funding

30,13631,44229,633Payments to staff and suppliers

(108)(41)(52)Finance costs

9,89410,85410,456Internal charges and overheads applied

---Other operating funding applications

39,92242,25540,037Total applications of operating funding (B)

1,048(413)(1,401)Surplus (deficit) of operating funding (A-B)

Sources of capital funding

---Subsidies and grants for capital expenditure

---Development and financial contributions

---Increase (decrease) in debt

---Gross proceeds from the sale of assets

---Lump sum contributions

---Other dedicated capital funding

---Total sources of capital funding (C)

Applications of capital funding

Capital expenditure

---- to meet additional demand

-8078- to improve the level of service

296--- to replace existing assets

752(493)(1,479)Increase (decrease) in reserves

---Increase (decrease) of investments

1,048(413)(1,401)Total applications of capital funding (D)

(1,048)4131,401Surplus (deficit) of capital funding (C-D)

---Funding balance ((A-B)+(C-D))

Regional transport connections

2023 Actual
($000)

2023 LTP
(Amended)

($000)

2022 LTP
(Amended)

($000)

Sources of operating funding

1,8691,7181,615General rates, uniform annual general charges, rates penalties

13,20813,21012,432Targeted rates
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24,22629,08021,813Subsidies and grants for operating purposes

7,57810,4619,052Fees and charges

---Internal charges and overheads recovered

---Local authorities fuel tax, fines, infringement fees, and other receipts

46,88154,46944,912Total operating funding (A)

Applications of operating funding

40,05243,74441,059Payments to staff and suppliers

---Finance costs

3,4103,1433,036Internal charges and overheads applied

---Other operating funding applications

43,46246,88744,095Total applications of operating funding (B)

3,4197,582817Surplus (deficit) of operating funding (A-B)

Sources of capital funding

---Subsidies and grants for capital expenditure

---Development and financial contributions

---Increase (decrease) in debt

---Gross proceeds from the sale of assets

---Lump sum contributions

---Other dedicated capital funding

---Total sources of capital funding (C)

Applications of capital funding

Capital expenditure

---- to meet additional demand

3685,4542,014- to improve the level of service

---- to replace existing assets

3,0512,128(1,197)Increase (decrease) in reserves

---Increase (decrease) of investments

3,4197,582817Total applications of capital funding (D)

(3,419)(7,582)(817)Surplus (deficit) of capital funding (C-D)

---Funding balance ((A-B)+(C-D))
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Resource use

2023 Actual
($000)

2023 LTP
(Amended)

($000)

2022 LTP
(Amended)

($000)

Sources of operating funding

10,99710,73810,199General rates, uniform annual general charges, rates penalties

1,5911,5601,443Targeted rates

70--Subsidies and grants for operating purposes

8,3598,2407,848Fees and charges

(1)--Internal charges and overheads recovered

300441422Local authorities fuel tax, fines, infringement fees, and other receipts

21,31620,97819,912Total operating funding (A)

Applications of operating funding

11,91912,14311,531Payments to staff and suppliers

183165120Finance costs

9,4479,2688,649Internal charges and overheads applied

---Other operating funding applications

21,54921,57520,300Total applications of operating funding (B)

(233)(597)(388)Surplus (deficit) of operating funding (A-B)

Sources of capital funding

---Subsidies and grants for capital expenditure

---Development and financial contributions

(319)2,395585Increase (decrease) in debt

---Gross proceeds from the sale of assets

---Lump sum contributions

---Other dedicated capital funding

(319)2,395585Total sources of capital funding (C)

Applications of capital funding

Capital expenditure

---- to meet additional demand

2,1331,801200- to improve the level of service

53144140- to replace existing assets

(2,738)(147)(143)Increase (decrease) in reserves

---Increase (decrease) of investments
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(552)1,798197Total applications of capital funding (D)

233597388Surplus (deficit) of capital funding (C-D)

---Funding balance ((A-B)+(C-D))

Science, policy and information

2023 Actual
($000)

2023 LTP
(Amended)

($000)

2022 LTP
(Amended)

($000)

Sources of operating funding

26,40626,12623,888General rates, uniform annual general charges, rates penalties

---Targeted rates

-00Subsidies and grants for operating purposes

4,8784,3324,119Fees and charges

155155155Internal charges and overheads recovered

750750750Local authorities fuel tax, fines, infringement fees, and other receipts

32,18931,36328,912Total operating funding (A)

Applications of operating funding

18,01819,66717,840Payments to staff and suppliers

747784Finance costs

12,31211,68610,876Internal charges and overheads applied

---Other operating funding applications

30,40431,43028,800Total applications of operating funding (B)

1,785(67)112Surplus (deficit) of operating funding (A-B)

Sources of capital funding

---Subsidies and grants for capital expenditure

---Development and financial contributions

(319)(319)(312)Increase (decrease) in debt

---Gross proceeds from the sale of assets

---Lump sum contributions

---Other dedicated capital funding

(319)(319)(312)Total sources of capital funding (C)

Applications of capital funding

Capital expenditure
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---- to meet additional demand

732951- to improve the level of service

6681,370711- to replace existing assets

798(2,487)(1,862)Increase (decrease) in reserves

---Increase (decrease) of investments

1,466(386)(200)Total applications of capital funding (D)

(1,785)67(112)Surplus (deficit) of capital funding (C-D)

---Funding balance ((A-B)+(C-D))

Corporate, self funding and other

2023 Actual
($000)

2023 LTP
(Amended)

($000)

2022 LTP
(Amended)

($000)

Sources of operating funding

647682254General rates, uniform annual general charges, rates penalties

---Targeted rates

1--Subsidies and grants for operating purposes

1,0461,1201,120Fees and charges

46,95143,32141,088Internal charges and overheads recovered

5,4094,1343,989Local authorities fuel tax, fines, infringement fees, and other receipts

54,05449,25746,450Total operating funding (A)

Applications of operating funding

52,21242,62241,511Payments to staff and suppliers

935302311Finance costs

-320314Internal charges and overheads applied

---Other operating funding applications

53,14743,24442,137Total applications of operating funding (B)

9076,0134,313Surplus (deficit) of operating funding (A-B)

Sources of capital funding

---Subsidies and grants for capital expenditure

---Development and financial contributions

496182410Increase (decrease) in debt

---Gross proceeds from the sale of assets

---Lump sum contributions
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---Other dedicated capital funding

496182410Total sources of capital funding (C)

Applications of capital funding

Capital expenditure

---- to meet additional demand

-1,063225- to improve the level of service

1,7931,6101,701- to replace existing assets

(390)3,5222,797Increase (decrease) in reserves

---Increase (decrease) of investments

1,4036,1954,723Total applications of capital funding (D)

(907)(6,013)(4,313)Surplus (deficit) of capital funding (C-D)

---Funding balance ((A-B)+(C-D))

Whole of council

2023
Actual
($000)

2023
Annual Plan

($000)

2022
Actual
($000)

2022
Annual Plan

($000)

Sources of operating funding

61,59961,65255,87456,550General rates, uniform annual general charges, rates
penalties

61,21061,09555,49255,843Targeted rates

33,57926,21125,60323,483Subsidies and grants for operating purposes

27,02930,01224,65530,148Fees and charges

5,8935,034(5,155)4,739Interest and dividends from investments

643441299422Local authorities fuel tax, fines, infringement fees, and
other receipts

189,953184,445156,768171,185Total operating funding (A)

Applications of operating funding

177,620176,604156,028161,008Payments to staff and suppliers

1,1841,347764921Finance costs

--Other operating funding applications

178,804177,951156,792161,929Total applications of operating funding (B)

11,1496,494(24)9,256Surplus (deficit) of operating funding (A-B)

Sources of capital funding
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-5,2584,6847,078Subsidies and grants for capital expenditure

---Development and financial contributions

5,27214,584(7,048)19,042Increase (decrease) in debt

--1,133-Gross proceeds from sale of assets

---Lump sum contributions

---Other dedicated capital funding

5,27219,843(1,231)26,120Total sources of capital funding (C)

Applications of capital funding

Capital expenditure

----- to meet additional demand

2,5035,3468166,398- to improve the level of service

13,68919,0639,31229,814- to replace existing assets

2291,929(11,383)(837)Increase (decrease) in reserves

---Increase (decrease) of investments

16,42126,337(1,255)35,376Total applications of capital funding (D)

(11,149)(6,494)24(9,255)Surplus (deficit) of capital funding (C-D)

----Funding balance ((A-B)+(C-D))
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Te tāhura ā ahumoni me ngā ritenga

matawhāit | Financial reporting and

prudence regulations
Annual report disclosure statement for theyear
ending 30 June 2023

What is the purpose of this statement?

The purpose of this statement is to disclose the council's
financial performance in relation to various benchmarks to
enable the assessment of whether the council is prudently
managing its revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities and
general financial dealings.

Thecouncil is required to include this statement in its annual
report in accordance with the Local Government (Financial
ReportingandPrudence)Regulations2014 (the regulations).
Refer to the regulations for more information, including
definitions of some of the terms used in this statement.

Rates affordability benchmark

The council meets the rates affordability benchmark if:

its actual rates income equals or is less than each
quantified limit on rates; and

its actual rates increases equal or are less than each
quantified limit on rates increases.

Rates (income) affordability

The following graph compares the council's actual rates
income with a quantified limit on rates contained in the
financial strategy included in the council's long term plan.
Thequantified limit is that total rates revenuewill comprise
up to 75 per cent of the council's annual revenue
requirements.

Rates (increases) affordability

The following graphs compares the council's actual rates
increaseswithaquantified limiton rates increases included
in the financial strategy included in the council's long term
plan. For the 2018-2028 long term plan the quantified limit
is that increases in theannual rate revenue requirementwill
be limited to a 9 per cent increase in revenue from current
ratepayers. For the 2021-2023 long termplan thequantified
limit is that increases in theannual rate revenue requirement
will be limited to a 10 per cent increase in revenue from
current ratepayers.

Debt affordability benchmark

The council meets the debt affordability benchmark if its
actual borrowing is within each quantified limit on
borrowing.

The followinggraphcompares thecouncil'sactualborrowing
with a quantified limit on borrowing stated in the financial
strategy included in the council's long term plan. The
quantified limit is that net debt/total revenue is <100 per
cent.
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The followinggraphcompares thecouncil'sactualborrowing
with a quantified limit on borrowing stated in the financial
strategy included in the council's long term plan. The
quantified limit is that net interest/total revenue is <10 per
cent.

The followinggraphcompares thecouncil'sactualborrowing
with a quantified limit on borrowing stated in the financial
strategy included in the council's long term plan. The
quantified limit is that net interest on external debt/annual
rates revenue is <15 per cent.

The followinggraphcompares thecouncil'sactualborrowing
with a quantified limit on borrowing stated in the financial
strategy included in the council's long-term plan. For the
2018-2028 long termplan and the 2021-2031 long termplan
the quantified limit is that liquidity is >110% Liquidity is
defined as external debt plus committed loan facilities plus
liquid investments divided by external debt.

Balanced budget benchmark

The followinggraphdisplays thecouncil's revenue (excluding
development contributions, financial contributions, vested
assets, gains on derivative financial instruments and
revaluationsofproperty,plantorequipment)asaproportion
of operating expenses (excluding losses on derivative
financial instruments and revaluations of property, plant or
equipment).

The council meets this benchmark if its revenue equals or
is greater than its operating expenses.

Essential services benchmark

The following graph displays the council's capital
expenditure on network services as a proportion of
depreciation on network services.

The council meets this benchmark if its capital expenditure
on network services equals or is greater than depreciation
on network services.

Debt servicing benchmark

The following graph displays the council's borrowing costs
as a proportion of revenue (excluding development
contributions, financial contributions, vested assets, gains
on derivative financial instruments, and revaluations of
property, plant or equipment).

Because Statistics New Zealand projects the council's
population will growmore slowly than the national
population's growth rate, it meets the debt servicing
benchmark if its borrowing costs equal or are less than 10
per cent of its revenue.
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Debt control benchmark

The following graph displays the council's actual net debt
as a proportion of planned net debt. In this statement, net
debt means financial liabilities less financial assets
(excluding trade and other receivables).

The council meets the debt control benchmark if its actual
net debt equals or is less than its planned net debt.

Operations control benchmark

This graph displays the council's actual net cash flow from
operationsasaproportionof its plannednet cash flow from
operations.

The council meets the operations control benchmark if its
actual net cash flow from operations equals or is greater
than its planned net cash flows from operations.

Additional information and comment
Debt control benchmark

The benchmark displays the council's actual net debt as a
proportion of planned net debt. In this statement, net debt
means financial liabilities less financial assets (excluding

trade and other receivables). For all of the financial years
shown, council's financial assets exceed its financial
liabilities for both actual and budget figures. This means
that where actual net debt over budgeted net debt equals
orexceeds100per cent, ouractualnetdebtposition ismore
favourable thanplannedandcouncilmeets thedebt control
benchmark.

Balanced budget Benchmark

The council did not meet this benchmark due to the
increased level of operating expenditure driven by a higher
than planned other expenses of $5.9 million. Revenue was
higher than planned to offset this but only by $1.4 million.
The net impact of this $4.53 million difference is that the
councils operating income was only 99% of its operating
expenditure.

Operations Control Benchmark

Thebenchmarkdisplaysactualnet cash flow fromoperating
activities as a proportion of planned net cash flow from
operating activities. In the 2022/23 financial year, interest
revenue received was higher ($1.9 million) than planned.
This was a result of increasing interest rates which had a
favourable impactonCouncil's investmentofworkingcapital
funds.
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SECTION 5: 
Ko ētehi atu kōrero

Supplementary material



Te tāhura mō te Ture Rapu me te

Tūteinga | Search and Surveillance Act

reporting
Pursuant to Section 171 of the Search and Surveillance Act 2012 it is confirmed, for the purpose of annual reporting on
behalf of the Waikato Regional Council, that in the period 1 July 2022 to 30 June 2023:

(a) the number of occasions on which entry or search powers were exercised without a warrant in the period covered by
the report: NIL

(b) the number of occasions on which warrantless surveillance powers were exercised in the period covered by the report
that involved the use of a surveillance device: NIL

(c) in respect of each kind of surveillance device used without a warrant in the period covered by the report, the numbers
of that kind of device used—

(i) for a period of no more than 24 hours: NIL

(ii) for a period of more than 24 hours but no more than 48 hours: NIL

(d) the number of persons charged in criminal proceedings where the collection of evidential material relevant to those
proceedings was significantly assisted by the exercise of a warrantless search or surveillance power in the period covered
by the report: NIL

(e) the matters set out in Section 27 in relation to surveillance device warrants and declaratory orders: NIL.
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Ngā rōpū e whai mana ai Te Kaunihera

| Council controlled organisations
Waikato Local Authority Shared Services

Waikato Local Authority Shared Services (WLASS) is a council-controlled organisation (CCO) ownedby the 12Waikato local
authorities – Waikato Regional, Hamilton City, Hauraki District, Matamata-Piako District, Ōtorohanga District, Rotorua
District, SouthWaikato District, TaupōDistrict, Thames-Coromandel District, Waikato District, Waipā District andWaitomo
District councils.

It was established in 2005 as a vehicle through which these councils could collaborate and identify opportunities for
undertaking activity on a shared basis. More recently, shareholders embarked on a transformation of the company. The
purpose of that transformation was tomove the company to a true service delivery agent for, and strategic partner of, the
councils. The structural changes of that transformation were completed in late 2019 and bedded in throughout 2020.

The outcomes the company is seeking are to:

reduce council costs and improve performance, without increasing costs

improve the experiences of the councils’ communities

influence increased central government investment into and engagement with the Waikato.

The company fulfils the roles of:

think tank - taking ideas that have the potential to create value from concept to business case

and service provider to councils.

Member councils currently pay an annual levy, depending on their size, to support the operating costs of WLASS. Services
provided to councils are funded on a user-pays basis.

The WLASS board has six directors – five council-representative directors (including one appointed by Waikato Regional
Council) and an independent Chair.

More detailed information about WLASS can be found at waikatolass.co.nz.
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Performance measure results for 2022/23

The following performancemeasures noted in the table belowwere included in the 2020 Statement of Intent covering the
financial years ended 30 June 2021-2023. The company has assessed whether each target has, or has not, been achieved.

Outcome (progress towards target)TargetPerformance
measure

Priority

Not AchievedProjected savings
to councils of
$300k+

Business cases will
include measurable
benefits linked to one
or more of the
outcomes sought.

Prioritise and
develop
businesscases
for
opportunities

Seven significant projects monitored during the year.
However, each of these projects – which were largely
guided by feedback from councils – were principally
focusedonvaluation creation (rather thancost savings)that, if
and/or are at an early stage where potential costsimplemented,
savings are yet to be quantified. The Customer Digitaladd value to
Enablement (CDE) project has the potential to save1councils by
significant amounts by pooling council investment. Forachieving one

ormore of our
objectives

example,market feedbacksuggesteda ten-fold increase
in the number of councils involved only bore a 16%
increase in investment. Unfortunately, as noted earlier,
most councils did not support progressing to RFP and
productbuild. For these reasons, the targethasnotbeen
met.

The Strategic Case for the ‘Right People, Right Place’
project (see page 9)was approved by the Board in June
2023.

Apaper covering the ’PeoplePost 3Waters’ project (see
page 9) was presented to council Chief Executives in
November 2022, with an update to the Board in March
2023. While we await feedback from councils on what
resource might become available to redeploy, we are
investigating a project management shared service to
address one area where many councils are resource
constrained.

Neither of these investigations can yet claim to give
projected savings to councils, although both have the
potential to reduce costs and create value in the future.

Unable to currently measure.75% of councilsOpportunity
assessments are
supportedbycouncils
(evidenced by Board
minutes)

We can’t reasonablymeasure performance against this
target because no opportunity assessments have been
presented to the Board during the period. Having said
that, as noted above, CDE is not expected to progress
to this point, because of the lack of support to progress
theopportunity. To that extent, it is anopportunity that,
while initially supportedby councils, hasnot ultimately
been.

Last year we reported that 9 of 12 councils agreed to
participate in Co-Lab Learning. A 10th confirmed their
involvement in the current period.

Some opportunities have been capitalised on without
a formalbusiness case. Anexampleof this in the current
period is Co-Lab Procurement Support. That shared
service cameabout fromdiscussionswith councilswho
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Outcome (progress towards target)TargetPerformance
measure

Priority

had a need for procurement skills, but only on a
part-time basis, or only as and when required to
supplement their current resources.

In July 2023 and August 2023, councils were presented
with proposals to participate in a Building Consent
Cadetship and in the RATA Spaces and Places Rōpū.
Decisions are pending in early FY24.

Not achieved.80%Opportunities /
projects are
developed / delivered
within agreed
timelines

Develop
opportunities
and deliver
projects
within agreed
budgets and
timelines

Result: 14%: (1/7 projects)

The low proportion of projects delivered within agreed
timelines is disappointing. However, this should be
considered in the context that most Co-Lab
investigations commence with significant uncertainty,
including council staff’s capacity to get involved in the
projects, which makes reliably estimating the time to
complete challenging. While capacity is the most
prominent unknownwhen setting timelines, the LiDAR
projecthasbeendelayedbyvendorperformance issues.

We acknowledge that wemust be more realistic when
estimating timelines.

It is important to note that none of the delays have
caused costs to escalate (i.e., the anticipated work is
simply spread over a longer period, or the contract
protects against cost escalation).

Not achieved.90%Opportunities /
projects are
developed /delivered,
within approved
budget

Result: 80%

Fourof the fiveprojectswere completedwithinbudget.
Theexceptionwas theCo-LabLearning Implementation
where the cost of the project teamwent over project
budget. The remaining of twoprojects have not started
in the current year.

Not achieved.Overall, Company
Management /
Support functionswill Actual Company Management & Support expenditure

exceeded budget, mainly because the LAPP insurance
cost,which is recovered fromcouncils,wasnot included
in the budget.

be undertaken within
budget, unless
additional
expenditurehasboard
preapproval

Achieved.Six-monthlyMeasurable benefits
areactivelymonitored
and reported against

Ensure
projects
realise their
expected
benefits

During thecurrent financial year,management reported
to the Audit & Risk Committee on:

Shared Valuation Data Service (SVDS): All benefits in
the business case have beenmet
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Outcome (progress towards target)TargetPerformance
measure

Priority

Co-Lab Water Services: The assessment considered
benefits realised since the services inception. Of the
10KPIs in thebusiness case, only 1 (relating to service
expectations) was determined to be ‘not met’ and
action is already underway to remedy that.

Achieved.For$200k+Projects
(based on cost of
opportunity

Audit & Risk
Committeeundertake
an assessment of

development andprojects following
ongoing
investment) Within
15 months

implementation
(which will include an
assessment of
whether projected
benefits have been
realised)

Achieved.90% of projected
quantifiable
benefits are
realised

Not achieved.80% of councilsThe services we
provide (below) are
considered by

Ensure
existing
services are Based on our annual survey of councils, the target of

80%hasnotbeenmet. 79.8%of respondents (0.2% less
than target) said that the services met or exceeded
expectations. The survey response rate was 45% (200
were surveyed with 91 responses received).

councils who use that
service to meet or
exceed their
expectations
(evidenced by an
annual survey):

meeting the
needs of
councils

Achieved.Four per annumAcross these groups,
ideas for future
consideration and/or
initiatives are
identified each year

Foster and
promote
cross-council
collaboration
and

Ideas received and triaged in FY23:

One digital library book database

Common LGOIMAmanager toolnetworking to
share ideason Councillor Induction Programme
improving Common staff induction content
efficiencies
and best
practice

Shared resources for election years

Parking enforcement app

Joint Procurement for contracted resources
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Lake Taupō Protection Trust

Introduction

The Lake Taupō Protection Trust (the Trust) was established as a Council-Controlled Organisation (CCO) in 2007 with the
goal of safeguarding the water quality of Lake Taupō, a revered national icon in New Zealand. Due to environmental
degradation caused by various factors, the Trust was formed to manage a $80 million public fund aimed at maintaining
the lake's water quality by reducing nitrogen levels in its catchment area.

The Trust was jointly managed by the Waikato Regional Council, Taupō District Council, Tūwharetoa Māori Trust Board,
and the Crown.

Company objectives

The primary objective of the Trust was to diminish manageable nitrogen leaching into the lake by 20 percent, or roughly
153,000 kilograms.However, a reviewpromptedan increased target of 170,300 kilograms, necessitating additional funding
from the Crown in 2013.

The project's initial agreement was set to expire in 2021, but after consultation and discussions, both councils extended
the Trust's role until a review to assess the efficiency of governance andmanagement structures could be conducted by
June 2023.

KPMG undertook the review and recommended transferring the Trust's monitoring functions to Taupō District Council,
citing their extensive involvementwith theproject, cost-effectiveness, and relationshipswith landowners. The transferwas
endorsed by the Joint Committee and ratified by the settlors, culminating in the Trust's shift to management by Taupō
District Council in July 2023.

Statement of Intent (SOI) Targets & Performance against targets

Performance against targetPerformance MeasuresActions

Quarterly reporting achieved.Financial statements are reported to
trustees quarterly throughout the year,
no surprises.

CarryTrust operationsout inaccordance
with the approved annual budget.

Quarterly reporting achieved.Cash Flow Projection in place, update
and reported to Trustees quarterly.

Oversee the financialpositionof theTrust
tomeetandmaintainbudgetedcash flow
projection.

All nitrogen reduction agreements were
compliant.

Nitrogen reduction agreements are
compliant; any contractual failure is
addressed and if relevant, to achieve
repatriation of any loss of nitrogen.

Ensure that all nitrogen reduction
agreements are being complied with to
achieve the overall Nitrogen
reduction target of 170,300 kgs.

Achieved; no complaints.No complaints received because of time
delays.

Incomingcorrespondence relating to the
nitrogen reduction agreements
is processed in a timely manner.

Receiptofannualcompliancemonitoring
for the2021/2022 farmingyearcompleted
in May 2023; all contracted parties
achieved compliance.

Monitoring compliance results are
received fromWaikato Regional Council
in accordance with monitoring plan
timelines, and the results reported

Trackthatannualcompliancemonitoring
letters are received fromWaikato
Regional Council for farms that the Trust
has an interest in.

to trustees and copies provided to Audit
NZ for inclusion with the Trust's annual
audit.

Achieved unmodified audit opinion.Positive audit result.Participate and assistance in the annual
audit of the Trust.

AchievedCash flowprojection reported to theJoint
Committee before balance date.

Report the cash flow projection to the
Joint Committee (to show the ability of
the Trust to operate within budget).
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Performance against targetPerformance MeasuresActions

Joint Committee informed of pro-active
aerial monitoring activities.

Joint Committee up to date with any
Trust monitoring activities undertaken
or proposed by way of quarterly
reporting.

KeeptheJointCommitteeuptodatewith
any planned or proposedmonitoring
activities in relation to the
nitrogen reduction agreements
as prescribed in the Deed of Variation -
Schedule of Changes to the
Monitoring Deed.

Trustees were kept informed of external
timing delays relating to resource
consent reviews (OverseerFM)

Trustees are kept up to date with any
OverseerFM issues that may impact
Nitrogen reduction agreements.

Continue to liaisewithWaikato Regional
Council staff regarding their use
of OverseerFM and the regional plan, to

which caused a time delay for the Trustensure there are no impacts that may
affect the Nitrogen reduction
agreements.

to progress Deeds of Variation with
contracted parties relating to
the Overseer version change.

Fulfilled the Trust requirements detailed
in the plan.

Trust actions completed and the Taupo
Catchment Compliance Monitoring Plan
is supported on an ongoing basis.

Carryout Trust responsibilities identified
in the Taupo Catchment
Compliance Monitoring Plan and
provide support in the operation of
the plan with other joint parties, which
includes the Trust's support of the Lake
Taupo Protection
Project's Communication Plan.

No LTPT support was requested.Support provided as required to achieve
the aims of the Lake Taupo Catchment
Compliance Framework.

Provide ongoing support as required in
the operation of the Lake Taupo
Catchment Compliance Framework.

LTPTcontributedas required throughout
the review process.

Trustees and staff are engaged in the
review process.

Participate in the independent review of
the Lake Taupo Protection Project from
a project management perspective.
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Regional Software Holdings Limited

Introduction

Regional Software Holdings Limited (RSHL) was formed in October 2012 by Northland, Taranaki, Horizons, West Coast and
Waikato regional councils, and Environment Southland. The six councils worked closely together over a number of years
todevelopandmaintaina softwareapplication suite for useby the councils in thedeliveryof their activities. This application
suite is called Integrated Regional Information Software (IRIS). In recent years, RSHL has extended its scope to provide a
framework for collaborationanddeliveryof shared servicesacross the regional council sector, supporting theprocurement
or development of shared solutions.

RSHL is in the process of restructuring to become the shared services organisation for the regional sectorwith an increased
number of shareholding councils and a revised shareholding structure.

Company objectives

The objective of RSHL is to deliver shared solutions to the regional council sector along with collaborative outcomes,
through sector special interest groups, to achieve:

consistent, good-practice, regional-council-specific processes and functions

value through economies of scale

greater influence for the sector with central government through cohesion and collaboration

reduced risk by ensuring continuity of supply, and control of the destiny of regional-sector-specific software.

Performance measure results for 2022/23 as per draft 2023 financial statements

Commentary for the period ending 30 June 2023Performance measure

Non-financial

Achieved -ThePartnershipAgreement for IRISNextGenwasexecuted inSeptember.
This sets the overarching structure of the programme.

With participating councils, define and
agree milestones for the IRIS NextGen
Programme.

Achieved - This surveywas completed in June2023 to ensure that all councilswere
on the latest version of the IRIS Software.

Undertake an annual survey of IRIS users
and shareholder/customer Councils in
relation to product performance,

4 councils completed the customer survey. Results were markedly better across
all categories for RSHL and Datacom service performance.

Datacom support and RSHL support.
Provide a summary of the survey results
in the annual report, including
performanceagainst thebaseline. Survey
results to be the same or better than the
previous year.
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Commentary for the period ending 30 June 2023Performance measure

In these results the scale is 1 - Very Poor, 2 - Poor, 3 - Neutral, 4 - Good, 5 -
Outstanding.

83 Continuous or Frequent users of IRIS responded to the user surveys. Compared
toprevious years, resultsweremixed (within themarginof error) but still generally
favourable. For '"RIS provides me the information I need" and "IRIS supports me
to domy job". Results for "Speed of IRIS applications" were well down, but issue
was limited to one council, with users at other councils reporting speed
improvements.

Achieved - The roadmap is constantly reviewed by the IRIS Advisory Group. It was
last presented to the board in June 2023.

Prepare and adopt the annual IRISmajor
enhancement roadmap by 30 June for
delivery in the subsequent year.

Achieved - TheMAJ058 IRISdatamigrationproject definitionphasewas completed
under budget - the budget for the project was $69,000, with the total invoiced
$65,000.

Major Enhancement projects are
completedwithinapprovedbudgetor (for
items in progress) on track against their
agreed timeline and budget at 30 June of
each year. On track

As at 30 June 2023 the following projects are on track:

MAJ059 IRIS Data Migration Base Platform

MAJ060 IRIS Data Migration Base Templates

MAJ061 IRIS Data Migration - Loading Data

The outputs of this work will be a platform for migration of data from IRIS to
Datascape (IRISNextGen) and tools to identify data issues and cleanse, export and
transform the data.

Achieved - Budgets were approved via the Statement of Intent Process in June
2023. Both support and development were under budget at year end.

Budgets for support andminor
enhancementsareapprovedbytheBoard
by 30 June each year and delivery within

Budget ($000s)Expenditure ($000s)Categorythese budgets is effectively managed by
the Advisory Group and the General
Manager. $140$100Develop

$222$211Support

Achieved - RSHL has effectively managed the SFMS.Be and effective service delivery vehicle
for regional council sector shred
programmes under the Sector Financial
Management System.
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Commentary for the period ending 30 June 2023Performance measure

Revenue is well ahead of plan, due to significant funding provided by central
government. Expenditure is consistentwith theamountsdocumented in theSFMS
Briefing Paper. RSHL held 30 service contracts on behalf of TeUru Kahika over this
financial year.

$8.9Milliondollarsof fundingwascollected for sectorworkprogrammes including
$5.3 Million from central government. The support from central government
highlights the value of the SFMS as a focus point for funding.

Achieved - Over the first part of the year the Executive Policy Advisors focussed on
coordinatingsector submissions toa raftof centralgovernmentproposals including:

Effectively support the activities of the
Regional Sector through the Regional
Sector Office

Resource management reform legislation

The Future for Local Government Review

Freshwater farm plan regulations

Water resource legislation

LGOIMA amendments

The policy advisor also coordinated the preparation of induction material for
incomingElectedMembers.With the electionof newChairs andMayors inOctober
2022 the Office also undertook a review of the Sector's priorities and work
programmes for the 23/24 year and beyond.

The Regional Sector SIG Network Administrator has taken responsibility for
coordinating the RCEOs meetings along with the induction sessions for incoming
mayors and chairs, this is in addition to normal duties.

The Chief Science Advisor has focused on:

Implementation of several initiatives that enhance the coordinate vision for
regional sector science,build relationshipswithkey internal andexternalparties,
and champion the regional sector's science capability and capacity

Establishment of channels for sector science input into Resource Management
reform

Embeddingof science input into the regional sector's newly establishedClimate
Group

Promoting the role and interests of the regional sector in current reform of the
New Zealand science system.

Achieved - TheWorkplanandBudget for this yearwas endorsedbyEMARSG in late
2021/22 FY and formally signed off on the 8 July 2023 EOFY status - work has been
delivered within available budget.

Budgets for EMAR are approved by EMAR
SteeringGroupby30Juneeachyear, and
deliverywithin thesebudgets iseffectively
managed by EMAR Project Manager

Workstream activities:

Ongoing - EMAR and LAWA Strategies to inform longer term direction.

Complete - All planned updates and upgrades to existing topics.

In train - development of a new topic "Actions for Healthy Waterways".

Achieved - Under the SFMS and ReCoCo programmes, RSHL supports the delivery
of the following projects:

Be a service delivery vehicle for wider
regional council sectorandrelatedbodies
information management programmes

Environmental Data Programmeand related shared services. Projects to
be delivered on time and on budget as Sector Reference Model Engagement Projects
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Commentary for the period ending 30 June 2023Performance measure

agreed in eachof the Statements ofWork
between RSHL and relevant regional
sector groups.

N-Cap Implementation

INFDP Programme

Essential Freshwater Implementation

Freshwater Farm Plans Implementation.

RSHL ensured appropriate project management controls were in place for each
project. RSHL also managed the funding for the following sector programmes:

LIDAR PGF Programme Manager

WellsNZ

Retrolens.

Financial

Achieved - RSHL is operating within approved operating budgets for all
programmes.

RSHL will operate within approved
budget, with any material variations
approved by the Board.

In November, the Board approved a variation to the budget approved in the SOI,
to reflect theadditional revenueandexpenditure fromIRISNextGen Implementation
Programme, which started in September 2022. The Budget for this programme
was not confirmed when the SOI was approved.

Achieved - All charges have been the same or less than approved by the respective
programmes.

Annual charges for shareholders and
customers to be at level approved by the
Board and Shareholder Councils based
upon theapprovedoperatingbudgetand
budgets for major andminor
enhancements.

Growth

Achieved - InNovember, RSHLwelcomedBayof PlentyRegional Council, Gisborne
District Council and Hawkes Bay Regional Council as shareholders. Additional
councilswill joinwhenand if theyareable, includingOtagoRegional Councilwhich
signed a deed of accession in July 2023.

Monitor the regional council sector
market and explore/respond to
opportunities to expand the customer
and/or shareholders base of RSHL.

Achieved -ThePartnershipagreement for IRISNextgenwasexecuted inSeptember.
In addition, RSHL is supporting theEssential Freshwater Programme todeliver the
Integrated National Farm Data Platform. RSHL is supporting the Environmental
Data Group and Digital Solutions Group to deliver the Environmental Data
Management System.

Work with the Regional Sector SIG
Network to develop shared service
opportunities.

Achieved -ThePartnershipAgreement for IRISNextGenwasexecuted inSeptember
with 9 councils committing to the programme (twomore that use IRISA). For the
remainder of this year the focus will be on fully establishing the programme and
planning the implementation schedule for the 9 participating councils.

Engage with council in the region; sector
to increase the scope of the usage IRIS
NextGen. The Objective is to increase the
number of councils using the solution,
and the breadth of the solution in use.
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Martha Trust

Introduction

TheMartha Trust (the Trust) was established in 2001 by a joint venture known as theWaihi Gold Company, settling the sum
of $10 to create the trust fund. Themain purpose of the Trust is to monitor andmaintain in perpetuity the tailings storage
areas andmine pit lake in a safe and stable manner, so the areas can be used for recreational or leisure purposes by the
general public following completion of mining and closure of the site.

The Company provided further funds to the Trust in 2019 to enable the Trust to undertake amendments to the Trust Deed.
This task was completed mid-2021 and the Trust is now largely in abeyance with minimal ongoing activities.

Exemption of Martha Trust as a CCO

The Local Government Act 2002 (LGA) section 7(3) provides for the exemption of a small organisation that is not a council
controlled trading organisation from being a CCO and from the accountability requirements of the Local Government Act.
The Martha Trust was originally exempted from being a CCO by resolution of the council in May 2007 andmore recently
this was further confirmed by council in June 2021. It is not practical for accountability requirements and performance
monitoringof theMarthaTrust to takeplaceuntil sucha timeas it becomesoperative. Therefore, bygrantinganexemption,
the council has provided a dispensation from any form of accountability andmonitoring processes.

In accordance with section 7(3) of the LGA, the exemption of the Martha Trust as a CCO will again be reviewed on a three
year basis, or earlier, if either the mine closes or the settlor settles the capitalisation sum on the Trust.

Trustees

In April 2019 a capital sum of $50,000 was settled on the Trust by the Settlor. This had the effect of activating the Trust.
Trustees to the Trust (representingWaikato Regional Council andHauraki District Council) have been appointed. Although
the supportingmechanismsof theMarthaTrust exist, suchas thegovernance structureandbond, theTrustwill notbecome
a fully operativeentityuntil such timeas theclosureand rehabilitationconditionsareachieved. TheMarthaTrust is currently
funded by the Company to enable an annual meeting to occur as required by the Trust Deed.
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SECTION 6: 
Arotake

Audit opinion



Independent Auditor's Report

To the readers of Waikato Regional Council’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2023

The Auditor-General is the auditor of Waikato Regional Council (the Regional Council). The Auditor-General has appointed
me, Clarence Susan, using the staff and resources of Audit New Zealand, to report on the information in the Regional
Council’s annual report that we are required to audit under the Local Government Act 2002 (the Act). We refer to this
information as “the audited information” in our report.

We are also required to report on:

whether the Regional Council has complied with the requirements of Schedule 10 of the Act that apply to the annual
report; and

the completeness and accuracy of the Regional Council’s disclosures about its performance against benchmarks that
are required by the Local Government (Financial Reporting and Prudence) Regulations 2014.

We refer to this information as “the disclosure requirements” in our report.

We completed our work on 31 October 2023. This is the date on which we give our report.

Opinion on the audited information

In our opinion:

the financial statements on pages 77 to 147:

present fairly, in all material respects:

the Regional Council’s financial position as at 30 June 2023; and

the results of its operations and cash flows for the year ended on that date; and

complywithgenerally acceptedaccountingpractice inNewZealand inaccordancewithPublicBenefit EntityReporting
Standards;

the funding impact statementonpages158 to159, presents fairly, in allmaterial respects, theamountof fundsproduced
from each source of funding and how the funds were applied as compared to the information included in the Regional
Council’s annual plan;

the statement of service provision (referred to as “our activities in depth”) on pages 22 to 73:

presents fairly, in all material respects, the Regional Council’s levels of service for each group of activities for the year
ended 30 June 2023, including:

the levels of service achieved compared with the intended levels of service and whether any intended changes to
levels of service were achieved; and

the reasons for any significant variation between the levels of service achieved and the intended levels of service;
and

complies with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand;

the statement about capital expenditure for each group of activities on pages 148 to 158, presents fairly, in all material
respects, actual capital expenditureas compared to thebudgetedcapital expenditure included in theRegional Council’s
Long-term plan; and

the funding impact statement for each group of activities on pages 148 to 158, presents fairly, in all material respects,
theamountof fundsproduced fromeachsourceof fundingandhowthe fundswereappliedascomparedto the information
included in the Regional Council’s Long-term plan.

Report on the disclosure requirements

We report that the Regional Council has:

complied with the requirements of Schedule 10 of the Act that apply to the annual report; and

made thedisclosuresaboutperformanceagainstbenchmarksas requiredby theLocalGovernment (Financial Reporting
and Prudence) Regulations 2014 on pages 160 to 162, which represent a complete list of required disclosures and
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accurately reflects the information drawn from the Regional Council’s audited information and, where applicable, the
Regional Council’s long-term plan and annual plans.

The basis for our opinion is explained below and we draw attention to other matters. In addition, we outline the
responsibilitiesof theCouncil andour responsibilities relating to theaudited information,wecommentonother information,
and we explain our independence.

Basis for our opinion on the audited information

We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the Professional
and Ethical Standards and the International Standards on Auditing (NewZealand) issued by theNewZealand Auditing and
Assurance Standards Board. We describe our responsibilities under those standards further in the “Responsibilities of the
auditor for the audited information” section of this report.

We have fulfilled our responsibilities in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards.

We believe that the audit evidencewe have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on the
audited information.

Responsibilities of the Council for the audited information

The Council is responsible for meeting all legal requirements that apply to its annual report.

The Council’s responsibilities arise under the Local Government Act 2002 and the Local Government (Financial Reporting
and Prudence) Regulations 2014.

The Council is responsible for such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable it to prepare the information,
we audit that is free frommaterial misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the information we audit the Council is responsible for assessing its ability to continue as a going concern.
The Council is also responsible for disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting, unless there is an intention to amalgamate or cease all of the functions of theRegional Council or there
is no realistic alternative but to do so.

Responsibilities of the auditor for the audited information

Ourobjectives are to obtain reasonable assurance aboutwhether the audited information, as awhole, is free frommaterial
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an audit report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit carried out in accordance with the
Auditor-General’sAuditingStandardswill alwaysdetectamaterialmisstatementwhen itexists.Misstatementsaredifferences
or omissions of amounts or disclosures and can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the decisions of readers taken on the basis
of this audited information.

For the budget information reported in the audited information, our procedures were limited to checking that the budget
information agreed to the Regional Council’s annual plan.

We did not evaluate the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited information.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. Also:

We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the audited information, whether due to fraud or error,
designandperformauditprocedures responsive to those risks, andobtainaudit evidence that is sufficientandappropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraudmay involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

We obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Regional
Council’s internal control.

Weevaluate theappropriatenessof accountingpoliciesusedand the reasonablenessof accountingestimatesand related
disclosures made by the Council.
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Wedetermine theappropriatenessof the reported intended levelsof service in the statementof serviceprovision (referred
to as “our activities in depth” in the annual report), as a reasonable basis for assessing the levels of service achieved and
reported by the Regional Council.

We conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of accounting by the Council and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast a
significantdoubton theRegionalCouncil’s ability tocontinueasagoingconcern. Ifweconclude thatamaterialuncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our audit report to the related disclosures in the audited information or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Regional Council to cease to
continue as a going concern.

We evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the audited information, including the disclosures, and
whether the audited information represents, where applicable, the underlying transactions and events in amanner that
achieves fair presentation.

Wecommunicatewith theCouncil regarding, amongothermatters, theplannedscopeand timingof theaudit andsignificant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Our responsibilities arise from the Public Audit Act 2001.

Other information

The Council is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The other information comprises the
information included on pages 1 to 21, 75 to 76 and 163 to 176 but does not include the audited information and the
disclosure requirements, and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the audited information and our report on the disclosure requirements do not cover the other information,
and we do not express any form of audit opinion or assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information. In doing so, we consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the audited information and the disclosure requirements, or our knowledge obtained during our work,
or otherwise appears to bematerially misstated. If, based on our work, we conclude that there is amaterial misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Independence

We are independent of the Regional Council in accordance with the independence requirements of the Auditor-General’s
AuditingStandards,which incorporate the independence requirementsofProfessional andEthical Standard1: International
Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) (PES 1) issued by
the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board.

Inaddition toouraudit andour reporton thedisclosure requirements,wehavecarriedouta limitedassuranceengagement
related to the Regional Council’s debenture trust deed, which is compatiblewith those independence requirements. Other
than these engagements we have no relationship with or interests in the Regional Council.

Clarence Susan

Audit New Zealand

On behalf of the Auditor-General

Tauranga, New Zealand
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